

# Joint Standing Committee on Road Safety (Staysafe)

REPORT 3/56 – SEPTEMBER 2017

DRIVER EDUCATION, TRAINING AND ROAD SAFETY



New South Wales Parliamentary Library cataloguing-in-publication data:

#### **New South Wales. Parliament. Joint Standing Committee on Road Safety (Staysafe).** Driver education, training and road safety / Joint Standing Committee on Road Safety (Staysafe), Parliament of New South Wales. [Sydney, N.S.W.] : the Committee, 2017. – 1 online resource ([170] pages). (Report ; no. 3/56).

Chair: Greg Aplin, MP.

"21 September 2017".

ISBN 9781921012501

- 1. Automobile driver education—New South Wales.
- 2. Automobile driving—New South Wales.
- 3. Roads—New South Wales—Safety measures.
- 4. Traffic safety—New South Wales.
- 5. Traffic accidents—New South Wales—Prevention.
- I. Title
- II. Aplin, Greg.
- III. Series: New South Wales. Parliament. Joint Standing Committee on Road Safety. Report ; no. 3/56

#### 363.125709944 (DDC22)

The motto of the coat of arms for the state of New South Wales is "Orta recens quam pura nites". It is written in Latin and means "newly risen, how brightly you shine".

## Contents

| Membership   | iii |
|--|-----|
| Chair's Foreword   | iv  |
| Terms of Reference   | xi  |
| Glossary   | xii |
| Findings and Recommendations   | xiv |
| Chapter One – Road safety research and reporting                           | 1   |
| Crash data collection and reporting  | 1   |
| Expanded collection and reporting  | 3   |
| Chapter Two – Driver training and testing: learner and provisional drivers | 9   |
| The Graduated Licensing Scheme   | 10  |
| Harmonising the GLS across borders   | 11  |
| NSW Safer Driver Course  | 13  |
| Learner drivers  | 15  |
| Simulators   | 24  |
| Provisional drivers  | 27  |
| Chapter Three – Driver training and testing: licensed drivers              | 33  |
| Whole-of-life driver education and training                                | 33  |
| Mandatory retesting and retraining   | 34  |
| Unlicensed drivers   | 35  |
| Knowledge testing and licence renewal                                      | 37  |
| Older driver assessment  | 40  |
| Dementia and health reporting  | 43  |
| Post-licence training  | 46  |
| Advanced and defensive driver training                                     | 46  |
| Driving offenders  | 51  |
| Chapter Four – Support for disadvantaged learner drivers                   | 54  |
| Indigenous learner drivers   | 55  |
| Disabled learner drivers   | 62  |
| Volunteer community mentoring  | 64  |
| Rural and regional learner drivers   | 65  |
| Chapter Five – Driver education  | 69  |
| Campaigns  | 69  |
| The role of Local Government   | 83  |

| Sanctions, rewards and incentives                                  | 85  |
|--|-----|
| Chapter Six – Regulation of driver trainers                        | 88  |
| Professional driver trainers                                       | 88  |
| Non-professional driver trainers                                   | 99  |
| Chapter Seven – School education                                   | 106 |
| Road safety education and the school curriculum                    | 106 |
| When should road safety education commence?                        | 107 |
| How should road safety education be taught?                        | 110 |
| Chapter Eight – Vocational training, work and employment           | 117 |
| Vocational training  | 117 |
| Work and employment  | 122 |
| Appendix One – Conduct of inquiry                                  | 128 |
| Appendix Two – Submissions   | 129 |
| Appendix Three – Witnesses   | 132 |
| Appendix Four – Relevant reports of other Parliamentary Committees | 134 |
| Appendix Five – Extracts from minutes                              | 138 |

# Membership

| Chair           | Mr Greg Aplin MP  |
|-----------------|---|
| Deputy Chair    | The Hon Scott Farlow MLC  |
| Members         | Mr Adam Crouch MP<br>Dr Mehreen Faruqi MLC<br>Mr Christopher Gulaptis MP (until 29 March 2017)<br>The Hon Thomas George MP (from 29 March 2017)<br>Mr Nick Lalich MP<br>The Hon Daniel Mookhey MLC<br>Ms Eleni Petinos MP |
| Contact details | Joint Standing Committee on Road Safety (Staysafe)<br>Parliament House<br>Macquarie Street<br>SYDNEY NSW 2000<br>(02) 9220 2005   |
| Telephone       | (02) 9230 3095  |
| E-mail          | staysafe@parliament.nsw.gov.au  |
| Website         | https://www.parliament.nsw.gov.au/staysafe  |

## Chair's Foreword

I am very pleased to present this report on driver education, training and road safety in New South Wales.

#### Background

The Joint Standing Committee on Road Safety (Staysafe) resolved to conduct this inquiry into driver education, training and road safety in November 2016.

The Staysafe Committee, as it is better known, was the first Joint Standing Committee appointed by the New South Wales Parliament, and has been meeting since 1982.

The Committee has eight members; five appointed by the Legislative Assembly and three appointed by the Legislative Council.

In their resolutions appointing the Committee the two houses have delegated to the Committee as its ongoing tasks to:

- Monitor, investigate, review and report on the road safety situation in New South Wales; and
- Review and report on countermeasures aimed at reducing road deaths, injuries, and the social and economic costs to the community arising from road accidents.

The Staysafe Committee's inquiries have been influential and well received. Many of its recommendations have been implemented by government including:

- The introduction and continued use of random breath testing;
- The introduction of a revised graduated driver licensing scheme for new drivers; and
- The immediate suspension of licences for drivers with high-range prescribed concentration of alcohol.

Since 1999 the Staysafe Committee has undertaken 24 separate inquiries and this is the third inquiry undertaken in the 56<sup>th</sup> Parliament.

The role of driver education and training has always been integral to Staysafe's examination of road safety. The Committee has directly examined driver education and training on a number of occasions, most notably in its 2007 inquiry into young driver safety and education programs.

#### Whole-of-life driver education and training

This inquiry is unique, however, in that we have sought to examine the role of driver education and training in delivering better road safety outcomes for all drivers across their whole driving lives.

#### Driver training

Driver training is commonly viewed as a matter for novice or inexperienced drivers, usually young learner and provisional drivers. Yet in evidence to this and previous inquiries we have heard much about driver training offered to and undertaken by experienced drivers. This training may be undertaken by traffic offenders who are directed to attend training to correct their driving skills and behaviour. It is also undertaken voluntarily by many drivers who may wish to update their skills or expand their experiences, who may be returning to driving after time away from the road, or who may view driving as a challenge, pastime or entertainment.

#### Driver education

Driver education is something we all accept as an integral part of getting behind the wheel. Road rules change from time to time, new technologies are introduced and old ones phased out, the road toll rises and falls numerically and in the collective consciousness. We are all familiar with public campaigns which draw our attention to various aspects of road safety, road user behaviour, and driving attitudes.

#### Road safety performance

New South Wales has been a standout road safety performer in recent years, recording historically low crashes and fatalities. This makes the recent spike in road fatalities all the more concerning, both in raw numbers and for the over-representation of certain age groups, including some experienced drivers, in the statistics.

The terms of reference we adopted for this inquiry were necessarily broad. This ensured the terms covered drivers of all ages and levels of experience, as well as drivers and road users across the state however they choose to use the roads and their vehicles.

#### The evidence

We heard evidence from road users of all ages and types. These included older drivers, disabled drivers and indigenous drivers, and vulnerable road users including pedestrians, cyclists, and motorcyclists. We heard from educators and researchers, professional and volunteer driver trainers, road engineers, motoring and driver advocates, the NSW Government, and many private citizens. The Committee members and I are grateful for the time, effort and interest committed to this inquiry by everyone who made a submission or gave evidence in person.

Broad as the terms were, not everything we heard came within them. We noted in particular the evidence of the significant impact of the justice system on indigenous drivers. The responsibility for addressing these matters is not within the remit of the Committee or the road safety authorities, and we have referred this evidence to the Justice portfolio.

#### Radical versus gradual change

Many of our findings and recommendations reflect the incremental nature of road safety regulation and performance generally. The evolution of roads and vehicle technology, the

changes in driving behaviour and attitude, and the decline in road fatalities are gradual. Where there are radical or transformative steps, like the installation of seat belts, they can and should be taken in order to reduce road deaths. There are trade-offs to be identified and understood with all change and particularly radical change, notably around the costs of change and who pays for it.

Generally speaking, however, much that has been and can be achieved in road safety takes time. Driving ability, in New South Wales at least, is learned over 120 hours of supervised driving. Driving experience comes with time, which hopefully also develops safe driving attitudes. Many of our recommendations call for investigations and research, and for liaison and discussion. Some come with costs if enacted, or the potential for costs, especially where regulation is anticipated or greater professional involvement is foreshadowed. How these costs should be allocated must be part of these investigations and discussions.

Some recommendations are designed to break down barriers to people gaining a driver licence. Others have the potential to place limits on who can drive. In both these scenarios we have been conscious that any change can create winners and losers, and that these outcomes should only be considered appropriate where road safety benefits accrue or no deterioration in road safety outcomes will result.

#### The report structure

This report is divided into eight chapters.

**Chapter One** discusses road safety reporting and research. It examines the way crash data is collected and reported in New South Wales. It also considers how this data is used by government and non-government agencies to achieve road safety improvements.

**Chapter Two** discusses driver training and testing for learner and provisional drivers. It examines the Graduated Licensing Scheme which underpins the phased licence structure in New South Wales to reflect and address the abilities and needs of novice drivers. It considers the training of drivers according to their passage through the early stages of licensing and what changes can be made to address drivers at this high risk stage.

**Chapter Three** discusses driver training and testing for licensed drivers. It takes a whole-of-life perspective on the needs and abilities of drivers throughout their driving lives. It looks particularly at older drivers and drivers with ill-health, as well as driving offenders, and considers the question of mandatory testing of all drivers at regular intervals.

**Chapter Four** discusses the support available for disadvantaged learner drivers. It identifies four groups: indigenous drivers, disabled drivers, socio-economically disadvantaged drivers, and rural and regional drivers, and considers how to make support more accessible and effective.

**Chapter Five** discusses driver education mostly through media campaigning. It examines current campaigning and feedback from various road users regarding their needs, including

pedestrians, cyclists, motorcyclists, disadvantaged drivers and older drivers. It also briefly considers other forms of driver education delivered as sanctions or incentives.

**Chapter Six** discusses the regulation of driver trainers. It examines the current regulation of the professional driver training industry and suggested improvements. It also examines the reliance on non-professional volunteers and mentors for the bulk of driver training and considers whether regulation of non-professional training will achieve road safety benefits.

**Chapter Seven** discusses how road safety education is taught in schools. It examines the ages at which road safety education is introduced, and some of the teaching methods and resources used.

**Chapter Eight** discusses how road safety education is delivered in vocational training, and at work. It examines how road safety is introduced in trade training, and in health and safety training in the workplace, including to heavy vehicle operators.

#### Important issues

Many submissions called for the **mandatory retesting** of all drivers at regular intervals throughout their driving lives. This proposal was described as analogous to the skills updating required in many professions where people perform complex technical and intellectual tasks. We also noted the contributions of road safety researchers and regulators to the effect that while mandatory testing would involve significant costs and administrative changes, they could point to no research which showed that it was likely to reduce road deaths. This evidence made the distinction between driving skills and attitude. It noted that teaching someone to drive at the beginning of their driving life was not the same as encouraging that driver to develop safe driving attitudes and then to drive safely for the rest of their driving life. Safe driving, this evidence said, came with experience and not with retraining and retesting. We found this evidence persuasive.

Some submissions queried whether the **value of professional driver training** is understated. They noted that this value was recognised by the awarding of a logbook discount to learner drivers who undertook professional driver training. The limiting of this discount, however, was said to encourage learner drivers to view the limit as a recommended maximum number of professional training hours. We also heard that the regulation of the professional driver training industry may not be sufficiently developed to ensure that all professional driver training meets expected standards. We believe that both the better regulation of professional driver training and opportunities to expand the discount should be investigated, including whether some professional driver training should be mandated for all learner drivers.

Conversely, the **cost of driver training**, especially for disadvantaged people, was the focus of many submissions. We heard that many people are discouraged or excluded from driver training because they do not have access to reliable vehicles, or trainers and supervisors. Many are said to be reliant on piecemeal, inaccessible and under-funded programs for their training. Other evidence suggested that support for disadvantaged people was adequately funded and widely available. Importantly, it was often delivered as an adjunct to education and trade

training so that driver training was part of a broad personal and community upskilling program. We are conscious that meeting demands for driver training support will always be in focus, but that significant progress in the identification of demand and the delivery of support across the state is being made. A single, accessible information hub for disadvantaged people seeking support will, in our view, make it easier to identify support and meet this demand.

Many submissions queried the **content of the learner driver program**. We received calls for a range of issues to be given more prominence in the program including training in 'real-world' conditions, road sharing, cognitive training, and advanced driver training. Advocates for vulnerable road users including pedestrians and cyclists gave detailed evidence on this subject. We also noted support for the NSW Safer Driver Course, and for the expanded use of computer-based training including driving simulators. We have recommended further investigations in these areas, including whether the Safer Driver Course should be mandated for all learner drivers.

Early on in this inquiry the media gave attention to the New South Wales **older driver assessment** regime and whether it discriminated against older drivers. We heard conflicting evidence on this matter. On balance we believe that the current arrangements are a reasonable balance between mobility and safety risk, especially given the availability of restricted licensing for older drivers.

A number of submissions promoted **advanced and defensive driver training** as a way to improve driving skills. The nexus between skills training and driver attitude is discussed above. We believe the same argument must apply to advanced and defensive driver training. Indeed, the research evidence presented to us held that advanced and defensive training could not be shown to improve road safety outcomes and that for some driver groups, may have negative outcomes. We view advanced and defensive driver training as akin to professional driver training and are concerned, therefore, that what it offers and for whom should be better understood.

While the contribution of professional driver training was widely discussed, the overall **reliance on non-professional driver training** arguably received less attention. We noted the importance of volunteer supervision in order for learner drivers to meet the 120 hours log book requirement, as well as the relative lack of regulation of and training for these volunteers. We also heard about organised mentoring programs which assist learner drivers, often from disadvantaged backgrounds, not only to comply with the 120 hours requirement, but also to be made aware of the importance of developing and exhibiting safe driving attitudes. We have made several recommendations which address non-professional driver training.

New South Wales road users are familiar with driver education programs, mostly via **media campaigns**. We received evidence that the number, scope and cost of campaigning are extensive. We also heard calls for campaigns on various subjects to be conducted in the future, notably in areas like driver distraction, road sharing and the needs of vulnerable road users, poorly understood road rules, and safe driving on country roads. Further, we heard calls for greater transparency in evaluating campaigns and inviting stakeholder input to campaign design. We have made several recommendations which address future campaigning.

The role and content of **road safety education in schools** was the subject of several submissions we received. We are satisfied that New South Wales is a leading proponent of school education, and have recommended the investigation of several aspects of current and proposed programs. In particular, the evidence we heard regarding the value of fear-based education for school students was mixed and would merit study. Similarly, we heard that resilience training for students around managing risk-taking behaviour may help develop safe driving attitudes. We have recommended that the evidence for resilience training be examined.

#### Conclusion

This inquiry has been an important opportunity for us to take stock after 35 years and so many inquiries across the gamut of road safety. By undertaking such a broad inquiry I hope we have brought together the widest possible range of views, experiences and proposals in a way which allows road safety regulators and stakeholders also to take stock and perhaps examine the drivers of better road safety performance in a more holistic and less sectional way.

One outcome of this inquiry may be to identify areas for future inquiry. These will be all the more fruitful should we have the benefit of the outcomes of some of the investigations recommended in this report.

Otherwise I hope that our recommendations point the way towards valuable work for road safety regulators and researchers, and opportunities for greater engagement between stakeholders and regulators.

I am grateful for the input we received from everyone who made a submission or appeared to give evidence. We call upon road safety stakeholders repeatedly to make submissions to Staysafe inquiries. Our stakeholders are committed and well informed. Their input is reliable. I trust that they are not fatigued by our program.

It would be remiss of me not to comment on the value of the submission made by Transport for NSW to this inquiry. The agency's submission was thorough, detailed and authoritative. It was highly valued by all Committee members and stakeholders alike. I commend the Transport for NSW submission as a model for other agencies charged with making submissions to parliamentary inquiries.

I also wish to thank my fellow Committee members for their contributions to our inquiry. As always members brought to the table their detailed analyses of the submissions and practical experience of road safety in the community. It is my pleasure to work with such a wellinformed Committee so passionate about road safety.

Finally I wish to acknowledge the Committee staff. This was a broad inquiry and not unexpectedly, it has resulted in a long and complex report. I thank the staff for their effort and support throughout the inquiry.

As I said above, New South Wales has been a standout performer in road safety. Road crashes and fatalities are at or near historical lows. At the time of writing road deaths are ten fewer that at this time last year, and serious injuries are ten greater. Every fatality and every injury is not just a number, however, but a person. It is the ultimate goal of New South Wales road safety campaigning to achieve zero road safety deaths. Zero deaths may seem a high bar to set, but in 1970 when we reached a peak of 28.9 road deaths per 100,000 population, the notion of 4.1 road deaths per 100,000 population, which we achieved in 2014, would have been challenging to say the least.

I look forward to continuing road safety improvements in New South Wales.

Leh

Greg Aplin M

Chair

### **Terms of Reference**

The Committee will inquire into, and report on, the role of whole-of-life driver education and training in supporting improved road safety outcomes in New South Wales, with particular reference to:

- a) Trends in road safety research and crash statistics
- b) Evaluating current driver training, including the effectiveness of refresher training and skills updating, and adaptation to changing vehicle technology
- c) The needs of any particular driver groups
- d) The needs of driver trainers, both professional and non-professional
- e) The needs of metropolitan, rural and regional drivers
- f) The needs and expectations of passengers and other road users
- g) The cost of driver training standards and how the costs should be allocated
- h) The experience of other jurisdictions, and interstate cross border issues
- i) Other related matters

## Glossary

| ABS    | Anti-Lock Braking System                                   |
|--------|--|
| ADTA   | Australian Driver Trainers Association                     |
| AIS    | Australian Industry Standards                              |
| ALS    | Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) Limited                 |
| ANCAP  | Australasian New Car Assessment Program                    |
| AQF    | Australian Qualifications Framework                        |
| ARSF   | Australian Road Safety Foundation                          |
| BDM    | Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages                    |
| CAV    | Connected Automated Vehicles                               |
| CPSA   | Combined Pensioners and Superannuants Association          |
| DLAP   | Driver Licensing Access Program                            |
| FACS   | Family and Community Services                              |
| GLS    | Graduated Licensing Scheme                                 |
| GP     | General Practitioner                                       |
| GPS    | Global Positioning System                                  |
| HVCBA  | Heavy Vehicle Competency Based Assessment                  |
| IAG    | Insurance Australia Group                                  |
| ICA    | Insurance Council of Australia                             |
| ICAC   | Independent Commission Against Corruption                  |
| IDEAS  | Information on Disability Education and Awareness Services |
| IPWEA  | Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia            |
| ΙΤΟΡ   | Increased Traffic Offender Penalties                       |
| LFLF   | Literacy for Life Foundation                               |
| LGRSP  | Local Government Road Safety Program                       |
| NCOSS  | NSW Council for Social Services                            |
| NDIS   | National Disability Insurance Scheme                       |
| NMAA   | National Motorists Association Australia                   |
| NRMA   | National Roads and Motorists Association                   |
| NSWDTA | NSW Driver Trainers Association                            |
| OTAUS  | Occupational Therapy Australia                             |
| РСА    | Pedestrian Council of Australia                            |
|        |  |

| PCYC   | Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW Limited                           |
|--------|---|
| PDHPE  | Personal Development, Health and Physical Education               |
| RACV   | Royal Automobile Club of Victoria                                 |
| RMS    | Roads and Maritime Services                                       |
| RSE    | Road Safety Education Limited                                     |
| RSERGA | Road Safety Education Reference Group Australia                   |
| RSO    | Road Safety Officer   |
| RTO    | Registered Training Organisations                                 |
| RYDA   | Rotary Youth Driver Awareness                                     |
| SIRA   | State Insurance Regulatory Authority                              |
| TAFE   | Technical and Further Education                                   |
| TARS   | Transport and Road Safety Research, University of New South Wales |
| TEACHO | Transport Education Audit Compliance Health Organisation          |
| ΤΟΙΡ   | Traffic Offender Intervention Program                             |
| TWU    | Transport Workers Union   |
| WHS    | Workplace Health and Safety                                       |
|        |   |

## Findings and Recommendations

| Finding 1  | 6  |
|--|----|
| We find that the crash data collected and reported by Transport for NSW is comprehensive, thorough and robust, but can be improved by the collection of additional data, and better integration of data collection and data sharing across government and non-government agencies.   |    |
| Recommendation 1   | 8  |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW expand crash data collection and reporting to include crashes:   |    |
| • Where the at-fault driver is unlicensed  |    |
| Where the at-fault driver is overseas licensed   |    |
| Which occur on unsealed roads  |    |
| • Which do not generate a police report.   |    |
| Recommendation 2   | 8  |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW establish a working party comprised of representatives of the transport, police and health portfolios, local government, road safety researchers and the insurance industry, to report in one year on how to identify, capture and integrate all crash data and improve crash data analysis. |    |
| Finding 21   | 13 |
| We find that cross border issues affecting some drivers are confusing and may result in harsh outcomes.  |    |
| Finding 31   | 14 |
| We find that the Safer Driver Course is an effective road safety tool.   |    |
| Recommendation 31  | 15 |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW:   |    |
| • publish the findings of its current review of the Safer Driver Course  |    |
| • conduct a further review, in consultation with relevant stakeholders and the community, to determine whether road safety benefits can be achieved by making the Safer Driver Course compulsory for all learner drivers.  |    |
| Finding 42   | 20 |
| We find that the '3 for 1' discount scheme could be more effective in encouraging learner drivers to undertake professional training.  |    |

| Finding 5  | _20 |
|--|-----|
| We find that in the absence of any mandated professional training for learner drivers, the value of professional training may be understated.  |     |
| Recommendation 4   | _20 |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW review the current logbook discounts<br>offered to learner drivers for undertaking professional driver training and the Safer Driver<br>Course, to identify opportunities to extend the logbook discount without compromising road<br>safety outcomes. | d   |
| Recommendation 5   | _21 |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW examine whether road safety benefits can be achieved by:   |     |
| <ul> <li>mandating a minimum number of hours of professional driver training for all learner<br/>drivers</li> </ul>  |     |
| <ul> <li>mandating a minimum number of hours of professional driver training for learner and<br/>provisional drivers who fail to meet certain criteria such as failing any test prescribed<br/>under the Graduated Licensing Scheme multiple times</li> </ul>  |     |
| <ul> <li>mandating that professional driver training hours must be undertaken before any<br/>volunteer-supervised training hours are undertaken.</li> </ul>  |     |
| Recommendation 6   | _22 |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW conduct and publish an audit of the integrity of the current learner log book system.  |     |
| Recommendation 7   | _22 |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW and Roads and Maritime Services investigate the effectiveness of computer-based learning on long term road user behaviour and the road toll.   |     |
| Recommendation 8   | _23 |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW investigate what road safety benefits on be achieved by expanding the content of the learner driver program.   | can |
|  |     |
| Recommendation 9   | _27 |
| Recommendation 9<br>The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW review and publicly report on the valu<br>of simulators to supplement current driver training, testing and assessment with particular<br>reference to the use of simulators to:  | -   |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW review and publicly report on the valu of simulators to supplement current driver training, testing and assessment with particular   | e   |

• Be employed in hazard perception testing and in aged driver assessment.

| Finding 631  |
|--|
| We find that good behaviour schemes for provisional drivers may have merit in improving provisional driver behaviour and attitude.   |
| Recommendation 10 32   |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW investigate the benefits of offering provisional drivers who commit low range driving offences access to a good behaviour period, similar to that offered to unrestricted licence holders, where road safety outcomes are not compromised. |
| Recommendation 11 32   |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW review the conditions of provisional driver licences to identify any opportunities to remove the confusion reported in cross border areas without compromising road safety.  |
| Finding 736  |
| We find that the mandatory periodic retesting and retraining of all licensed drivers between<br>the age of first achieving a licence and the age of older driver assessment would be expensive,<br>disruptive and administratively complex, and unlikely to improve road safety outcomes.  |
| Finding 836  |
| We find that targeting unlicensed drivers is likely to be more effective in improving road safety outcomes than mandatory retesting and retraining of licensed drivers.  |
| Finding 939  |
| We find that licence renewal may be an opportunity to reinforce safe driving messages and evaluate the success of driver education.  |
| Recommendation 1240  |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW examine and report on the contribution of unlicensed drivers to road fatalities and formulate a program for targeting unlicensed drivers.  |
| Recommendation 13 40   |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW and Roads and Maritime Services investigate whether licence renewal presents opportunities to test the success of driver education programs by engaging with drivers online or in person.  |
| Finding 1043   |
| We find that the current aged driver assessment regime in New South Wales is a reasonable balance between the rights of individual drivers and the community, and assists the state to achieve above average performance in fatalities for drivers aged 75 years or more.                  |
| Finding 1145   |
| We find that current reporting arrangements for dementia and other medical conditions which  |

| Recommendation 1445  |
|--|
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW introduce measures to make the reporting of dementia and any other medical conditions which may diminish driving capacity mandatory for medical and health practitioners.  |
| Finding 1250   |
| We find a lack of clarity regarding the definitions, content, and target markets of advanced and defensive driving training.   |
| Recommendation 1551  |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW undertake a review of the advanced and defensive driver training currently offered in New South Wales, in consultation with training providers and road safety researchers, in order to:   |
| Clarify terminology such as 'advanced' and 'defensive'   |
| Assess the suitability of such training for licensed, provisional and learner drivers  |
| • Ensure that courses are clearly identified as suitable or not suitable for particular classes of driver  |
| <ul> <li>Identify best practice post-licence driver education which can be marketed safely to<br/>drivers with varying levels of competence, experience and need;</li> </ul>   |
| and publishes the results of its review within 6 months.   |
| Recommendation 1653  |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW review current arrangements for delivering the Traffic Offenders Intervention Program to ensure that course content and delivery between providers is consistent and achieves the best possible road safety outcomes.  |
| Finding 1361   |
| We find that the impact of the justice system on indigenous driving offenders is serious, but falls within the Justice portfolio and outside the terms of reference of this particular inquiry.  |
| Recommendation 1762  |
| The Committee recommends that the NSW Government examine above average offence and incarceration rates for indigenous drivers. The Committee recommends that this examination be undertaken within the Justice portfolio and that it report in one year.   |
| Finding 1466   |
| We find that the NSW Government's measures to address socio-economic and educational<br>barriers to driver licensing are adequately funded and available across wide areas of the state.<br>We also find that as the program continues to expand as planned, that program coordination,<br>availability and integration with community organisations will continue to improve. |

| Recommendation 1867  |
|--|
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW and Roads and Maritime Services review funding for programs that reduce barriers to disadvantaged young people, including indigenous people, obtaining and retaining driver licences.                                  |
| Recommendation 1967  |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW investigate how the aims, objectives and achievements of the Literacy for Life Program can better inform the Driver Licensing Access Program and the way it is delivered in the future.                                |
| Recommendation 2068  |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW and Roads and Maritime Services create a single information hub which can be accessed by and on behalf of any disadvantaged learner driver as a resource for locating all available and necessary material and advice. |
| Recommendation 2183  |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW publish evaluations of the effectiveness of driver education campaigns in order to better inform and engage the community in the formulation of future campaigns.  |
| Recommendation 2283  |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW conduct future driver education campaigns with an emphasis on the development and demonstration of safe driving attitudes, which address the following topics:   |
| <ul> <li>New vehicle technology and the need for drivers to be educated about its road safety<br/>benefits and how to use it to achieve these benefits</li> </ul>  |
| • Driver and other road user distraction, with particular emphasis on the dangers for vulnerable road users  |
| Road sharing and pedestrian, motorcycle, bicycle and heavy vehicle awareness   |
| <ul> <li>New and poorly understood road rules such as the minimum passing distance rule with<br/>bicycles</li> </ul>   |
| • Safe driving in both familiar and unfamiliar environments, with an emphasis on safe driving on country roads   |
| • Safe driving for and around older drivers, with an emphasis on how older drivers can identify practical transport alternatives and find support to manage their retirement from  |

• Making safe driving choices including selecting safer vehicles and properly maintaining vehicles

driving if necessary

| Finding 1584  |
|---|
| We find that Local Government could be utilised more effectively to deliver driver education.   |
| Recommendation 23 85  |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW review, in consultation with councils and their representatives, the role of local government and particularly, the Road Safety Officer Program, in delivering road safety education.   |
| Recommendation 2487   |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW examine and publicly report on the proposal by the NRMA for the replacement of fines for low range driving infringements with the option of road safety courses.  |
| Finding 1697  |
| We find that the regulation of the professional driver training industry is under-developed.  |
| Recommendation 2598   |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW convene a working party comprised of representatives of the professional driver training industry and road safety researchers to examine and report on the current regulation of the professional driver training industry and the legislative and regulatory reforms required:   |
| • To ensure that qualifications, skills and practices within the New South Wales industry are equivalent to world's best practice   |
| • To ensure that professional driver trainers with qualifications gained in other jurisdictions must demonstrate that they meet New South Wales industry standards before being licensed to operate in New South Wales  |
| • To ensure that professional driver trainers commit to and receive timely and effective professional development regarding changing vehicle technology and road rules, and other related matters.  |
| Finding 17102   |
| We find that the current regulation of non-professional driver trainers is limited, and that terms like volunteer and mentor are not well defined.  |
| Recommendation 26104  |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW review and report publicly on opportunities to better train and regulate volunteer learner driver supervisors and mentors in order to achieve improved road safety outcomes, and that this review include an analysis of the benefits of mandating that volunteer and mentor supervisors of learner drivers receive some form of professional training. |

| Recommendation 27 104  |
|--|
| The Committee recommends that subject to Recommendation 26, learner drivers instructed<br>by appropriately trained community mentors such as those employed by Police Citizens Youth<br>Clubs NSW Limited and Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, qualify for a learner driver log book<br>discount, as do learner drivers trained by professional driver trainers. |
| Recommendation 28105   |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW work with community training organisations such as Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW Limited and Blue Datto Foundation Ltd to ensure that young people who drop out of the education system are able to access high quality driver training by qualified volunteers and mentors.                             |
| Recommendation 29116   |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW and the NSW Department of Education, in consultation with road safety researchers and educators, review the current road safety curriculum for students of all ages to identify the road safety benefits of:   |
| <ul> <li>Introducing road safety messages to students at particular ages</li> </ul>  |
| Fear-based education programs  |
| • Opportunities to tailor Technical and Further Education courses to better integrate road safety and driver education with trade and literacy training  |
| • The value of resilience training in developing safe driving attitudes and risk management skills   |
| <ul> <li>A single national road safety curriculum and national accreditation for road safety<br/>educators.</li> </ul>   |
| Recommendation 30127   |
| The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW and Roads and Maritime Services:   |
| • Engage with TAFE NSW to ensure road safety training is an integral part of vocational training   |

• Liaise with the heavy vehicle industry and fleet managers to seek an industry-wide approach to workplace road safety, including strategies which recognise emerging vehicle technologies and promote safe vehicle selection.

# Chapter One – Road safety research and reporting

#### Summary

This chapter discusses current crash data collection and reporting in New South Wales.

It is relevant to term of reference:

a) Trends in road safety research and crash statistics.

In Chapter One we consider evidence concerning the sharing of crash data across government agencies and the non-government sector, and the integration of crash data collection and use between agencies.

We make findings concerning current practices and recommend that collection and reporting be expanded to cover four specific areas which were identified in the evidence of witnesses heard by the Committee.

We also recommend that Transport for NSW work with a range of government and nongovernment stakeholders to consider better data collection, reporting and integration.

We heard evidence proposing several other areas of research which we discuss at relevant sections throughout the report.

#### Crash data collection and reporting

#### The Safe System approach to road safety

1.1 The Safe System approach underpins the road safety framework adopted in the *NSW Road Safety Strategy 2012-2021* and guides the development of countermeasures to reduce death and injury on New South Wales roads. Safe System principles focus attention on the design and management of safe road infrastructure, safe vehicles and safe travel speeds, as well as safe road user behaviours, recognising that road trauma levels are largely determined by the interaction of these key elements.<sup>1</sup>

#### The data collection system

- 1.2 Accurate, readily accessible data is fundamental to an evidence-based Safe System approach to road safety. Data is critical to understanding the causes of crashes, developing appropriate countermeasures, and evaluating the effectiveness of road safety initiatives and strategies.<sup>2</sup>
- 1.3 The Committee received strong evidence from Transport for NSW that it is successfully collecting the data which it needs to determine its road safety

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Answers to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 2

strategies and priorities. Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety expressed his confidence in the data collection system:

New South Wales has the most comprehensive set of data and information in relation to crashes resulting in injuries and fatalities. Over the past 30 years, we have developed a very strong and robust analysis. That includes right down to the time of day, the weather conditions, the number of people in the vehicle, the injuries sustained by the individuals, the location, the vehicle type and so on. All of that data is collected from the police and hospital reports. It is evaluated in terms of the countermeasures that have been introduced in New South Wales to drive down the road toll over the past 30 years.<sup>3</sup>

#### 1.4 Mr Carlon said further:

...there is no outstanding detail, data or information about the serious injuries that is impacting our communities and the fatalities. We are now providing that information online through our data visualisations, and it is available to the general public on our website. All the statistical information and the contributing factors, including drink driving, speeding and fatigue, are available to us in informing the design of the strategy for New South Wales to drive down the road toll.<sup>4</sup>

1.5 The Committee noted that witnesses representing academic road safety researchers<sup>5</sup> and the insurance industry<sup>6</sup> expressed appreciation of the data linkage project undertaken by the Centre for Road Safety. Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health (George Institute) said the data:

... is providing a unique data-rich and context-rich source of data that is going to enhance our ability to understand the cause and context of crashes.<sup>7</sup>

1.6 Following the public hearings, the Committee sent a supplementary question to Transport for NSW in order to verify whether there were deficiencies in the data in certain areas as had been raised by a number of witnesses<sup>8</sup> and submissions.<sup>9</sup> Specific areas of concern in data collection related to unlicensed drivers; overseas-trained drivers; crashes on unsealed roads and crashes which generate an insurance claim, a medical report or some form of community feedback, but not a police report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transport for NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transport for NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p11

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Ms Naomi Graham, Manager, Public Policy and Industry Affairs, Insurance Australia Group, Transcript of evidence,
 22 May 2017. P62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Dr Lisa Keay, Deputy Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p11; Mr Harold Scruby, Chief Executive Officer, Pedestrian Council of Australia, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Submission 16, IPWEA(NSW) pp8-10 & p21; Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p13; Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p4

- 1.7 The Committee noted Transport for NSW's assurance that relevant data was being collected in most cases.<sup>10</sup> The Committee also noted that there may be room for improvement in particular areas. The evidence supporting this view is outlined below.
- 1.8 In relation to the data linkage project integrating police crash data, NSW Health and State Insurance Regulatory Authority (SIRA) insurance claims data, Transport for NSW advised that data linkage has now become a routine procedure. It further observed that the data linkage has improved the quality of the New South Wales crash data and the procedure is considered to be best practice in Australia.<sup>11</sup>

#### **Expanded collection and reporting**

1.9 While acknowledging that Transport for NSW is providing an excellent data resource for its ongoing road safety initiatives, there was sufficient evidence before the Committee to suggest that the current approach to data capture, analysis and reporting by the Centre for Road Safety and Roads and Maritime Services (RMS) is not necessarily meeting all the needs and expectations of academic researchers and other significant stakeholders.

#### Timeliness

1.10 The Committee heard that timeliness of the data is an issue for academic researchers.<sup>12</sup> Local government engineers and Road Safety Officers (RSO) stressed the need for the collection and timely dissemination of detailed road crash data to local councils and other stakeholders.<sup>13</sup> Bicycle advocates reported that the current linkage process between crash and hospital databases is moving too slowly.<sup>14</sup> The submission of Transport for NSW itself referred to a lag in the data available through the data linkage process. In relation to identifying trends in New South Wales road safety data, it noted that serious injury data is only available for 2005 to 2015.<sup>15</sup>

#### **Reporting practices**

- 1.11 Concern was expressed by some stakeholders that Centre for Road Safety road safety trends may not be correctly representing risk factors or the road user groups who are at-risk. They asserted that this was due to the use of inappropriate criteria or analytical comparisons in the modelling of the raw data.
- 1.12 The National Motorists Association Australia (NMAA) expressed concern that the NSW Police and Centre for Road Safety reporting of speed as a cause of fatal crashes does not distinguish between speed in excess of speed limit and speed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Answers to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Answers to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 2

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence,
 22 May 2017, p11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Submission 16, IPWEA (NSW), p4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Submission 61, Bicycle Network, p14

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, NSW Government Submission, p14

excessive for circumstance, which are applied as separate criteria in the United Kingdom (UK) system of crash cause analysis.<sup>16</sup>

- 1.13 The NMAA also queried the methodology for measuring fatalities. It asserted that the measurement should be fatalities per distance travelled rather than per head of population or per registered vehicle, because this represents the exposure of people to roads.<sup>17</sup>
- 1.14 The Combined Pensioners and Superannuants Association (CPSA) suggested that reporting should take into account population increases and that the data be refined by including information about how many people in each age group drive.<sup>18</sup>

#### Crash cause analysis

1.15 The NMAA further asserted that Australian state and territory governments do not analyse crash causation factors properly. It cited the UK Police crash cause analysis system as the best practice model. Under this system specially selected traffic officers undergo an external training course and qualify as specialised accident investigators. The reporting methodology and contributory cause assessment is based on research undertaken by the UK Transport Research Laboratory.<sup>19</sup> The NMAA recommended that a specialist unit be developed within the NSW Police to conduct crash cause analysis to the UK standard and that it should adopt the analytical methodology of the UK Police services. It further proposed that this unit should report its findings annually and that training of crash data analysts should be based on the UK training model.<sup>20</sup>

#### Adequacy of data provision

#### Local government road safety data

1.16 For local government engineers and RSO the capture of adequate data is vital for the strategic planning of road safety initiatives, including education, at the local community level. The Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia (IPWEA) (NSW) submission stated that the road safety efforts at the local level continue to be inhibited by a lack of data regarding the severity of injury crashes; the location of crashes and the under-reporting of crashes, especially off-road crashes.<sup>21</sup> Mr Mick Savage, Manager, Roads and Transport Directorate, IPWEA, observed that:

...there needs to be better targeting of the collection and reporting of statistics. It is an issue that we have raised with this Committee previously. A simple example is that we have been trying to ascertain the correlation between fatalities and unsealed roads. I am not sure whether the data is collected. We would like to know,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, pp4-5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Mr Michael Lane, National Spokesman, National Motorists Association Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p46

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Mr Paul Versteege, Policy Coordinator, Combined Pensioners and Superannuants Association, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, pp4-5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Submission 16, IPWEA(NSW), pp8-9

because that information would give us a better handle on where we should be targeting local government resources in particular.<sup>22</sup>

#### Overseas licence holders and non-English speaking drivers

1.17 In light of the steady growth in international tourists visiting Australia, submissions expressed concern about potentially increasing road safety risks presented by international road users who might not understand Australian road rules. Concern was also expressed regarding the comprehension of local road users not understanding English.<sup>23</sup> The IPWEA pointed to the need to capture precise data to enable the identification of overseas licence holders in road crashes.<sup>24</sup>

#### Vulnerable road users

1.18 The Committee received evidence that data collection on road injuries is not adequate, in the view of some bicycle advocates, to inform future road safety actions and decisions. The Bicycle Network outlined a table of criteria which would be needed to provide streamlined and consistent reporting of accidents involving cyclists.<sup>25</sup>

#### Minor incidents

1.19 Since October 2014 NSW Police have not been required to attend minor crashes except where a person is killed or injured, parties fail to exchange particulars or a driver is under the influence of alcohol or drugs.<sup>26</sup> Submissions and witnesses expressed concern that this may be causing under-reporting and adversely impacting on the analytical capacity of road safety researchers.<sup>27</sup> Dr Lisa Keay, Deputy Director, Injury Division, The George Institute, informed the Committee that:

I think minor crashes are still of importance, perhaps more so as an indicator of an at-risk group. It would correlate with more severe crashes, so we should not lose the ability to capture those, perhaps particularly for older people. They can have low-speed bingles, and that can pick up problems with the driver themselves. It is just another mechanism to engage with that driver, if there is a minor crash.<sup>28</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Mr Mick Savage, Manager, Roads and Transport Directorate, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Submission 4, Mr Michael MacLaurin, p1; Submission 54, Name suppressed, p7; Submission 57, Mrs Julie Abbottsmith, p1; Submission 74, Pedestrian Council of Australia Ltd, p3;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Submission 16, IPWEA (NSW), p5, p20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Submission 61, Bicycle Network, p14

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Insurance Council of Australia Media Release, October 14, 2014 <

http://www.insurancecouncil.com.au/assets/media\_release/2014/october2014/141014%20NSW%20consumer%20\_alert%20\_

<sup>%20</sup>accident%20reporting%20rules%20are%20changing%20but%20insurers%20should%20be%20notified.pdf>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Submission 16, IPWEA (NSW), p9; Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p4; Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p13; Mr Harold Scruby, Chief Executive Officer, Pedestrian Council of Australia, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p39

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Dr Lisa Keay, Deputy Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence, 22
 May 2017, p11

Road safety research and reporting

#### Licensing data and unlicensed drivers

1.20 While crash fatalities and serious injuries are escalating in New South Wales, only a small proportion of licensed drivers contribute to road trauma numbers. The dilemma for road safety educators is how to target unlicensed drivers who are involved in a significant proportion of casualty crashes.<sup>29</sup> Evidence presented to the Committee suggested that greater efforts may be required to obtain the necessary data to identify these drivers. Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research, University of New South Wales, observed that:

The challenge is who are they, and there are many different avenues to being unlicensed. Obviously, it can be perceived as someone who has never been licensed. We think that tends to be a small proportion, but we do not really know. The other groups are those who have lost their licence and who may not have passed a reassessment or training to get a licence.<sup>30</sup>

1.21 Academics also informed the Committee that licensing data is difficult to work with<sup>31</sup> and that there was a problem of under-reporting of indigenous identification.<sup>32</sup>

#### Stakeholder access to data and collaborative opportunities

- 1.22 The Committee heard that academic researchers have a strong interest in accessing the data managed by the Centre for Road Safety in order to better understand the cause and context of crashes.<sup>33</sup>
- 1.23 Insurance industry representatives gave support to the notion of funding further research into Centre for Road Safety data to investigate more complex issues such as whether a relationship can be determined between young driver crashes and their level of driver training.<sup>34</sup> In addition, the Insurance Council of Australia (ICA) indicated in its evidence that it would be open to share data with appropriate bodies and to start collecting pertinent data for longitudinal studies to try to reach conclusions about the road safety effectiveness of driver education and training in relation to specific demographic groups.<sup>35</sup>

#### Finding 1

# We find that the crash data collected and reported by Transport for NSW is comprehensive, thorough and robust, but can be improved by the collection of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Submission 44, Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research, University of New South Wales, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, TARS, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Dr Lisa Keay, Deputy Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence,22 May 2017, pp11-12

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence,
 22 May 2017, p11

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Ms Naomi Graham, Manager, Public Policy and Industry Affairs, Insurance Australia Group, Transcript of evidence,
 22 May 2017, p62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Mr Karl Sullivan, General Manager, Policy, Risk and Disaster Planning, Insurance Council of Australia, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p62

## additional data, and better integration of data collection and data sharing across government and non-government agencies.

#### Comment

- 1.24 We are satisfied that road safety research, and the collection and publication of crash statistics are highly developed in New South Wales.
- 1.25 Transport for NSW has developed a sophisticated system of collecting, reporting and analysing crash statistics. It has developed an effective network within which it works with other state government agencies (notably NSW Police and NSW Health), and other stakeholders to ensure that crash statistics are thorough, timely and robust. The Centre for Road Safety publishes crash statistics which are accessible and informative.
- 1.26 As discussed above, we received evidence that the collection and reporting of crash statistics can be improved by:
  - (a) Expanding the areas for which data is collected and reported
  - (b) Better integrating the collecting, reporting and sharing of data
  - (c) Identifying crash data which may be reported where a police report is not generated.

#### Previous inquiry findings and recommendations

1.27 We have previously urged improvements to the road safety data collection system and the integrity and utility of the data collected so that the causes of road fatalities and injuries can be more fully understood and counter-measures more precisely targeted to prevent or manage road user risks.<sup>36</sup> In particular, in Staysafe's Report on Pedestrian Safety, we said:

An impediment to accurate analysis is created by the lack of adequate data on which to make assessments about specific causes of casualties. The lack of availability of comprehensive and timely road safety information creates delays in the implementation of specific and targeted countermeasures. Additionally, it reduces the ability to pool available knowledge and expertise in a cooperative effort involving all stakeholders.<sup>37</sup>

1.28 While acknowledging the very significant achievement of the Centre for Road Safety in establishing the current data linkage system using NSW Police crash data, NSW Health admissions data, and SIRA insurance claims data, we noted that evidence from witnesses and submissions to this inquiry pointed to areas where data collection, quality or utility did not appear to meet the requirements of expert road safety researchers and other stakeholders.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Joint Standing Committee on Road Safety, Report on Pedestrian Safety, No 3/54, December 2009; Report on Vulnerable Road Users, Inquiry into Motorcycle and Bicycle Safety, No 5/54 December 2010; Report on Driver and Road User Distraction, No 2/55, March 2013; Report on Speed Zoning and Its Impact on the Demerit Points Scheme, No 4/55, November 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Joint Standing Committee on Road Safety, Report on Pedestrian Safety, No 3/54, December 2009; pxv

1.29 We also noted the expressions of interest of academic witnesses and of the insurance industry representatives in working with the Centre for Road Safety on future research projects. Closer collaboration with external stakeholders may enable the Centre for Road Safety to refine its data collection and management processes to more precisely meet the needs of researchers; to foster research to determine the effectiveness of driver education and training; and to focus road safety education strategies as strategically as possible.

#### **Recommendation 1**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW expand crash data collection and reporting to include crashes:

- Where the at-fault driver is unlicensed
- Where the at-fault driver is overseas licensed
- Which occur on unsealed roads
- Which do not generate a police report.
- 1.30 We were pleased to receive the assurance of Transport for NSW that data relating to the particular types of crashes we list in Recommendation 1 is being collected.<sup>38</sup> Several witnesses including road safety researchers, local government, and the insurance industry, expressed interest in this particular data being reported in ways which enabled more effective analysis of crash and injury causes. We believe it is important to make this recommendation in order for Transport for NSW to re-examine this issue, in collaboration with its stakeholders, to ensure its data collection is as good as it can possibly be.
- 1.31 Further, we were particularly pleased to hear the evidence of the insurance industry that it is keen to share its data to improve crash reporting and analysis, and to support expanded road safety research.

#### **Recommendation 2**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW establish a working party comprised of representatives of the transport, police and health portfolios, local government, road safety researchers and the insurance industry, to report in one year on how to identify, capture and integrate all crash data and improve crash data analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Answers to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 2

## Chapter Two – Driver training and testing: learner and provisional drivers

#### Summary

This chapter discusses driver training and testing as it relates to learner and provisional drivers.

It is relevant to terms of reference:

b) Evaluating current driver training, including the effectiveness of refresher training and skills updating, and adaptation to changing vehicle technology

c) The needs of any particular driver group

e) The needs of metropolitan, rural and regional drivers

f) The needs and expectations of passengers and other road users

g) The cost of driver training standards and how the costs should be allocated

h) The experience of other jurisdictions, and interstate cross border issues.

In Chapter Two we discuss the structure and benefits of the Graduated Licensing Scheme, including how cross border issues may create confusion. We have a detailed discussion of the content of the learner driver program, and consider the value of computer-based learning and driving simulators.

We also discuss evidence relating to provisional drivers, and suggested ways to reward them for safe driving.

In Chapter Two we find that the value of professional driver training may be understated and that the current log book discount might be made more effective in encouraging learner drivers to undertake professional training.

We recommend that the road safety benefits of mandating the Safer Driver Course for all learner drivers should be determined, and that an audit of the integrity of the learner driver logbook scheme be undertaken and published.

We also recommend that the road safety benefits of mandating at least a minimum amount of professional driver training for learner drivers should be investigated, and that the value of driving simulators should be examined.

We recommend that confusion surrounding cross border differences in licensing conditions needs to be addressed.

It is important to note that a number of findings and recommendations in Chapter Two are relevant to evidence and analysis discussed in subsequent chapters, and particularly to the discussion concerning the regulation of driver trainers in Chapter Six.

#### The Graduated Licensing Scheme

- 2.1 The training of novice drivers to take the wheel, first under supervision and then on their own, is governed by the Graduated Licensing Scheme (GLS).
- 2.2 Transport for NSW gave a detailed outline of the GLS in its submission. In summary, the NSW GLS provides the framework for a staged instruction program under which novice drivers move from their supervised learning stage, through the two provisional stages to unrestricted driving. Each stage must be undertaken for a minimum prescribed period, is subject to set restrictions on what driving is allowed or is prohibited, and movement from one stage to the next occurs when drivers can demonstrate their eligibility for the next stage by passing a test.

#### Key components of the GLS

- 2.3 The key components of the GLS are:
  - A Learner driver licence held for a minimum of 12 months during which drivers aged 16 to 25 years must complete 120 hours of supervised driving, and must pass a road driving assessment to graduate to the next licence.
  - A Provisional P1 driver licence held for a minimum of 12 months during which drivers are subject to certain speed, infringement, vehicle and conduct restrictions, and must pass a hazard perception test to graduate to the next licence.
  - A Provisional P2 driver licence held for a minimum of 24 months during which drivers are subject to slightly less stringent restrictions, and must pass a driving qualification test to be eligible to graduate to an unrestricted driver licence.<sup>39</sup>

#### Support for the GLS

2.4 Witnesses appearing on behalf of the NSW Government at the public hearing on 29 May 2017 gave the Committee a strong endorsement of the GLS. Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety told the Committee:

Since the introduction of the graduated licensing system we have seen a halving of the casualty crash rates for those under-25-year-old drivers as a direct result of the system having been implemented. Another important element for us to keep in view is the graduated conditions which come off your licence as you move through each stage—the restricted speed and alcohol conditions, and the night-time driving restrictions on P platers and other occupants in the vehicle. Those conditions such as that zero blood alcohol level which gradually come off as you become a more experienced driver have also had a significant impact on the reduction of the casualty crashes for that age cohort.<sup>40</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p36

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p64

- 2.5 The GLS received widespread support in submissions made to the Committee. The George Institute for Global Health (George Institute) advised that the current novice driver testing regime was both appropriate and cost-effective.<sup>41</sup>
- 2.6 The National Roads and Motorists Association (NRMA) endorsed the GLS as effective in reducing young driver crashes:

The GLS allows young people to get their initial experience under conditions that involve lower risk and introduce them in stages to more complex driving situations...<sup>42</sup>

2.7 The Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia (IPWEA) wrote:

The graduated licensing scheme allows young drivers to progressively familiarise themselves with more complicated road conditions as they build on-road experience in lower-risk situations.<sup>43</sup>

2.8 Mr Len Woodman, a road safety practitioner, wrote:

As a professional assessor of licensed drivers I have observed that drivers who have learned to drive since the advent of the Graduated Licensing Scheme in 2000 are generally more aware of road conditions and hazards than those 'more experienced' drivers who were trained prior to the GLS.<sup>44</sup>

2.9 Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research, University of New South Wales, outlined the benefits of the GLS when she appeared before the Committee at its public hearing on 22 May 2017:

When people start to drive, their crash risk drops dramatically in the first six to 12 months. That is due to their on-road experience which is fundamentally different to being a learner.<sup>45</sup>

2.10 Associate Professor Senserrick summed this up as 'real-world experience' while 'managing risks':

What graduated licensing does is to say that you need that on-road experience, and so it is best to get it in conditions where you are most likely to manage the risk and will not put you in the highest risk conditions. For young people to have other young passengers in their car, it is particularly high...<sup>46</sup>

#### Harmonising the GLS across borders

2.11 Some submissions and evidence heard referred to progress, or lack of progress, towards the harmonisation of the GLS across all states and territories. These references generally occurred in the context of confusion for drivers when travelling across borders and between states. For example, the NSW Driver Trainers Association (NSWDTA) wrote that road safety is made more complex by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health, p4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Submission 51, National Roads and Motorists Association, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Submission 16, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia, p19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Submission 70, Mr Len Woodman, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, TARS, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, TARS, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p21

each state having different rules and systems in place. The NSWDTA called for states to adopt the same systems and implement the same rules.  $^{\rm 47}$ 

- 2.12 The Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) Limited (ALS) made the same observation in its submission, advising that cross border confusion disproportionately affects indigenous people living in cross border communities.<sup>48</sup>
- 2.13 The National Motorists Association Australia (NMAA) advised that cross border discrepancies are particularly confusing for and harsh on provisional drivers.<sup>49</sup> They described the cross border differences between New South Wales and Victoria as reflecting state laws intended to minimise the impact of peer pressure on inexperienced drivers:

...Victoria disallows more than one passenger between 16 and 22 years of age for 24 hours per day whereas NSW has a curfew disallowing a passenger under 21 years of age only between the hours of 11pm and 5am.<sup>50</sup>

- 2.14 Calls for harmonisation were complicated by the view that New South Wales is the leader in driver licence regulation. Mr Ian Faulks, Safety and Policy Analysis International, described the New South Wales driver licensing system as 'among the most advanced and well developed in the world'.<sup>51</sup> While he described harmonisation as desirable, Mr Faulks advocated that this should not inhibit innovation in New South Wales.<sup>52</sup>
- 2.15 In its submission, Transport for NSW acknowledged that 'there is no nationally consistent licensing framework for novice drivers in Australia'. It advised, however, that the states and territories have agreed to recognise and enforce the licence conditions set by the issuing jurisdiction. It also pointed out that while this means states are able to set conditions they consider appropriate for novice drivers, it also means that although a condition may be set in one state for safety reasons, interstate licence holders may not be required to comply with it, thus limiting its effectiveness.<sup>53</sup>
- 2.16 The Committee explored harmonisation with some of the witnesses who appeared before it at the two public hearings. At the hearing held on 22 May 2017 the Committee asked whether indigenous representatives had raised cross border issues with the NSW Cross Border Commissioner and if so, with what result. Ms Jenny Lovric, Indigenous Affairs Committee, Law Society of NSW, confirmed that the matter had been raised, but no progress had been made.<sup>54</sup>
- 2.17 When asked by the Committee about harmonisation, Dr Rob Katz, Chair, Research and Policy Advisory Committee, Amy Gillett Foundation, expressed his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Submission 49, Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) Limited, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p72

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Ms Jenny Lovric, Law Society of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p4

preference for harmonisation, but acknowledged that the current state-based system allowed jurisdictions to trial different approaches which if successful could be adopted in other jurisdictions.<sup>55</sup>

- 2.18 Committee members reported their own direct experience of cross border issues affecting provisional drivers, in particular relating to both the Queensland and Victoria borders.
- 2.19 The Committee sought further information on the question of harmonisation of the GLS in a supplementary question sent to Transport for NSW following the second public hearing. Specifically the Committee asked whether the goal of the GLS was complete national harmonisation of all road rules and licensing conditions, and whether there are any road safety advantages in maintaining cross border differences.
- 2.20 In reply, Transport for NSW explained the status of the Australian GLS as a policy framework which guides, rather than prescribes, each jurisdiction's implementation of its own GLS. Under this framework, each jurisdiction moves incrementally towards adopting elements of the GLS and hence towards national consistency over time. Transport for NSW confirmed that New South Wales already has in place most of the highest level features contained in the Australian GLS. Regarding cross border issues, it reiterated the position stated in its submission that 'cross border differences are addressed to a substantial extent in consensus that conditions in the licensing state determine conditions to be enforced'.<sup>56</sup>
- 2.21 Mr Faulks expressed concern at forthcoming changes to the GLS.<sup>57</sup> He described changes to testing provisions for graduating to higher levels of the GLS as a 'rollback' for 'cutting costs', which negated fundamental principles of the GLS designed both to accelerate drivers through the GLS, but to 'keep them learning longer'.<sup>58</sup>
- 2.22 In its submission, Transport for NSW described these changes to the GLS as enhancements to align it with best practice as represented by the Australian GLS.<sup>59</sup>

#### Finding 2

We find that cross border issues affecting some drivers are confusing and may result in harsh outcomes.

#### **NSW Safer Driver Course**

2.23 The NSW Safer Driver Course received widespread support from submission makers as an appropriate response to the needs of learner drivers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Dr Rod Katz, Amy Gillett Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p66

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Answers to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Transport for NSW, Media Release, published 24 July 2016, <u>https://www.transport.nsw.gov.au/newsroom-and-events/media-releases/graduated-licensing-scheme-changes</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p36

- 2.24 Transport for NSW advised the Committee that the course is aimed at learner drivers aged 16 to 25 years. It aims to address the higher crash rates experienced by young drivers in their early driving years, based on a curriculum devised by road safety experts, by highlighting the importance of extended supervised driving experience and low-risk driving strategies.<sup>60</sup>
- 2.25 Learner drivers who successfully complete the Safer Driver Course receive a discount of 20 hours from the requirement to complete 120 hours of supervised driving under the GLS.<sup>61</sup>
- 2.26 Transport for NSW advised that learner drivers pay a set fee for the course which is subsidised by the NSW Government to ensure affordability. The course is delivered in over 250 locations across the state by contracted course providers. Transport for NSW reported that 29.5% of all eligible learner drivers in New South Wales had undertaken the Safer Driver Course.<sup>62</sup>
- 2.27 In his submission, Mr Jerry Van Wyk of Awesome Driving School endorsed the Safer Driver Course as an opportunity for learner drivers to be taught to respond to hazards and distractions, and to understand common crash risks. Mr Van Wyk also raised concerns about course management and both customer and provider frustrations.<sup>63</sup>
- 2.28 The Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW Limited (PCYC) which described itself as the largest provider in New South Wales of road safety programs, similarly endorsed the Safer Driver Course as a self-development opportunity for learner drivers, and particularly for exposing learner drivers to professional instruction which they might not otherwise receive.<sup>64</sup>
- 2.29 Transport for NSW is currently undertaking an evaluation of the course. The NRMA called for the results of this evaluation to be published to aid the refinement of the course to ensure that it continues to produce better crash outcomes for novice drivers.<sup>65</sup>
- 2.30 The Committee asked Transport for NSW if it intended to publish the evaluation. Transport for NSW advised that those parts of the evaluation which dealt with course providers would be commercial-in-confidence and not be published, but that key findings of the evaluation relating to the outcomes of the program would be published.<sup>66</sup>

#### Finding 3

We find that the Safer Driver Course is an effective road safety tool.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p37

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p37

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p38

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Submission 64, Mr Jerry Van Wyk, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Submission 51, National Roads and Motorists Association, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Answer to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 8

#### Comment

#### Mandating the Safer Driver Course

- 2.31 We heard evidence that the NSW Safer Driver Course is highly regarded by learners and trainers. Transport for NSW advised us that it is reviewing the course in order to assess its road safety impacts and its success in assisting learner drivers to acquire and apply the skills, knowledge and attitudes which lead to safe driving.
- 2.32 We support the publication of this review and recommend that Transport for NSW also examine the road safety benefits which will be achieved by making the course compulsory for all learner drivers.

#### **Recommendation 3**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW:

- publish the findings of its current review of the Safer Driver Course
- conduct a further review, in consultation with relevant stakeholders and the community, to determine whether road safety benefits can be achieved by making the Safer Driver Course compulsory for all learner drivers.

## Learner drivers

- 2.33 As discussed above, learner drivers must hold a learner driver licence for a minimum of 12 months and if aged 16 to 25 years, complete 120 hours of supervised driving. Learner drivers and their supervising drivers must maintain a log book to record the hours driven. The log book is checked by the testing officer when the learner driver sits the driving test.<sup>67</sup>
- 2.34 In complying with the requirement to complete 120 hours of supervised driving, learner drivers are not required to undertake any professional driver training. The 120 hours may be supervised entirely by a volunteer supervisor such as a parent.<sup>68</sup>
- 2.35 Learner drivers may utilise discounts which are available to reduce the 120 hours required and to encourage them to undertake a component of professional driver training as follows:
  - The '3 for 1' scheme under which if a learner driver undertakes 10 hours of instruction with a professional driver trainer they can record 30 hours in the log book<sup>69</sup>
  - The Safer Driver Course where a learner driver may record 20 hours in the log book for attending the course.<sup>70</sup>

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Answers to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 1
 <sup>68</sup> <u>http://www.rms.nsw.gov.au/roads/licence/driver/learner/index.html#Practicaldrivingexperience-learnerDriverLogBook</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p39

2.36 The use of log books by driver trainers is discussed in more detail later in this report.

#### New technologies to improve driver training

#### Digitisation and interactive learning

2.37 Mr Carlon advised the Committee of further changes to the GLS and the way learner drivers access course content:

We are currently reforming the whole Graduated Licensing Scheme [GLS] framework and digitising that framework. So we will be able to deliver up-to-date contemporary information about driver safety and driver risk and vehicle safety.<sup>71</sup>

- 2.38 In its submission to the inquiry, Transport for NSW outlined a range of technologies which will provide educational experiences based on the GLS. These included continuous learning, game-based learning, use of virtual reality for driver learning, and connecting real time learner driver data to continuously improve safety. Transport for NSW foreshadowed, in particular, that new technological learning opportunities will be delivered to learner drivers through the Safer Driver Course and the Driver Licensing Access Program (DLAP).<sup>72</sup>
- 2.39 Transport for NSW further advised that it is currently working with Roads and Maritime Services (RMS) to modernise the driver knowledge test platform. This project will utilise an interactive system supported by a customer service and educational strategy for novice drivers, parents and supervisors. In addition, RMS noted that it will utilise a national library of Hazard Perception Test clips, compiled by Austroads, in order to update the NSW Hazard Perception Test so that it reflects current hazards on the Australian road network.<sup>73</sup>
- 2.40 Transport for NSW cited a number of initiatives in interactive and digital learning resources which have been achieved to date. These include *Safety Town*, an online and interactive resource for children, teachers and parents; learning resources for novice drivers and a new driver logbook app.<sup>74</sup> Interactive learning activities have also been utilised in road safety education for motorcyclists as part of the 'Ride to Live' road safety campaign on the <u>ridetolive.com.au</u> website.<sup>75</sup>

#### Digital learner logbook app

2.41 In relation to the digital learner logbook application, Mr Carlon explained that the advantage of the app was that the supervisor or professional trainer can reference specific information at different stages of the learner's progress according to the number of driving hours completed. In relation to innovative education for novice drivers, Mr Carlon advised that the digital platform:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p37

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p41

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p61

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p49

...also maps through the red P-plate and the green P-plate process so that people are getting information that is relevant to their stage of driving and the restrictions that they have on at the time on their licence.<sup>76</sup>

- 2.42 Mr Carlon also foreshadowed that new driver education initiatives using technology will be used to target specific high-risk road user groups.<sup>77</sup>
- 2.43 On the question of the use of technology and driver training, the Committee received evidence suggesting caution. Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute told the Committee that while there is some promising evidence that computer-based education can transfer skills, most particularly in relation to hazard perception, the link to ongoing behaviour and crash risk is missing.<sup>78</sup>

#### Suggested improvements to course content

- 2.44 Many submissions commented on the content of the current learner driver program and how it might be improved. There was considerable support, for instance, for learners to receive training in 'real-world' conditions, to be trained more broadly in driving skills as opposed to being trained to 'pass the test', and to receive awareness training related to particular road user groups.
- 2.45 Some submissions also queried whether the current learner driver arrangements understated the value of professional driver training. The Committee's attention was drawn to overseas jurisdictions where professional training was encouraged and volunteer supervision of learner drivers discouraged or prohibited.

#### Training for the test

2.46 The Pedestrian Council of Australia Limited (PCA) expressed the view that the major focus of learner driver programs is to train drivers to pass the test. The PCA reported that this short term focus was to the detriment of teaching:

2.47 Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd (Ian Luff) echoed this view in its submission. It described the current learner driver program as test focussed, leaving:

...no room for learner driving that teaches safe driving. There is a very big difference between passing the test to gain the provisional licence and learning safe driving techniques.<sup>80</sup>

<sup>...</sup>safe driving behaviours as a philosophy for 'whole of life' with 'respect for self and respect for other road users'...  $^{79}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p67

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p67

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence,
 22 May 2017, p18; Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, TARS, University of New South Wales, Transcript of evidence,
 22 May 2017, p19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Submission 74, Pedestrian Council of Australia, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Submission 66, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, p5

#### Training in 'real-world' conditions

- 2.48 The NSWDTA also suggested that learner driver training focuses on teaching for the driving test. It argued that the restrictive nature of the current program, under the framework of the GLS, results in novice drivers receiving insufficient training and experience of real-world driving conditions, and as a result, novice drivers were at a dangerous disadvantage when subsequently encountering them. The NSWDTA called for speed restrictions for learner drivers to be reviewed so that they could experience driving at the legal speed limit under supervision.<sup>81</sup>
- 2.49 The NMAA also found speed restrictions for novice drivers a problem. It nominated freeway and highway merging, and overtaking at speed as two skills which the current restrictions meant were impossible for learners to be taught:

New drivers have to learn these matters unsupervised and too often with disastrous results.  $^{\rm 82}$ 

#### Mandating professional training

2.50 The NMAA was also one of several stakeholders who queried whether the value of professional training was understated in New South Wales. It drew the Committee's attention to jurisdictions like Germany in which all instruction must be done by professional driver trainers, and France where parents may supervise learner drivers, but only professional training is counted for compliance, asserting that these systems produce safer drivers.<sup>83</sup>

#### Road sharing

2.51 The Amy Gillett Foundation quoted a study of cyclist-related content in the driver licensing process which found very little that teaches new drivers about safely sharing the road. They called for the addition of content to the driver training process on sharing the road with vulnerable road users, noting that this had occurred in the Australian Capital Territory in 2016.<sup>84</sup> The Foundation also proposed that up to 20 hours spent on a bicycle be counted towards a learner driver's log book hours for the purpose of exposing learner drivers to the needs of vulnerable road users.<sup>85</sup>

#### Training for unfamiliar conditions

2.52 The IPWEA proposed expanding the learner driver program to include education on changing road conditions particularly at worksites, navigating rural unsealed roads, and safety precautions when encountering flooded roads.<sup>86</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, pp2, 7-9; Submission 70, Mr Len Woodman, p5; Mr Ray Rice, Bicycle NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p67; Mr Allan Pryor, National Motorists Association Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p50

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Submission 16, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia, p5

#### Learner driver access to advanced training

- 2.53 Some submissions called for learner drivers to be given access to more advanced driver training courses. Advanced and defensive driver training for experienced drivers is discussed in detail later in this chapter. In relation to such training for inexperienced drivers, Transport for NSW advised the Committee of considerable evidence that attempting to train such drivers in advanced driving skills may contribute to increased crash risk, particularly amongst young males.<sup>87</sup>
- 2.54 This position received strong support from road safety researchers and others. The NRMA wrote that it does not support advanced driver training for young drivers based on the evidence of which it is aware.<sup>88</sup> The George Institute wrote that studies showed even school-based driver education had no safety benefits, but can increase early licensure, therefore increasing crash exposure.<sup>89</sup>
- 2.55 Associate Professor Senserrick told the Committee that advanced driver training increased crash risk in young drivers:

...with young males in particular you have this miscalibration risk. They think they have developed these skills to avoid the crash and therefore they accept more risk.<sup>90</sup>

2.56 She proposed that novice driver education 'avoid the advanced skill work' and focus on prevention, defensiveness and resilience training.<sup>91</sup> These forms of training are discussed later in this report.

#### Perceptual and cognitive training

- 2.57 The Australian Road Safety Foundation (ARSF) suggested that the learner driver program needed updating to reflect more modern approaches to perceptual and cognitive training, as well as addressing how new vehicle technology should be addressed in training.<sup>92</sup>
- 2.58 Transport for NSW defined the high-order cognitive skills which need to be developed in novice drivers as:

...skills such as question asking, critical thinking, systematic/lateral thinking, decision making, problem solving, evaluative thinking, and knowledge transfer. Application of these skills to driving facilitate hazard and risk perception, self-calibration (ability to moderate tasks based on one's ability), additional control, time sharing (sharing limited attentional resources between driving tasks) and situational awareness...<sup>93</sup>

2.59 These stand in contrast to the lower-order cognitive skills which Transport for NSW described as:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Submission 51, National Roads and Motorists Association, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, TARS, University of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, TARS, University of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, p11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p25

...a basic recall or application of memorised information to familiar situations or applying set procedures or rules to repetitious exercises.<sup>94</sup>

2.60 Transport for NSW foreshadowed that future driver initiatives for novice drivers will focus on the development of higher-order cognitive skills necessary to drive safely rather than on motor handling skills.<sup>95</sup>

#### Finding 4

We find that the '3 for 1' discount scheme could be more effective in encouraging learner drivers to undertake professional training.

#### Finding 5

We find that in the absence of any mandated professional training for learner drivers, the value of professional training may be understated.

#### Comment

#### Extending the current discount for undertaking professional driver training

- 2.61 We believe it may be possible to expand the current discounts on log book hours offered to learner drivers who receive professional driver training.
- 2.62 We accept that 120 hours of supervised learner driving is an evidence-based figure indicating that a learner is sufficiently experienced to be tested for advancement through the GLS. We also know that the NSW Government reduces this number of hours by offering a discount to learner drivers who receive professional driver training and who undertake the Safer Driver Course. These two commitments by learner drivers can reduce the minimum number of supervised driving hours a learner must complete before being tested, from 120 to 80.
- 2.63 These discounts are evidence that higher quality training is an acceptable substitute for mere hours spent supervised behind the wheel.

#### **Recommendation 4**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW review the current logbook discounts offered to learner drivers for undertaking professional driver training and the Safer Driver Course, to identify opportunities to extend the logbook discount without compromising road safety outcomes.

#### Mandating professional training

- 2.64 We also note the evidence of professional driver trainers that since the introduction of the discount scheme, 10 hours has come to be regarded erroneously by learner drivers as the maximum recommended number of hours of professional training they should undertake.
- 2.65 Properly regulated, as discussed later in this report, professional driver training provides an enhanced learning environment for learner drivers. We believe,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p26

therefore, that Transport for NSW should investigate opportunities to encourage all learner drivers to undertake more hours of professional training through the extension of the discount, where road safety outcomes are not compromised.

- 2.66 We also believe that in the case of both learner and provisional drivers who fail a test on multiple occasions, the NSW Government should mandate a minimum number of professional driver training hours which the driver must receive before resitting the test. In this circumstance, the professional driver training discount could reduce on a sliding scale or not apply.
- 2.67 It is also worth examining whether there are road safety benefits in mandating a minimum number of professional training hours which all learners must receive and if so, whether these hours should be undertaken before any volunteer-supervised hours are undertaken. We noted evidence that in Germany, for example, all learner drivers must be professionally trained, and that no volunteer supervision is permitted. It was argued that German training produces safer drivers than New South Wales training.<sup>96</sup>

#### **Recommendation 5**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW examine whether road safety benefits can be achieved by:

- mandating a minimum number of hours of professional driver training for all learner drivers
- mandating a minimum number of hours of professional driver training for learner and provisional drivers who fail to meet certain criteria such as failing any test prescribed under the Graduated Licensing Scheme multiple times
- mandating that professional driver training hours must be undertaken before any volunteer-supervised training hours are undertaken.

#### Learner driver log books

- 2.68 In answer to our supplementary questions, Transport for NSW advised that the learner driver log books are not audited, but checked. This is because they are not compliance tools, but tools to support supervising drivers.
- 2.69 We understand, however, that log books are colloquially thought of as auditable by learner drivers and their supervisors, particularly with regard to the professional driver training discount, but may also be held in fairly low regard as reliable records.
- 2.70 Given these prevailing views we believe there is an opportunity to test the value of log books as an accurate record of learner driver hours as well as a support tool. In light of the effort required to undertake 120 hours of supervised learner driving and the discounts available, as well as developments in technology, an audit of the integrity of the current learner log book system will be a valuable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Mr Allan Pryor, National Motorists Association Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p50

tool in ensuring that the learner driver program is performing and achieving as intended.

2.71 We have made recommendations later in this report regarding the better regulation of driver trainers, both professional and non-professional, who also have responsibilities regarding the learner driver log book. The audit of the log book system we recommend here is also an opportunity to audit the role of driver trainers.

## **Recommendation 6**

# The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW conduct and publish an audit of the integrity of the current learner log book system.

#### The effectiveness of computer-based learning

- 2.72 We were pleased to receive Mr Carlon's evidence confirming Transport for NSW's technological innovations for road safety education and training. At the same time, we note the evidence of academic researchers suggesting caution regarding computer-based training.
- 2.73 Taking into account the counterbalancing views presented in evidence to this inquiry, we see merit in Transport for NSW exploring technological initiatives in driver and road safety education, not only in relation to the GLS, but also in campaigns as has been done successfully with the 'Ride to Live' Campaign for motorcyclists, which we discuss later in this report. In our view there is also potential for the use of interactive education such as videogames in relation to reinforcing the road rules knowledge of all road users.
- 2.74 As has been pointed out by the academic research witnesses, there is also a need to obtain reliable evidence of the impact of computer-based education on long term road user behaviour and the road toll. Therefore, we urge Transport for NSW to consider the need to commission a research study in its own right or in collaboration with partners to evaluate the effectiveness of selected computer-based learning initiatives.
- 2.75 Our recommendation later in this report regarding an investigation into the opportunities presented at licence renewal to test the success of driver education campaigns is also an opportunity to consider the use and effectiveness of online applications to engage with drivers.

#### **Recommendation 7**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW and Roads and Maritime Services investigate the effectiveness of computer-based learning on long term road user behaviour and the road toll.

#### Expanding the content of the learner driver program

2.76 Many witnesses gave evidence that the content of the learner driver program should be expanded. A particular focus of this evidence was the issue of road sharing and the impacts of unsafe driving for vulnerable road users, including pedestrians, cyclists and motorcyclists.

- 2.77 Road sharing by drivers, and their recognition that all road users have rights and obligations regardless of when, where and how they use roads, is at the heart of adopting and demonstrating a safe driving attitude.
- 2.78 We heard a great deal of evidence that road sharing and awareness training needs to be emphasised in learner driver training. In particular, witnesses drew attention to the road sharing and bicycle awareness training undertaken by learner drivers in the Australian Capital Territory.
- 2.79 In support of this view, witnesses offered evidence that the incidence of accidents, injuries and fatalities affecting vulnerable road users is too high, and that road rules such as the mandatory safe bicycle passing distance are neither well understood nor well observed.
- 2.80 While we have not recommended that bicycle awareness should be a compulsory pass/fail component of learner driver testing, or that learners should receive some training on bicycles and count these hours towards achieving the 120 hours learning requirement, we agree that a greater emphasis on road sharing and awareness of other road users, and particularly vulnerable road users, should be made in learner driver training.
- 2.81 Many other areas were nominated by witnesses for inclusion or more emphasis in the learner driver program, including motorway driving and merging at speed, and the use of modern vehicle technology such as ABS braking. We recognise that including these areas for training would require that speed limits for learner drivers be lifted.
- 2.82 We heard evidence, for example, that the speed restrictions imposed on learner drivers are a barrier to learner drivers being trained effectively on roads such as motorways where speed limits exceed the maximum speed permitted on a learner driver licence. Particular reference was made to United Kingdom learner driver regulations which have been amended to allow learner drivers to drive under supervision on motorways at the speed limit.<sup>97</sup>
- 2.83 Given the good safety record demonstrated by learner drivers, and the requirement placed on learner drivers to experience a minimum number of hours night driving, for example, we believe it may be safe and practical for learner drivers to be permitted to drive at motorway speeds.

#### **Recommendation 8**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW investigate what road safety benefits can be achieved by expanding the content of the learner driver program.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> UK Government, Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency, Media Release, 12 August 2017, 'Learner drivers will be allowed on motorways from 2018', <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/learner-drivers-will-be-allowed-on-motorways-from-2018</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

# Simulators

- 2.84 With regard to computer-based learning, the Committee received submissions from two organisations that are developing simulators to be used as part of driver education. ii-Drive, a company partnered with Western Sydney University, is developing a 'high fidelity virtual reality driving simulation that closely replicates the experience of driving a car in the physical environment'.<sup>98</sup> Advancing Projects has constructed a prototype simulator designed to deliver 'highly realistic simulated driver training experiences'.<sup>99</sup>
- 2.85 ii-Drive submitted that the key benefit of simulators is their ability to train drivers in a number of extremely dangerous traffic situations without putting the driver in any real physical danger. These drivers are then able to make better choices when confronted with these situations in the real world.<sup>100</sup>
- 2.86 This view was also expressed by Mr Karl Sullivan, General Manager, Policy, Risk and Disaster Planning, Insurance Council of Australia (ICA):

While the face-to-face driving lesson is valuable, the only way you can safely show people consequences these days is perhaps in virtual reality types of simulators. I think that they are becoming more common and more viable these days. People there can experience what happens when they do the wrong thing without hurting themselves.<sup>101</sup>

2.87 ii-Drive submitted that the areas of application for their simulator include learner driver training, advanced hazardous driving training, repeat offender programs, cognitive testing of elderly drivers and analysis of driving habits to determine atrisk individuals.<sup>102</sup>

#### Simulators may improve driving skills

- 2.88 The Committee heard that while there is currently no evidence linking simulator training to the change in driver attitude and behaviour required for improved long term road safety outcomes, there is strong evidence that simulator training improves driver skills.
- 2.89 Associate Professor Senserrick told the Committee that there is a growing body of evidence around simulation-based driver training:

There is evidence that you can train and improve skills. I work extensively with young drivers. It has also been shown that those skills transfer to the way people drive on the road when they instrument their vehicle and watch what they are doing. It shows that you can transfer those skills.<sup>103</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> Submission 27, ii-Drive Pty Ltd, p4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> Submission 10, Advancing Projects Pty Ltd, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Submission 27, ii-Drive Pty Ltd, p10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> Mr Karl Sullivan, General Manager, Policy, Risk and Disaster Planning, Insurance Council of Australia, Transcript of evidence. 22 May 2017, p60

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Submission 27, ii-Drive Pty Ltd, p8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, TARS, University of New South Wales. Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p19

2.90 Associate Professor Senserrick, went on to say that hazard perception training is an area where the use of simulators could be of real benefit:

The most promising area in that respect is in hazard perception training. It is called various things; some might call it 'hazard anticipation'. It focuses on the whole sequence of where you are looking when you are driving, your search techniques, what you are looking at, and therefore what you perceive, what you choose to do in response, and enacting that behaviour appropriately. There is a lot of promise in that area, particularly looking at young drivers, new drivers and traffic offender programs. There are programs for older drivers dealing with the 'useful field of view' approach, which deals where they are looking and what they are doing. There is a suggestion that that type of training can help to improve performance.<sup>104</sup>

#### Simulators may not substitute for on-road training

- 2.91 Despite the growing evidence in support of simulated skills based training, the Committee heard that there is no substitute for on-road driver training due to the dynamic variables at play when driving in the real world.
- 2.92 Ms Jenny Davidson, State Coordinator, Driver Education Programs, PCYC told the Committee that learning to drive is a multi-sensory experience:

It is everything from what you are seeing; what you are feeling, as in terms of the road conditions underneath you; how the car behaves, right through to the processing of what is going on in the environment. I do not think we can get that multi-sensory approach with simulators.<sup>105</sup>

2.93 Mr Mick Savage, Manager, Roads and Transport Directorate, IPWEA gave similar evidence:

I do not think you can adequately do driver training remotely or by simulation. There is nothing like actually being on the road and experiencing it. That is particularly true on local and regional roads. It is one thing to sit in a simulator for half an hour. It is another thing to drive for two, three and four hours between A and B on a country road.<sup>106</sup>

#### Simulators can supplement current training

2.94 Mr Carlon, Transport for NSW told the Committee that while there is no conclusive evidence in support of simulators as a replacement for on-road training there is strong evidence for their use in supplementing current driver training methods. He said the role of simulators in educating drivers about new risks, new road rules and the environment they drive in should be explored further:

> There is no concrete evidence that real-world environment learning can be replaced by a simulated environment. However, there is plenty of evidence to suggest that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, TARS, University of New South Wales, Transcript of evidence 22 May 2017, p19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Ms Jenny Davidson, State Coordinator, Driver Education Programs, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p49

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Mr Mick Savage, Manager, Roads and Transport Directorate, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p3

learning through those simulated environments is a very strong adjunct that can be used—should be used—and I think that we need to, in the digitisation of the learning experience from graduated licensing all the way through to older drivers, relook at this question of how we deliver information, education and training to people in New South Wales.<sup>107</sup>

- 2.95 Mr Michael Humphries General Manager, Australian Driver Trainers Association (ADTA) agreed that simulator training would be an excellent supplementary training aid particularly for reassessment and retraining. He said the use of simulators would add a greater breadth of experience to what drivers have already experienced on the road and in their driving lives.<sup>108</sup>
- 2.96 Mr Russell White, Chief Executive Officer, ARSF, told the Committee that simulation technology is never meant to replace in-vehicle training, rather it is used to give drivers experience in environments and conditions that are not readily available. He said that the ARSF had been using simulators since 2007:

We found them, as an education tool in the absence of being able to get someone in a vehicle, an outstanding education piece for us even if it is to educate around distraction or impaired driving. The consequence of driving in a rural environment, for example, is another great one because the situations are different. As I said, I have always been of the view that simulation technology has a huge role to play and I think that is something that is untapped.<sup>109</sup>

- 2.97 The Committee asked witnesses for their view on the possible use of simulators to train drivers in situations they are unfamiliar with or do not have access to. Many witnesses believed this to be an avenue worth exploring.
- 2.98 Mr Anthony Cope, President, NSWDTA said:

If you have somebody experienced in a country area, the practicalities of getting those people to come to densely populated areas is not feasible. It may be where a simulator could have some sort of benefit in showing how they could integrate some other skills into those different environments.<sup>110</sup>

2.99 A similar response was provided by Mr Savage of IPWEA:

People in the metropolitan area get their licence and they understand traffic and congestion. They have had no real experience driving long distances on regional roads of probably variable quality. Likewise, people who get their licence in regional areas are shocked and horrified coming to and driving in the city for the first time. For both of those things there can be an element of training provided by simulation...<sup>111</sup>

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p72
 <sup>108</sup> Mr Michael Humphries, General Manager, Australian Driver Trainers Association, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Mr Russell White, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Road Safety Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017 p55

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Mr Anthony Cope, President, NSW Driver Trainers Association, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Mr Mick Savage, Manager, Roads and Transport Directorate, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p3

#### Comment

- 2.100 We note the evidence proposing the greater use of driving simulators to train and test drivers throughout their driving lives.
- 2.101 Simulators were reported to be useful tools for training learner drivers, especially in cases where access to vehicles might be limited, but access to simulators could be provided. We particularly note the scenario which several people offered for the use of simulators to expose learner drivers to unfamiliar driving environments. A metropolitan learner driver, for example, may have little or no opportunity to experience country driving while being trained, but could be given access to a simulator for this experience.
- 2.102 Simulators were also promoted as useful in assessing experienced drivers who might require retesting as a result of offending or older driver assessment. These proponents believed that simulators could be installed in motor registries and used for hazard perception and skills testing in circumstances where on-road testing may not be convenient or practical.
- 2.103 We chose to question a number of witnesses who appeared before us concerning their attitude to simulators. The evidence we received was not conclusive, although we note the evidence of the NSW Government witnesses who told us that they regarded simulators as supplementary to current driver training, and not a substitute for it.

#### **Recommendation 9**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW review and publicly report on the value of simulators to supplement current driver training, testing and assessment with particular reference to the use of simulators to:

- Expose learner drivers to unfamiliar driving conditions such as a metropolitan learner to country conditions and vice versa
- Substitute for on-road training for disadvantaged learners where access to a simulator can be arranged
- Be employed in hazard perception testing and in aged driver assessment.

# **Provisional drivers**

- 2.104 Provisional drivers are more likely to be involved in crashes than the rest of the driving population. Transport for NSW informed the Committee that New South Wales crash data indicates that young drivers in the first 12 months of unsupervised driving are the group most likely to be involved in a crash in New South Wales.<sup>112</sup>
- 2.105 The NSW GLS is discussed above. Transport for NSW wrote that under the GLS:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p35

...novice drivers must progress through three stages and four tests before obtaining an unrestricted driver licence, with the minimum time to move from a learner licence to an unrestricted driver licence being four years.<sup>113</sup>

- 2.106 The widespread support which submissions expressed for the NSW GLS is reported above.
- 2.107 Associate Professor Senserrick, TARS, expressed her support for the GLS as the bridge between the driving skills learned by learner drivers and the safe driving attitudes and behaviours which experienced drivers gain over time.

The graduated licensing system often gets misconstrued as some sort of punishment system for young people, that they are risk-takers and we will punish them all for the sake of a few. What it is trying to teach is how to manage one's exposure to risk as one develops driving skills.

For all drivers, no matter what age, when they transition from being a learner, with a supervisor or an instructor with them, to driving on their own, that is the highest peak in risk that they are likely to face throughout their entire driving lifespan. That is showing that inexperience is the major factor in why there is such a big spike in risk at that time.<sup>114</sup>

2.108 Associate Professor Senserrick described the purpose of the GLS as helping novice drivers gain real-world experience in a way which manages risk.

When people start to drive, their crash risk drops dramatically in the first six to 12 months. That is due to their on-road experience which is fundamentally different to being a learner. It is fundamentally different to anything you can learn in a simulator or on a computer.<sup>115</sup>

#### **The P Drivers Project**

- 2.109 The Committee heard evidence that a major research project into the driver education needs of provisional drivers the P Drivers Project is underway and due to be finalised in late 2017.
- 2.110 Mr Sullivan told the Committee that Insurance Australia Group was a partner in the P Drivers Project along with VicRoads, Transport for NSW, the Commonwealth Department of Infrastructure, Transport and Regional Development, the Transport Accident Commission, Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV), and the Federal Chamber of Automotive Industries:

The project is a large-scale road safety project to develop and implement a driver education program for young P-plate drivers aged 17 to 22, a cohort typically characterised as high risk. The findings from the research ... should help inform a more targeted driver education strategy for this segment of motorists.<sup>116</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p35

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, TARS, University of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, TARS, University of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Mr Karl Sullivan, Insurance Council of Australia, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p58

#### **Suggested improvements**

2.111 Regarding provisional drivers in particular, some stakeholders discussed the sanctions placed on provisional drivers and whether rewards and incentives for good behaviour should also be considered, including the potential for greater supervision of provisional drivers to address risk.

#### Incentives for novice drivers

- 2.112 Incentives offered to experienced drivers are discussed later in this report. Mr Ronak Shah, Academy of Road Safety, proposed that similar incentives could be offered to novice drivers to also reward them for safe driving. Mr Shah suggested rewards could include cheaper licences, bypassing some tests, and cheaper registration and insurance.<sup>117</sup>
- 2.113 The Committee noted that the Western Australia Department of Transport offers incentives to provisional drivers who do not commit offences during their provisional licence period. Qualifying provisional drivers are offered a one year free licence renewal or a five year licence for the cost of four years.<sup>118</sup>
- 2.114 Similarly, the Victorian Government offers young drivers with no traffic offences during their provisional licence period a free three year driver licence.<sup>119</sup>
- 2.115 The Committee also noted that in the Australian Capital Territory, provisional drivers may undertake additional training in the form of the Road Ready Plus course. If they complete the course successfully, provisional drivers are permitted to forego displaying their 'P' plates and gain an expanded demerit points allowance.<sup>120</sup>

#### Additional supervised driving

2.116 Blue Datto Foundation Ltd (Blue Datto) illustrated their philosophy for addressing safety amongst young drivers by noting that statistics 'show that 'L' drivers are the safest drivers in the world'. They wrote:

...we should harness this receptiveness to learning to influence attitudes and behaviours lasting into when the drivers get their 'P' plates and suddenly become the riskiest category of drivers.<sup>121</sup>

2.117 Blue Datto proposed that a further period of supervised driving be introduced for provisional drivers who lose their licences in addition to disqualification periods.<sup>122</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Submission 62, Mr Ronak Shah, Academy of Road Safety, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Government of Western Australia, Department of Transport, Licensing, *Get a provisional licence ('p' plates)*, <u>http://www.transport.wa.gov.au/licensing/step-6-get-a-provisional-licence-p-plates.asp</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Vicroads, *Free Licence Scheme*, <u>https://www.vicroads.vic.gov.au/licences/your-ps/free-licence-scheme</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> ACT Government, Road Ready program, <u>http://www.roadready.act.gov.au/c/roadready?a=sp&pid=1098840049</u>, accessed 18 September, 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> Submission 45, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> Submission 45, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, p5

#### Good behaviour schemes

- 2.118 The PCYC described the potential for provisional drivers to be especially disadvantaged by fines which may be disproportionate to their income. It considered that a good behaviour-style scheme in cases where lack of capacity to pay is proven may be an effective approach to infringing provisional drivers without replacing safe driving messages.<sup>123</sup>
- 2.119 The Committee asked witnesses invited to public hearings to comment on the balance between sanctions and incentives which applied to young drivers. Professor Ivers told the Committee that research showed sanctions to be effective in modifying the behaviour of young drivers, although there was merit in examining the impact of measures like insurance premium reductions for safe driving. In summary, Professor Ivers described the current regime as striking a reasonable balance.<sup>124</sup>

#### Other safety issues for young drivers

- 2.120 Mr Andrew Johnson, NSW Advocate for Children and Young People supported the GLS as a contributor to improving road safety for young drivers. He advised, however, that upcoming changes to the GLS to prohibit mobile phone use by all learner and provisional drivers may disadvantage some young people. Mr Johnson did not propose easing restrictions on handheld phone use, but rather was concerned that the proposed prohibition would include phone use for navigation and music broadcasting, two uses popular amongst young people and even more so in rural and regional areas where mobile phone reception was often better than global positioning system (GPS) and radio reception.<sup>125</sup>
- 2.121 The Committee noted the advice of Transport for NSW that a total ban on mobile phone use which currently applies to learner and Provisional P1 drivers was extended to Provisional P2 drivers in December 2016.<sup>126</sup>
- 2.122 Some submission makers reported that road safety improvements could be achieved by teaching novice drivers about the advantages of proper vehicle maintenance and of driving safer vehicles.
- 2.123 Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd described vehicle maintenance and tyres as a vital part of safe motoring, but as issues which rarely appear in driver training and education.<sup>127</sup> They also quoted the Australasian New Car Assessment Program (ANCAP) and the potential for the use of cars with higher safety ratings to achieve reductions in road fatalities.<sup>128</sup>
- 2.124 Professor Ivers told the Committee that vehicle safety was a particular issue for country driving. Choosing vehicles for both farm and on-road use could mean

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> Professor Rebecca Ivers, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> Submission 73, Mr Andrew Johnson, Advocate for Children and Young People, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p37

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Submission 66, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, p13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> Submission 66, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, p18

driving a vehicle with fewer safety features but increased crash risk and reduced survivability.  $^{129}\,$ 

2.125 Mr Carlon, Transport for NSW, advised the Committee that the ANCAP program had been successful, but that as of December 2015, only 33.5 per cent of light vehicles on New South Wales roads were 5 star safety rated. He described forthcoming changes to the ANCAP system which would see continuing advances in the safety rating of vehicles, as well as the policy of the NSW Government to purchase five-star rated vehicles which would soon flow onto the second-hand market.<sup>130</sup>

#### Finding 6

# We find that good behaviour schemes for provisional drivers may have merit in improving provisional driver behaviour and attitude.

#### Comment

- 2.126 The road safety statistics are clear. The first months of provisional driving are a time of very high risk.
- 2.127 We heard evidence of the success of the GLS in bringing down the rate of crashes and fatalities for provisional drivers. We also note the continuing public debate about further strengthening the GLS, and especially the opportunities to achieve this through harmonisation with practices in other states.
- 2.128 We heard evidence that drivers in cross border areas, and particularly provisional drivers, experience confusion about road rules when travelling between jurisdictions. As with speed limits for learner drivers, speed limits for provisional drivers and certain other restrictions on provisional licences are not identical across state and territory boundaries.
- 2.129 Several witnesses suggested that the sanctions applied to provisional drivers who breach the conditions of their licences are too harsh. These witnesses argued that an incentive regime applied to provisional drivers who commit minor offences may encourage them to adopt safer driving practices in order to preserve their licence entitlements, as opposed to sanctions which result in the loss of provisional licences.
- 2.130 The evidence of the success of provisional licences within the GLS in achieving better road safety is overwhelming. Similarly, the high crash and fatality rate experienced by provisional drivers cannot be ignored.
- 2.131 The provisional licensing conditions are harsh because the risk of crashes and fatalities amongst and caused by provisional drivers is statistically high. This harshness is a response to risk and not merely punitive.
- 2.132 We concede, however, that if concessions can be made to low range offenders amongst provisional licence holders without compromising road safety

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Professor Rebecca Ivers, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Transport for NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p71

outcomes, such as the proposal for applying a good behaviour period, it is fair and sensible to investigate them.

2.133 We note in calling for any changes to provisional driving rules that the P Drivers Project is ongoing. We expect this project to have a major impact on enhancing driver training in areas such as risk management, decision making, and developing safe driving attitudes in novice drivers. The investigations we recommend need not wait for the outcomes of the P Drivers Project, but can proceed as a matter of priority. Indeed, it may ensure the more effective roll out of the recommendations of the P Drivers Project if it can be done across a more harmonised driver licensing regime.

#### **Recommendation 10**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW investigate the benefits of offering provisional drivers who commit low range driving offences access to a good behaviour period, similar to that offered to unrestricted licence holders, where road safety outcomes are not compromised.

#### **Recommendation 11**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW review the conditions of provisional driver licences to identify any opportunities to remove the confusion reported in cross border areas without compromising road safety.

# Chapter Three – Driver training and testing: licensed drivers

#### Summary

This chapter discusses driver training and testing as it relates to licensed drivers with a whole-of-life scope.

It is relevant to terms of reference:

b) Evaluating current driver training, including the effectiveness of refresher training and skills updating, and adaptation to changing vehicle technology

- c) The needs of any particular driver group
- e) The needs of metropolitan, rural and regional drivers
- f) The needs and expectations of passengers and other road users
- g) The cost of driver training standards and how the costs should be allocated.

In Chapter Three we discuss the needs of licensed and experienced drivers including evidence for and against the value of mandatory periodic retesting of licensed drivers, and the value of the New South Wales older driver assessment regime.

We also examine post-licence training, more commonly referred to as advanced and defensive driver training, and the treatment of driving offenders.

We find that mandatory retesting of all drivers is unlikely to deliver road safety benefits but would come at significant cost, while benefits may be achieved by targeting unlicensed drivers.

We find that the older driver assessment regime is a reasonable response to crash risk.

We also find that the objectives of advanced and defensive driver training are unclear and recommend an investigation of the suitability of this training for different types of drivers.

Finally, we recommend that providers of programs for driver offenders operate on a level playing field.

#### Whole-of-life driver education and training

- 3.1 In adopting the terms of reference for its inquiry, the Committee was keen to ensure it did not just examine the training and testing of novice drivers, but of drivers throughout their driving lives.
- 3.2 In his media release announcing the inquiry, Mr Greg Aplin MP, Committee Chair noted that driver education and training are often seen as only relevant to the young:

We think it is time to examine the role of education and training for people of all ages, wherever they live, and however they use their vehicles.<sup>131</sup>

3.3 In his submission, Mr Ian Faulks, Safety and Policy Analysis International, noted the lengthy period from when a driver is first issued a licence to when a driver ceases to drive permanently, and the limited opportunities for driver education taken up during this time. He wrote that some current drivers had held their licences for 'over three quarters of the total time that the New South Wales driver licensing system has been in operation':

One feature of such drivers, and of the operation of the New South Wales driver licensing system generally, is that apart from administrative requirements relating to driver licence fees and the regular reissue of licences, for such older drivers there have been virtually no licensing interventions affecting them until medical review from age 80 years and practical driving retesting requirements from age 85 years.<sup>132</sup>

3.4 A central focus of the inquiry was the Committee's invitation to people to have their say on these arrangements and how licensed drivers could and should be trained and educated.

# Mandatory retesting and retraining

- 3.5 Many of the submissions to the inquiry called for the introduction of mandatory retesting and retraining of drivers at regular intervals throughout their driving lives. A common view amongst these submission makers was that the time between first obtaining a driver licence and the age of older driver assessment was so long as to render initial driver training obsolete. Regular testing, it was argued, would ensure drivers were up-to-date with road rules, technology, and skills.<sup>133</sup>
- 3.6 In its submission, however, the NSW Government cited research to show that 'periodic retesting of all drivers is not an effective method for influencing driver compliance and reducing crashes'.<sup>134</sup> The submission argued that for the general driving population, it is factors such as experience, attitude and risk management which play the greater role in safe driving rather than driving ability. The Government cited crash data which identified behavioural causes for crashes, including speeding, drink and drug driving, and fatigue, as well as driver error, rather than lack of driving skill and incapacity to control a vehicle. It described these behaviours as related to 'underlying motivations, over confidence, social

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Joint Standing Committee on Road Safety, Media Release, 16 November 2016, <u>https://www.parliament.nsw.gov.au/committees/DBAssets/InquiryOther/Transcript/10444/Media%20release%20D</u> <u>river%20Education%20and%20Training.pdf</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> Submission 2, Mr Ashley Boland, p1; Submission 11, Mr Peter Macpherson, p1; Submission 12, Mr Gary Cooke, p6; Submission 20, Mr Michael King, p2; Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe, p1; Submission 24, Australian Cycle Alliance, p2; Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p11; Submission 34, Mr Terry Craig, p1; Submission 35, Mr Martin Geliot, p1; Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p4; Submission 45, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, p7; Submission 47, Bicycle NSW, p2; Submission 52, Transport Workers' Union, p4; Submission 54, Name suppressed, p2; Submission 56, Mr David Jackson, p2; Submission 58, Australian Driver Trainers Association, p3; Submission 60, IPWEA (NSW), p4; Submission 66, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, p1; Submission 68, City of Sydney, p1; Submission 70, Mr Len Woodman, p3; Submission 74, Pedestrian Council of Australia, pp1-2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p26

norms, lack of consequences for unsafe behaviour and beliefs about safe driving practices'.  $^{\rm 135}$ 

- 3.7 The NSW Government's position on mandatory retesting and retraining was supported by evidence provided by road safety researchers. Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick of Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research, University of New South Wales, wrote that mandatory retesting lacked 'any substantive research evidence to suggest it would result in significant reductions in road trauma'.<sup>136</sup>
- 3.8 Associate Professor Senserrick laid out clearly why mandatory retesting would come at great cost for little road safety benefit for the reason that only a small proportion of licensed drivers contribute to road crashes:

...in NSW in 2015 the total number of casualty crashes was 18,275 while the total number of car driver licences issued at 31 December 2016 was 4,830,982. Even if a licensed car driver was somehow involved in each of these crashes, this would equate to less than 0.4% of all licensed drivers.<sup>137</sup>

# **Unlicensed drivers**

3.9 Associate Professor Senserrick also noted that 639 of the crashes reported in 2015 involved an unlicensed driver, and that such drivers would not be identified by a retesting program for licensed drivers.

...training all licensed drivers to capture the fractional percentage involved in crashes would clearly be cost prohibitive and not capture other high-risk (unlicensed) drivers.<sup>138</sup>

3.10 Associate Professor Senserrick expanded on her views regarding a lack of research evidence to support mandatory retesting and retraining. She argued that implementing such a costly policy would only be worthwhile if it could be shown to reduce road trauma, yet there was 'no known current effective program' which could do so.

Multiple evaluations of programs, both those targeting the general driving population and high-risk groups, have failed to demonstrate conclusively any consistent or sustained benefits in terms of actual reductions in crashes or crash casualties.<sup>139</sup>

3.11 As did the NSW Government, Associate Professor Senserrick described the many contributing causes to crashes, including non-trainable human limitations, poor driver choice and decision-making, and risk-taking. In response to the Committee's central focus, ie improving road safety outcomes, she recommended efforts to target specific high risk groups such as resilience training

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> Submission 44, Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research, University of NSW, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> Submission 44, Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research, University of NSW, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> Submission 44, Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research, University of NSW, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Submission 44, Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research, University of NSW, p2

for young drivers and low-cost computer-based training for traffic offenders and older drivers,<sup>140</sup> as well as unlicensed drivers.

- 3.12 The George Institute for Global Health (George Institute), in its submission, also supported the NSW Government position on mandatory retesting and retraining.<sup>141</sup>
- 3.13 Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transport for NSW, canvassed the issue of mandatory retesting, acknowledging that it had been advocated by a number of submissions to the inquiry. He said:

Studies have shown that periodic testing of all drivers is not an effective method of reducing road safety risks. However, research indicates that for the general driving population factors such as attitude and risk-taking play a much larger role than driver knowledge.<sup>142</sup>

- 3.14 Many drivers, however, are required to be retested. Mr Carlon outlined the triggers for retesting:
  - Drivers who have had their licence disqualified for more than 12 months must resit the Driver Knowledge Test
  - Drivers who have had their licence disqualified for more than two years must retake the driving test
  - Drivers who have exceeded their demerit points twice in more than five years must resit the Driver Knowledge Test and attend the Traffic Offender Intervention Program (TOIP).<sup>143</sup>
- 3.15 Mr Carlon advised the Committee that between 2012 and 2016 more than 34,000 drivers resat their Driver Knowledge Test or driving test, or both.<sup>144</sup>

# Finding 7

We find that the mandatory periodic retesting and retraining of all licensed drivers between the age of first achieving a licence and the age of older driver assessment would be expensive, disruptive and administratively complex, and unlikely to improve road safety outcomes.

# Finding 8

We find that targeting unlicensed drivers is likely to be more effective in improving road safety outcomes than mandatory retesting and retraining of licensed drivers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> Submission 44, Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research, University of NSW, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health, p4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p62

# **Knowledge testing and licence renewal**

- 3.16 While the expert evidence submitted to the inquiry did not support mandatory periodic retesting and retraining, many submissions discussed the need for road users to receive information during their driving lives about changing rules, technology and conditions. The questions for road safety authorities are what to communicate with road users, when to do it, and whether it is successful.
- 3.17 Communicating via driver education campaigns and school education are discussed later in this report. This chapter discusses the suggestion in some submissions that licence renewal presents an opportunity to communicate with all drivers in a systematic and periodic way.
- 3.18 In his submission, Mr Faulks summarised the nexus between driver education and driver licensing throughout a person's driving life which the Committee was seeking to explore. He wrote:

...the way forward for driver licensing should be based upon an assessment of the effectiveness and efficiency of the operation of the licensing system throughout a driver's licence tenure.<sup>145</sup>

3.19 Mr Faulks noted that for the majority of drivers their interaction with the driver licensing system is administrative. Even where a driver is charged with a traffic offence, their penalty (a fine or loss of demerit points) is dealt with administratively.

There are thus few opportunities for formal driver education. Instead, education is usually delivered through public service advertisements and the occasional inclusion of safety information with driver licence and vehicle registration renewals.<sup>146</sup>

- 3.20 In its submission, the Australian Cycle Alliance suggested that requiring drivers to complete a short online quiz when they renewed their driver licence was a simple and cost-effective way to test and update driver knowledge of changing road rules.<sup>147</sup> The Alliance advocated that such testing be compulsory and have a particular focus on driving near vulnerable road users.
- 3.21 The NSW Driver Trainer Association (NSWDTA) also proposed a mandatory knowledge test coupled to licence renewal,<sup>148</sup> while Bicycle NSW supported the introduction of a computer-based rules test every five years.<sup>149</sup>
- 3.22 Mr Ashley Boland, a motorcyclist, wrote that five yearly knowledge testing would be an opportunity for road users to be briefed on rule changes, and to survey them on planned changes.<sup>150</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> Submission 24, Australian Cycle Alliance, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> Submission 47, Bicycle NSW, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Submission 2, Mr Ashley Boland, p1

- 3.23 In light of her advice of the lack of evidence supporting mandatory retesting and retraining, the Committee invited Associate Professor Senserrick to expand on her submission at the public hearing of Monday 22 May 2017. The Committee asked whether there was evidence to support some form of periodic testing of drivers' knowledge, capacity, and attitude, say at licence renewal, but without a pass or fail resulting.
- 3.24 Associate Professor Senserrick repeated her advice that there was no evidence of the value of such an intervention. She put this advice in the context of evaluating driver education programs:

The real challenge with any education program is what people know, what they are aware of, and what they do when they are driving. This is the challenge in talking about broad-brush programs. Intuitively you would say that there would be a role for updating people and reminding them about road rules, and particularly in respect of sharing the road with different road users. That has been the underlying message in many of the campaigns conducted in New South Wales about looking out for motorcyclists, pedestrians and so on.

The risk with the education factor is when it is about knowledge of rules, technology and so on. There is a role for that, but we do not have evidence supporting it.<sup>151</sup>

- 3.25 The Committee tested attitudes towards knowledge testing on licence renewal with some other witnesses who appeared to give evidence at its two public hearings.
- 3.26 Mr Mick Savage, Manager, Roads and Transport Directorate, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia (IPWEA), indicated his support for a systematic approach to assessing driver knowledge on a periodic basis.<sup>152</sup>
- 3.27 Mr Nick McIntosh, Assistant State Secretary, Transport Workers Union (TWU), advised that he could not support any proposal periodic knowledge testing without further examination, although was supportive of a concept which did not involve a driver passing or failing.<sup>153</sup>
- 3.28 Mrs Erin Vassallo, Chief Executive Officer, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd (Blue Datto), supported continuing education about changing road rules when she told the Committee at the 22 May 2017 public hearing, that:

...on licence renewal, even a few snap questions that you have to study for would be better than nothing.<sup>154</sup>

3.29 Mr Carlon, however, reiterated the position stated in the NSW Government submission:

There is no comprehensive research evidence that mass retesting of people on knowledge from a safety perspective has a significant impact on risk. In reality, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, TARS, University of New South Wales, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> Mr Mick Savage, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> Mr Nick McIntosh, Transport Workers Union, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> Mrs Erin Vassallo, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, Transcript of hearing, 22 May 2017, p44

requirements for retesting and for intervening are with the highest risk cohort of the community who are actually taking risks that lead to crashes happening.<sup>155</sup>

3.30 The Committee pursued this issue further in a supplementary question sent to the NSW Government witnesses following the completion of the public hearings. In reply, the Centre for Road Safety restated its position that retesting is not an effective method of influencing driver performance. The Centre said the current system addresses unsafe behaviour and more at-risk drivers, without imposing additional licence requirements on the general population.<sup>156</sup>

#### Finding 9

# We find that licence renewal may be an opportunity to reinforce safe driving messages and evaluate the success of driver education.

#### Comment

- 3.31 We received many submissions which called for the introduction of mandatory testing for all drivers at regular intervals during their driving lives.
- 3.32 Many of these submitters compared a driving licence with a qualification to operate a machine or perform some other technical task. They argued that while many professionals are required by law or the rules of their professional associations to update their qualifications on a regular basis, including some vehicle drivers, ordinary car drivers are not retested between the time of first gaining their full driver licence and reaching the age of older driver assessment. This could be a period of over 65 years.
- 3.33 Expert witnesses, however, told us that there was no evidence to support the view that road safety would be improved by mandatory periodic testing of all drivers.
- 3.34 These witnesses said that licensed drivers who contribute to crashes as a percentage of the total licensed driver population was so small that the cost of retesting all drivers would vastly outweigh the possible gains made by identifying those unfit to drive by way of a universal periodic test. As a strategy for addressing unsafe driving risks, these witnesses suggested that unlicensed driving was a serious problem which if addressed would have far greater road safety benefits than a universal retesting program.
- 3.35 We accept the evidence that mandatory periodic retesting of all drivers is not a practical way to achieve road safety benefits.
- 3.36 We are concerned, however, that there are events during people's driving lives where the opportunity to test knowledge and reinforce safety messages is not being taken. We discuss driver education campaigns and their evaluation below. Transport for NSW and Roads and Maritime Services (RMS) use many campaigning techniques to promote safe driving messages including advertising to drivers when they communicate with them at times such as licence and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p72

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 156}$  Answers to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 11

registration renewal. The road safety authorities also evaluate the success of these campaigns in a variety of ways.

#### Testing driver knowledge at licence renewal

- 3.37 We believe that licence renewal may be a missed opportunity for drivers to be tested briefly on their knowledge of road rules and their attitudes to safe driving. Such a test should not be a pass or fail test. Rather, all drivers could be required to complete a short computer-based test as part of the licence renewal process.
- 3.38 Licence renewal currently occurs in two ways. Some drivers may renew online and others must attend a service centre, depending on their eligibility or the length of time they are seeking to renew.
- 3.39 A short computer-based test could be added relatively simply to the renewal process in both scenarios. The test questions could be formulated to relate directly to current campaigning in order to test its effectiveness.
- 3.40 We recognise that this proposal will require investigation, especially concerning the logistics of introducing it. We believe, however, it is a concept strongly worth considering, and is consistent with the evidence of Transport for NSW regarding interactive digital technologies and driver training and education discussed above.

## **Recommendation 12**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW examine and report on the contribution of unlicensed drivers to road fatalities and formulate a program for targeting unlicensed drivers.

#### **Recommendation 13**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW and Roads and Maritime Services investigate whether licence renewal presents opportunities to test the success of driver education programs by engaging with drivers online or in person.

# **Older driver assessment**

- 3.41 Between 2010 and 2015 the number of New South Wales licence holders aged 75 years and over increased by 25 per cent. In the same period licence holders who were 85 years or older increased by 54 per cent.<sup>157</sup> This ageing population poses a unique challenge for road safety. While the number of older drivers who seek to continue driving will continue to increase research shows that they are more likely to have functional limitations that impact driving performance, and due to the ageing process are more susceptible to road trauma.<sup>158</sup>
- 3.42 The current approach to older driver licensing in New South Wales has been in place since 2008 and requires any driver aged 75 or over to undergo an annual medical assessment. When a driver reaches 85 they have the option of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, p66

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p50

attempting an on-road practical driving test or taking out a conditional licence restricting them to driving locally.  $^{\rm 159}$ 

3.43 The Committee heard that New South Wales is one of only two jurisdictions in the world that road tests older drivers and some submissions described the system as harsh and discriminatory.<sup>160</sup> The Combined Pensioners and Superannuants Association (CPSA) argued that testing older drivers is unnecessary as New South Wales already has an effective system of delicensing incompetent drivers:

In New South Wales we have two effective systems of getting incompetent drivers off the road: first, medical practitioners are obliged to notify the licensing authority if they diagnose certain medical conditions incompatible with driving; and, secondly, a demerit points system ensures that those unable to drive within the rules are removed from our roads. To add to this a third system of old driver testing surely is over-design.<sup>161</sup>

- 3.44 Transport for NSW informed the Committee that it was due to these concerns that the Government established the Older Driver Taskforce in 2011 to review the older driver licencing system. Comprised of experts in research, medical research, health, and road safety, the taskforce recommended retaining the current system as it provided the right balance between mobility for older drivers and safety for all road users.<sup>162</sup>
- 3.45 Data collected since the introduction of the current system show that New South Wales is a top road safety performer when compared to other Australian jurisdictions in the area of older drivers. Between 2010 and 2016 fatalities for drivers aged 75 years or more were the lowest in the country, while for drivers aged 85 years or more, New South Wales was second only to Queensland.<sup>163</sup>
- 3.46 An independent evaluation of the older driver licencing system is currently being finalised by the George Institute. Surveys conducted as part of the evaluation show that 90 per cent of older drivers and their families believed the practical driving test from 85 was fair and 80 per cent believed it was likely to result in safety benefits for all road users.<sup>164</sup>
- 3.47 The majority of witnesses who appeared before the Committee were also in favour of the current licencing system for older drivers in New South Wales. Dr Soufiane Boufous, Senior Research Fellow, TARS, stated that the current system reflects the reality that drivers aged 85 and over suffer a reduction in the skills and abilities required for driving:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, p66

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> Submission 5, Mr Robert Carter, p1; Submission 6, Name Suppressed, p1; Submission 9, Mr Barry Cole, p1; Submission 13, Mr P T Gough, p2; Submission 17, Combined Pensioners and Superannuants Association, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Mr Paul Versteege, Policy Coordinator, Combined Pensioners and Superannuants Association, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, p66;Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p51

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Answers to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Answers to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 4

I do not think that what is in place now is somewhat discriminatory. We all know that there is a reality that once you go past 85 your faculties, your skills and the abilities needed for driving get reduced. That is just the reality, and something needs to be done that about that. The regime that is in place—that is, an annual medical examination and at two years testing if you choose to have an unrestricted licence—is not necessarily harsh.<sup>165</sup>

3.48 Mr Anthony Cope argued that just as the GLS discriminates against younger drivers, the older driver licensing system is about identifying a cohort of drivers who are at-risk and addressing that risk:

My counterargument is: Are we not discriminating against younger drivers as well? We are making it difficult for younger drivers to get a licence and we are restricting them for a four-year period. In that respect, I do not believe it is discriminatory... We are identifying a group of people where risk is higher, so we have to address that in some respect.<sup>166</sup>

3.49 Likewise, Occupational Therapy Australia (OTAUS) described the system as an appropriate strategy to address the increased crash risk faced by older drivers:

We do feel at Occupational Therapy Australia that the testing of older drivers is appropriate and a good strategy to use. We make no claims that that should apply only to older drivers; it could well apply to the younger cohort that has high accident rates. Some of the evidence I have read—North American, not Australian—shows that people over 70 years of age have a higher crash risk, and that goes up again over 80. It is appropriate that that group is being driver tested.<sup>167</sup>

#### **Conditional or restricted licences**

- 3.50 The option of a conditional or restricted licence found varying degrees of support. Dr Lisa Keay, Deputy Director, Injury Division, The George Institute, told the Committee that restricted licences were an opportunity to support people in transitioning from a full driving licence at a time when they needed mobility, especially if alternative transport options were not available.<sup>168</sup>
- 3.51 Mr Charles Lowe, on the other hand, wrote that restricted licences were impractical for country drivers where they might be required to drive to access services beyond the distance which the restricted licence proscribed.<sup>169</sup>
- 3.52 Dr Soufiane Boufous also saw the restricted licence as a support mechanism which helped older drivers make the transition from a full licence without losing their independence.<sup>170</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> Mr Soufiane Boufous, TARS, University of New South Wales, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p22

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Mr Anthony Cope, President, NSW Driver Trainers Association, Transcript of evidence 22 May 2017, p32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Ms Anita Volkert, National Manager: Professional Standards, Occupational Therapy Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> Dr Lisa Keay, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe, p6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> Dr Soufiane Boufous, TARS, University of New South Wales, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p22

#### Finding 10

We find that the current aged driver assessment regime in New South Wales is a reasonable balance between the rights of individual drivers and the community, and assists the state to achieve above average performance in fatalities for drivers aged 75 years or more.

#### Comment

- 3.53 We acknowledge the many submissions we received calling for a relaxation of the current older driver assessment regime. The merits of the current system and its perceived shortcomings were fiercely argued. Some witnesses felt the two yearly on-road testing regime for drivers over the age of 85 was age-discriminatory. We also heard evidence, however, that the opportunity for older drivers to opt for a restricted licence instead of a test was an effective way to assist older drivers to adjust their driving practices to better suit their driving needs and capacity as they changed with age.
- 3.54 The crash statistics show that older drivers experience higher rates than other experienced drivers, and are particularly susceptible to injury. We also accept that younger inexperienced drivers experience higher crash rates than do older drivers. We do not identify the learner and provisional driver regimes as age-discriminatory, however, but as an evidence-based approach to addressing road safety.
- 3.55 We believe that New South Wales older driver assessment is robust and defensible, and to recommend its alteration into a less robust system would be retrograde.
- 3.56 We also note that the George Institute for Public Health is conducting a review into New South Wales older driver assessment. At this stage it is appropriate for this review to be completed and examined by Transport for NSW before any changes are contemplated.

# Dementia and health reporting

3.57 In New South Wales, Road Transport (Driver Licensing) Regulation 2008 requires that licence holders must, as soon as practicable, notify RMS of any permanent or long term injury that may impair their ability to drive safely.<sup>171</sup> When RMS is notified of a medical condition they provide the licence holder with a medical assessment form to be completed by their health professional. The completed assessment form reporting on the patient's fitness to drive, including their suitability for a conditional licence can be submitted online by the health professional or in person by the licence holder.<sup>172</sup> Following the initial assessment, licence holders with a permanent medical condition are required to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> Road Transport (Driver Licencing) Regulation 2008, 117(5)

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/regulation/2008/397/part12/div3/sec117, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Roads and Maritime Services, *Information for health professionals*,

http://www.rms.nsw.gov.au/roads/licence/health/health-professionals.html, accessed 18 September 2017

provide RMS with an annual medical report from their health professional for the rest of their driving lives.  $^{\rm 173}$ 

- 3.58 RMS offers guidelines for health professionals who 'may feel obliged' to directly report a patient who is unable to appreciate the impact of their condition; unable to understand the health professional's advice; or is likely to endanger the public if they continue to drive.<sup>174</sup> However, there is currently no mandatory reporting requirement for health professionals in New South Wales.
- 3.59 The Committee heard that there was confusion and a lack of awareness around the legal requirements for reporting a permanent medical condition that impacts on driving. Alzheimer's Australia informed the Committee that they had surveyed carers and people with dementia and found that close to half did not know that they were required to report a diagnosis to RMS, and only one third were aware that a driver with dementia cannot hold an unconditional licence.<sup>175</sup>
- 3.60 The Committee heard that a lack of clarity around the role of health professionals when diagnosing a licence holder with a permanent medical condition has resulted in unsafe drivers remaining on the road.
- 3.61 Submission 63 described how family members had to insist that their 97-year-old father stop driving despite being passed by two separate health professionals. The father had been friends with the family general practitioner and the gerontologist for many years resulting in reluctance from the doctors to take his licence away. The submission stated that in a close country community doctors will remain loyal to their patient.<sup>176</sup>
- 3.62 Similar evidence was received from Submission 78, who believes that the current system is fundamentally flawed. The author described how a doctor continued to allow her grandmother to drive despite being fully aware that she was suffering from Alzheimer's.<sup>177</sup>
- 3.63 The Committee also heard from expert witnesses who had witnessed reluctance from general practitioners in telling a long time patient they can no longer drive. The OTAUS described how some doctors prefer to refer the patient to an occupational therapist who can then tell the patient that they are not fit to drive:

We find that general practitioners are sometimes hesitant to tell a patient with whom they have had a relationship for 20 or 30 years that they can no longer drive. We receive referrals for driving assessments, and we are the bad guys because we tell people that they can no longer drive.  $^{178}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> Ms Lyndall Cook, Driver Trainer Occupational Therapist and Industry Advisor, Occupational Therapy Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p38

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> Roads and Maritime Services, Information for health professionals,

http://www.rms.nsw.gov.au/roads/licence/health/health-professionals.html, accessed 18 September, 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> Submission 21, Alzheimer's Australia, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> Submission 63, Name Suppressed, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> Submission 78, Name Suppressed p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> Ms Lyndall Cook, Driver Trainer Occupational Therapist and Industry Advisor, Occupational Therapy Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p29

- 3.64 Alzheimer's Australia gave similar evidence of general practitioners not wanting to diagnose a patient with dementia due to a long standing relationship with the patient and knowing what the impact of licence loss would mean to the patient and their family.<sup>179</sup>
- 3.65 The Committee heard that the solution to the inadequacy of reporting medical conditions which diminish driving capacity and the lack of clarity around the role of health professionals is mandatory reporting. Ms Susan McCarthy, General Manager, Services, Policy and Research, Alzheimer's Australia NSW, argued for the introduction of mandatory reporting of dementia as it would no longer be left to the decision of the general practitioner whether to report or not it would be a requirement:

I definitely see the impacts of the GP having always to tell the person what they can and cannot do, which is why we support a consideration of mandatory reporting, because then it does not go back to an individual's GP's decision to do something or not to do something, and it is just a requirement.<sup>180</sup>

3.66 The OTAUS informed the Committee that they would also view the introduction of mandatory reporting as beneficial and described the current requirements in South Australia and the Northern Territory as good practice.<sup>181</sup>

#### Finding 11

We find that current reporting arrangements for dementia and other medical conditions which may diminish driving capacity are inadequate, and the role of doctors and other health professionals in contributing to road safety is unclear.

#### Comment

- 3.67 On the question of ill-health the evidence we heard is concerning.
- 3.68 Several submissions described the problem of family members continuing to drive after diagnoses of dementia and a lack of intervention by doctors to persuade or force the affected drivers to retire from driving.
- 3.69 The evidence of expert witnesses regarding ill-health affecting driving was strongly in favour of a mandatory reporting requirement being placed on doctors and health professionals. We agree.

#### **Recommendation 14**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW introduce measures to make the reporting of dementia and any other medical conditions which may diminish driving capacity mandatory for medical and health practitioners.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> Ms Susan McCarthy, General Manager, Services, Policy and Research, Alzheimer's Australia NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Ms Susan McCarthy, General Manager, Services, Policy and Research, Alzheimer's Australia NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p36

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Ms Anita Volkert, National Manager: Professional Standards, Occupational Therapy Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May, 2017, p.29

# **Post-licence training**

- 3.70 A core issue for this inquiry is to consider the value of additional driver training for already-licensed drivers as a strategy for improving road safety.
- 3.71 In its November 2015 *Report 1-56 Inquiry into Motorcycle Safety in NSW* the Committee considered training for licensed and returning motorcycle riders, including strategies employed in other jurisdictions which provided for post-licence training. Based on evidence received, the Committee recommended that NSW government agencies work with motorcyclists and training providers to develop and promote a returning rider training course.<sup>182</sup> The Committee resolved that such a course was an effective way to ensure that riders have the most up-to-date knowledge and competencies required for riding in New South Wales. The Committee's recommendations and the NSW Government's response<sup>183</sup> are summarised at Appendix Four.
- 3.72 While acknowledging that motorcyclists generally, and returning riders particularly, are a smaller and more easily identified group than all drivers, the Committee received much evidence to this inquiry advocating for the value of additional driver training for already-licensed drivers.
- 3.73 The Committee has discussed above the issue of whether there is value in mandatory retesting and retraining of all drivers on some periodic basis. The following section examines the evidence presented in relation to the type and value of post-licence training available and marketed to drivers now, and whether drivers should be encouraged to take it up.

# Advanced and defensive driver training

- 3.74 In its terms of reference the Committee characterised post-licence training as 'refresher training and skills updating'. Most post-licence driver training, however, is described as 'advanced and defensive driver training'.
- 3.75 Transport for NSW used this term in the NSW Government submission<sup>184</sup> when it quoted from a 2016 review undertaken by the Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV) titled *The Effectiveness of Driver Training/Education as a Road Safety Measure*.<sup>185</sup> In relation to experienced drivers, Transport for NSW quoted the RACV as concluding 'there is no sound evidence that either advanced or defensive driving courses reduce the crash involvement of experienced drivers who attend them'.<sup>186</sup>
- 3.76 The Pedestrian Council of Australia Limited (PCA) also quoted the RACV study in its submission.<sup>187</sup>

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> Staysafe Committee, Inquiry into Motorcycle Safety in NSW, Report 1-56, November 2015, Recommendation 19
 <sup>183</sup> Staysafe Committee Report, Inquiry into Motorcycle Safety in NSW, Report 1-56, November 2015, NSW
 Government Response to Recommendations, 20 May 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> RACV, The Effectiveness of Driver Training/Education as a Road Safety Measure 2016, <u>www.racv.com.au</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> Submission 74, Pedestrian Council of Australia Limited, p2

#### 3.77 With regard to further inquiry, Transport for NSW commented:

An opportunity has already been identified to improve benchmarks for good to best practice post-licence driver/rider education courses. At present, a myriad of driver education and training courses exist for post-licenced drivers/riders, some with little research or evidence to support their road safety efficacy.<sup>188</sup>

- 3.78 In its submission, the New South Wales branch of the IPWEA advised that while advanced and defensive driver training have been available for some time, their value in crash prevention and promoting safe driver attitudes and behaviour had not been evaluated.<sup>189</sup>
- 3.79 The George Institute discussed post-licence training in some detail in its submission. While the question of additional training for learner and inexperienced drivers is discussed above, in relation to experienced drivers the George Institute advised that there is no evidence the advanced driver training currently available is effective in producing safe drivers, and some evidence that it may increase crash rates.<sup>190</sup> The George Institute described its own review of post-licence training for motorcycle riders as upholding this position, advising that the training had:

...no safety benefits and may have actually decreased safety as riders who received the program reported more hours riding, more speeding behaviour and were more confident in their ability.<sup>191</sup>

- 3.80 The George Institute concluded that 'training can do harm, and in the absence of robust evidence should not be funded by Government agencies unless its efficacy has been proven by large, robust trials'.<sup>192</sup>
- 3.81 Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute reiterated this position when she appeared before the Committee at its public hearing on 22 May 2017. While acknowledging the popularity of advanced and defensive driving courses, Professor Ivers described how such courses could impart overconfidence to novice drivers:

...to develop skills you have to do it over and over again for an extended period of time. When you are doing an advanced driver training course for three or five days, you have a limited amount of time to practise those skills. The theory behind why it might increase crashes or poor driving behaviour is that people practise it enough to think that they have the hang of it and they become overconfident. Then they are more likely to put themselves into hazardous situations when they get out on the road. That makes complete sense to me.<sup>193</sup>

3.82 Associate Professor Senserrick, TARS, told the Committee that the evidence showed driver training should avoid advanced skills work. She advised that driver

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Submission 16, IPWEA, p17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> Professor Rebecca Ivers, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p12

education should look more at prevention, defensiveness and resilience training.  $^{\rm 194}$ 

#### Support for post-licence training

- 3.83 In addition to considerable support for mandatory retesting and retraining of all drivers, there was widespread support amongst submissions received for post-licence training. Where stakeholders differed was on how and when to encourage drivers to undertake this training.
- 3.84 Some people submitted that additional training should be required in response to new technology and vehicles becoming more complex. For example, Mr Len Woodman suggested training in the application of new technology is 'abdicated to manufacturers' sales staff', and that responsible fleet operators provide inhouse training to employees.<sup>195</sup>
- 3.85 In its submission, the Amy Gillett Foundation, which aims to improve road safety for cyclists, advised that current driver training did not train drivers to share the road with cyclists. The Foundation argued that refresher training for licensed drivers would address this gap in their original training, and would assist volunteers supervising learner drivers to pass on safe driving skills and knowledge.<sup>196</sup>
- 3.86 The TWU cited Macquarie University studies which show that inexperienced heavy vehicle drivers benefit from post-licence training which assists them to develop skills, become better quality drivers, and reduce their exposure to risk.<sup>197</sup>
- 3.87 The Australian Driver Trainers Association (ADTA) gave the example of people upgrading to a heavy vehicle licence to illustrate the value of additional training in learning how to operate unfamiliar vehicles and new technology.<sup>198</sup>
- 3.88 The National Motorists Association Australia (NMAA) also supported additional training for licensed drivers, comparing it to the refresher training required in most professional vocations.<sup>199</sup> While the NMAA expressed support for mandatory retraining for all drivers on a periodic basis, it acknowledged practical limitations to such an initiative. Instead, it proposed:

Refresher training could be incorporated into penalty regimes where driving incompetency is observed rather than numerical breaches such as minor speed infringements. Some examples of such is when drivers swing outwards, often close to or even into, an adjacent lane when making a turn; failure to signal intent; failure to keep left unless overtaking; etc.<sup>200</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, TARS, University of New South Wales, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> Submission 70, Mr Len Woodman, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> Submission 52, Transport Workers Union of NSW, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> Submission 58, Australian Drivers Training Association, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p7

3.89 The NMAA noted that many countries require refresher training after a period of licence suspension.<sup>201</sup> The Committee considers the evidence for refresher training for driving offenders below.

#### Providers of advanced and defensive driver training

- 3.90 The Committee received submissions from providers of advanced and defensive driving courses supporting the benefits of post-licence training. Mr Brad Wilson, Chief Executive Officer, CASAR Park, described his organisation's proposal to deliver training to both novice and experienced drivers safely in a controlled, offroad environment which simulated the on-road driving environment.<sup>202</sup>
- 3.91 Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, a provider of post-licence driver education, challenged the relevance of studies which determined that advanced driver training is counterproductive. It said modern training focuses on driver competency and changing driver behaviour rather than 'the old method of skills training', and aimed particularly at training drivers how to make best use of the safety systems in modern cars rather than finding out about them through personal experience.<sup>203</sup>
- 3.92 The Committee invited a representative of Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd to attend its public hearing on 29 May 2017, and invited them firstly to comment on industry standards.
- 3.93 Mr Stewart Nicholls, Business Development Manager, Ian Luff, described the industry as self-regulating. In the case of the training his organisation provides, he assured the Committee that it adheres to standard operating procedures and that its own trainers are monitored, coached and improved.<sup>204</sup>
- 3.94 Mr Nicholls was also asked about the merits of advanced and defensive driver training. In response he expanded on the advice in his submission that in the past people learned how to become better drivers through experience. The safety equipment in modern vehicles, Mr Nicholls said, tend to deny drivers many of the experiential learning opportunities of the past, but accidents continue to happen. The focus of modern post-licence driver training is more about attitudes to driving rather than skills training, such as fatigue, distractions, and driving while alcohol or drug affected.<sup>205</sup>
- 3.95 The Committee asked Mr Nicholls to comment on the benefits of driver trainers themselves taking an advanced and defensive driver training course. Mr Nicholls responded:

I believe it would be a very good recommendation to get learner driver coaches into a defensive driving program...the same could be said of parents...  $^{\rm 206}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> Submission 43, Mr Brad Wilson, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> Submission 66, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> Mr Stewart Nicholls, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Mr Stewart Nicholls, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p56

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> Mr Stewart Nicholls, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p59

3.96 Mr Nicholls illustrated his point by listing many aspects of driving modern vehicles which can be unfamiliar to experienced drivers including lighter steering, airbag deployment, and seating position, all of which if better understood can contribute to safer driving.<sup>207</sup>

## Finding 12

# We find a lack of clarity regarding the definitions, content, and target markets of advanced and defensive driving training.

#### Comment

- 3.97 Many of the submissions we received promoted post-licence driver training as a way for novice drivers to continue their training, and experienced drivers to retain and upgrade their skills.
- 3.98 Post-licence driver training is commonly called advanced or defensive driver training. A number of companies offer such training, often advertising various levels of training, usually on private driving courses or tracks, pitched at drivers of differing levels of experience. This training is often procured by corporations sending professional drivers for specialised training, or for other corporate reasons such as fleet training and staff development, or for private entertainment. We do not know what percentage of drivers undertake post-licence training or how much of it can be characterised as corrective or supplementary to the award of a driver licence.
- 3.99 We heard conflicting evidence on the value of post-licence training. Proponents of additional training, including training providers, advocated it as an effective way to upgrade driver skills. Road safety researchers, on the other hand, told us there was evidence that much of the post-licence training on offer could have a tendency to make novice drivers over-confident. Indeed, their evidence was that in such cases, undertaking advanced and defensive driver training could have negative consequences for road safety.
- 3.100 Several witnesses endorsed post-licence training as offering road safety benefits through older drivers seeking to retain their skills in response to older driver assessment.
- 3.101 We are concerned that post-licence training is an unregulated area where course content and terminology are unclear. If such training does not improve road safety outcomes, or even makes them worse, government agencies should not encourage drivers to undertake this training and should consider actively discouraging it.
- 3.102 On the other hand, post-licence training may be a valuable resource when properly formulated, marketed and delivered to the right people.
- 3.103 We believe that Transport for NSW should review the advanced and defensive driver training available in New South Wales in order to better understand what it comprises, and its capacity to address the training needs of drivers with varying

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Mr Stewart Nicholls, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p59

experience. It should assess the need for any regulation of the industry, possibly as part of an examination of the regulatory needs of professional and non-professional driver trainers, discussed later in this report.

#### **Recommendation 15**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW undertake a review of the advanced and defensive driver training currently offered in New South Wales, in consultation with training providers and road safety researchers, in order to:

- Clarify terminology such as 'advanced' and 'defensive'
- Assess the suitability of such training for licensed, provisional and learner drivers
- Ensure that courses are clearly identified as suitable or not suitable for particular classes of driver
- Identify best practice post-licence driver education which can be marketed safely to drivers with varying levels of competence, experience and need;

and publishes the results of its review within 6 months.

# **Driving offenders**

- 3.104 Mr Stewart Nicholls, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, proposed that driving offenders in particular, be referred for advanced and defensive driver training as part of their penalty.<sup>208</sup>
- 3.105 The idea that additional training be a requirement for driving offenders was a common element in many submissions, such as that received from the NMAA,<sup>209</sup> discussed above.
- 3.106 In its submission, Transport for NSW outlined the NSW Government's targeted approach to traffic offenders. Whereas it argued against mandatory retesting and retraining of all drivers as ineffective in producing road safety improvements, in the case of high risk drivers it said 'retesting provides an opportunity to ensure the driver understands the road rules, the risks of unsafe driving and recognises how to change their behaviour'.<sup>210</sup>
- 3.107 Transport for NSW described both the Increased Traffic Offender Penalties (ITOP) scheme for drivers who repeatedly take risks and put others in danger, and the Traffic Offender Intervention Program (TOIP) which follows for drivers who are subject to ITOP.
- 3.108 A driver is subject to ITOP when they reach their demerit point threshold twice in five years. When this occurs they are required to re-sit and pass the Driver

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Mr Stewart Nicholls, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p59

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p55

Knowledge Test and complete a driver education course such as TOIP at their own expense.<sup>211</sup>

- 3.109 TOIP is delivered by six community organisations such as the Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW Limited (PCYC) at locations across metropolitan and regional New South Wales, and is administered by the Department of Justice. While TOIP has not yet been evaluated, Transport for NSW advised that similar traffic offender programs have demonstrated positive results.<sup>212</sup>
- 3.110 Transport for NSW also informed the Committee about the Mandatory Alcohol Interlock Program for drivers convicted of high range, repeat and other serious drink driving offences,<sup>213</sup> and the Sober Driving Program for repeat drink driver offenders convicted of two or more offences within five years.<sup>214</sup>
- 3.111 PCYC detailed their role in delivering TOIP, in their submission. In support of the effectiveness of TOIP, PCYC highlighted the program objectives of reducing offending, providing courts with a credible sentencing alternative, and educating offending drivers about the consequences of unsafe driving behaviour and the benefits of modified behaviour.<sup>215</sup>
- 3.112 PCYC noted that the Department of Justice and the Centre for Road Safety are currently reviewing the TOIP program and expressed their support for:

...the development of robust guidelines for approval and reporting processes, administration of the program and the delivery of content to fulfil driver education best practice.<sup>216</sup>

- 3.113 PCYC also described their Road Realities program, which provides TOIP-style education, but to non-offending experienced drivers who elect to undertake additional training.<sup>217</sup> PCYC advocated for subsidised access to Road Realities in order that all drivers could access additional training including those who faced financial barriers.<sup>218</sup>
- 3.114 The Committee invited PCYC, and also Blue Datto which provides driver training programs for young people, to appear together at the public hearing on 22 May 2017 to expand on their submissions.
- 3.115 In answer to the Committee's questions, both organisations indicated their support for additional driver education where the focus was on attitude and not just on skills. Ms Jenny Davidson, State Coordinator, Driver Education Programs, PCYC, said:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p55

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p56

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p56

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p57

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p17

If you have defensive and advanced driver training courses that are functioning in a skills-based area only, then they are going to be teaching skills that cannot be relied on in a day-to-day environment out on the roads. If it is a combination of skills and attitude, then you have a case that you may get somewhere. If it is based purely on attitude and you can achieve behavioural change in that attitude, then that is your best bet and that is the experience that we have had with the Traffic Offenders Intervention Program...<sup>219</sup>

- 3.116 Mrs Vassallo, representing Blue Datto, concurred.<sup>220</sup>
- 3.117 On the question of the provision of TOIP on behalf of the Department of Justice, Ms Davidson informed the Committee that not all TOIP providers operated on a level playing field. She expressed concern that there were slightly different programs of different duration and content. She told the Committee that a set program would be desirable in which the program structure was the same for every provider with the same content provided in the same format.<sup>221</sup> Ms Davidson described the variations amongst the seven current TOIP providers as ranging from a one-day program to a seven week program.<sup>222</sup>
- 3.118 Ms Davidson also confirmed for the Committee the prevalence of unlicensed drivers, which the Committee considered previously, coming under TOIP as part of its broad reach. She described TOIP as a multi-level program which examined attitudes to safe driving whether focused on drink and drug driving, fatigue, speed and driver distraction.

TOIP is really a holistic program where all the road safety pieces come together, like pieces of a puzzle, to give the educational and experiential basis for the person to know better and to do better.<sup>223</sup>

#### Comment

3.119 We heard evidence that the Traffic Offender Intervention Program is effective, but that the delivery of the program is inconsistent. We agree that providers of the program should be accredited and funded on a level playing field.

#### **Recommendation 16**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW review current arrangements for delivering the Traffic Offenders Intervention Program to ensure that course content and delivery between providers is consistent and achieves the best possible road safety outcomes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> Ms Jenny Davidson, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p44

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Mrs Erin Vassallo, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p44

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> Ms Jenny Davidson, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p45

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> Ms Jenny Davidson, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p46

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> Ms Jenny Davidson, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p48

# Chapter Four – Support for disadvantaged learner drivers

#### Summary

This chapter discusses support for disadvantaged learner drivers.

It is relevant to terms of reference:

c) The needs of any particular driver group

e) The needs of metropolitan, rural and regional drivers

f) The needs and expectations of passengers and other road users

g) The cost of driver training standards and how the costs should be allocated

In Chapter Four we discuss the needs and experiences of disadvantaged learner drivers and the several programs which assist disadvantaged people to obtain a driver licence.

For the purposes of this chapter we identify four groups of disadvantaged learner drivers: indigenous, disabled, socio-economically disadvantaged, and rural and regional learner drivers.

We find that the funding and availability of support for disadvantaged learner drivers is adequate, and will improve as programs continue to expand. We also find that the impacts of the justice system on indigenous drivers are serious and should be investigated by the Justice portfolio.

We recommend that a single information hub for disadvantaged drivers would make accessing advice and support easier.

#### Background

- 4.1 The NSW Government provides and funds activities to assist disadvantaged learner drivers to overcome barriers to obtaining and retaining a driver licence. The Government's policy is an element of its Road Safety Strategy which recognises the role community-based organisations play in encouraging safe road user behaviours.
- 4.2 In its submission, Transport for NSW described the areas which research suggests are most effective in assisting young high risk people and in which the NSW Government supports community-based activity:
  - Initiatives to reduce and limit social disadvantage in the driver licensing system by encouraging local driver licensing access programs that include learner driver mentoring.
  - Community-based programs that minimise general risk factors among young people such as proven youth mentoring programs or preventative programs

that encourage school completion and employment for at-risk young people.<sup>224</sup>

#### **Alternative transport options**

4.3 A number of people suggested that the lack of alternative transport options in many parts of New South Wales compounds the disadvantage suffered by drivers of all ages. As a result, people are forced to seek a driver licence. The Committee noted that in 2016 the Legislative Assembly Committee on Community Services had inquired into access to transport for seniors and disadvantaged people in rural and regional New South Wales. The Committee's recommendations and the NSW Government's response<sup>225</sup> can be found at Appendix Four of this report.

#### The Driver Licensing Access Program

- 4.4 Transport for NSW's Driver Licensing Access Program (DLAP) is intended to address the barriers which prevent young people obtaining a driver licence.
- 4.5 The program provides for improved road safety outcomes by supporting disadvantaged people to obtain a licence in a broader context of improving access to education, employment, health and other services, so that equity of opportunity and improved social outcomes are also addressed.<sup>226</sup>
- 4.6 The program is delivered by community service providers who support people to access and then move through the driver licensing system while also providing direct educational and employment support, or assisting people to access this support in their local community.<sup>227</sup>
- 4.7 Transport for NSW advised the Committee of the achievements of the program over recent years. In 2016/17, the program is available from 14 providers in more than 50 locations across New South Wales. Many of the providers are community run, or offered by development agencies or Technical and Further Education (TAFE). Transport for NSW also noted that the Department of Justice contributes funding for a court diversion project which supports people referred to the program by the courts.<sup>228</sup>

# **Indigenous learner drivers**

4.8 The George Institute for Global Health (George Institute) described its research showing associations between licensing, employment and education for Aboriginal people, and its work to develop the Driving Change Program which specifically supports Aboriginal people to obtain a driver licence.<sup>229</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> NSW Government Response to the Legislative Assembly Committee on Community Services Inquiry into access to transport for seniors and disadvantaged people in rural and regional NSW, April 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p42

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p43

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p43

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health, p4

#### **Barriers to licensing**

- 4.9 The George Institute's research highlighted that accessing the 120 hours of supervised driving required for New South Wales learner drivers was a major barrier for many Aboriginal people. Additionally, the George Institute reported that disadvantaged people experience other barriers including:
  - 1) Access to proof of identification documents
  - 2) Literacy and/or language issues
  - 3) Unresolved state debt with resultant licensing sanctions
  - 4) High cost of testing and licensing fees
  - 5) Reduced access to service providers in regional and remote communities.<sup>230</sup>
- 4.10 The George Institute described New South Wales funding for support programs as 'limited in scope' and not coordinated.<sup>231</sup>
- 4.11 The Committee also received submissions from indigenous representatives and their advocates which discussed the experience of Aboriginal people in the driver licensing system and the success of the Driving Change Program.
- 4.12 In summary, these submissions argued that indigenous people were underrepresented in the community as driver licence holders and over-represented as traffic offenders. Indigenous people experience poor access to services and higher costs, have lower literacy rates, must deal with culturally insensitive bureaucracies, frequently have difficulties with unpaid debts and other matters which bring them into contact with the justice system, and are particularly affected by confusion which arises from lack of harmonisation of driving rules across state and territory borders. These submissions argued strongly for more and better integrated funding of community-based licensing access programs, and for even greater emphasis on programs which placed licensing within an education, employment and social improvement framework.
- 4.13 The Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) Limited (ALS) wrote that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people:
  - are 0.4% of all driver licence holders, but make up 2% of the eligible driver population in New South Wales
  - have a 57% pass rate for the Driver Knowledge Test compared with 74% for other groups
  - have up to a 40% rate of outstanding debt with the State Debt Recovery Office and are three times more likely than other groups to have their licence suspended for fine defaults
  - account for 6.4% of all traffic offenders despite being only 2.4% of the population.<sup>232</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health, p4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health, p5

- 4.14 The ALS reported that the most common traffic offence for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people is a driver licence offence, and that approximately 12% of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people found guilty of a driver licence offence were imprisoned, compared to only 5% of the general population.<sup>233</sup>
- 4.15 The ALS provided details to show that these barriers are prevalent in metropolitan areas as well as remote ones, and identified the further barrier to young people obtaining a driver licence simply due to the relative lack of qualified supervising drivers in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community.<sup>234</sup>
- 4.16 The ALS argued for a range of measures to be taken including an expansion of the Driving Change Program, and debt management and other community initiatives.
- 4.17 The Law Society of NSW<sup>235</sup> advocated for the expansion of the Driving Change Program and continuation of the DLAP to reduce barriers to indigenous people obtaining and retaining driver licences. They particularly identified the Literacy for Life program which targets the link between literacy and poor social outcomes. The Law Society proposed that New South Wales learner drive programs partner with the Literacy for Life program to achieve indigenous community buy-in.<sup>236</sup>
- 4.18 The NSW Council for Social Service (NCOSS) also made a submission to the Committee which emphasised the importance of a driver licence in Aboriginal communities and the barriers which people experience in obtaining one. NCOSS advised that the Driving Change Program is operating in:

...an insecure funding environment which limits their capacity to build trust and support of the local organisations that are crucial to its success, and to build and retain the organisational capacity needed to properly support and get the best outcomes for young Aboriginal people.<sup>237</sup>

- 4.19 The Literacy for Life Foundation (LFLF) made a submission to the Committee outlining its program and target audience within the indigenous community. The Foundation advised that as a result of its work, there had been an increase in the number of previously unlicensed drivers who had obtained and retained licences, achieved through literacy education, confidence building, assisting students to manage unpaid fines, and connecting them with driver training programs.<sup>238</sup>
- 4.20 The Committee invited the ALS, the Law Society, NCOSS and the LFLF to appear together and expand on their submissions at the public hearing held on 22 May 2017. The Committee began by exploring the Literacy for Life program and why it is a success in supporting driver training.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> Submission 49, Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) Limited, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> Submission 49, Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) Limited, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Submission 49, Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) Limited, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> Submission 59, The Law Society of NSW, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> Submission 59, The Law Society of NSW, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> Submission 72, NSW Council of Social Service (NCOSS), p7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> Submission 65, Literacy for Life Foundation, p2

4.21 Professor Jack Beetson, Executive Director, LFLF, told the Committee that the program has a higher graduation rate than TAFE, attributing this success to community ownership of the program:

It works because Aboriginal people in local communities take responsibility themselves. They are the people who do the teaching in the classrooms. They are the people who do the coordinating and the enrolling. They are the people who socialise and mobilise their communities behind the idea of a literacy campaign...you have everybody in the community...encouraging people to enrol in an adult literacy campaign.

- 4.22 Ms Jenny Lovric, Indigenous Affairs Committee, Law Society of NSW, described the success of the Driving Change program in reaching remote indigenous communities. She told the Committee that the program 'helps people through the full journey of their learner driver progress', including assistance with obtaining the relevant identity documents like birth certificates, with completing the driver knowledge test, and with completing the requisite hours of driving experience to satisfy the requirements of the Graduated Licensing Scheme (GLS).<sup>240</sup>
- 4.23 Ms Lovric explained to the Committee that the length and complexity of the process meant that piecemeal funding and delivery did not work:

A program that says we throw money at something for a number of weeks does not work because people take time to go through this system. I think there is a differential between people in remote communities getting that 120 hours up and people in the city who can get those hours up much more quickly.<sup>241</sup>

4.24 Further, Ms Lovric stressed the importance of a driver licence for indigenous people as a tool for overcoming social and economic disadvantage:

...driving is a high priority. It is a ticket to social inclusion. It is a ticket to employability. It is a ticket to economic participation. It is a ticket to revival of remote communities...those programs are reliant on piecemeal funding, short term funding, a lack of vision. These should be part of the infrastructure in these communities...<sup>242</sup>

4.25 Professor Beetson proposed to the Committee that life experience be recognised for indigenous drivers when completing the 120 hours required for learners drivers to sit for the driving test:

Recognition of prior learning is applied everywhere else, why not in this situation...?<sup>243</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> Professor Jack Beetson, Literacy for Life Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> Ms Jenny Lovric, Law Society of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> Ms Jenny Lovric, Law Society of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> Ms Jenny Lovric, Law Society of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Professor Jack Beetson, Literacy for Life Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p8

#### Impact of the justice system on indigenous drivers

4.26 Ms Lovric told the Committee that indigenous traffic offenders are commonly guilty of driving unlicensed, rather than more serious harm-causing offences like drink or negligent driving:

...we are talking about people who are driving without a licence or people who are driving who have never had a licence. They are perfectly good drivers; they have just never managed to actually get the documentation or the wherewithal together to get the licence.<sup>244</sup>

- 4.27 The Committee heard that 80 per cent of Aboriginal people who appear in court in regional New South Wales are there because they have no licence.<sup>245</sup> The lack of access and resources required for gaining a licence does not take away the need for transport for remote indigenous communities.
- 4.28 As Ms Lovric told the Committee:

They really are forced to drive. If someone has to take their child to hospital, which is 100 kilometres away, and they are arrested in the course of doing so, that is clearly a poor outcome.<sup>246</sup>

4.29 Professor Beetson said that those on parole find themselves in a similar predicament:

They are stuck between a bit of a rock and a hard place when one of your requirements to meet your parole obligations is to get to Bourke to report and you cannot go in because either there is no roadworthy vehicle or you will get pinched for having no licence and go back to jail anyway.<sup>247</sup>

4.30 Ms Tracy Howe, Chief Executive Officer, NCOSS, told the Committee that the effect of unlicensed indigenous drivers gaining criminal records is to make them ineligible for local employment opportunities, and particularly for employment in the very employment programs funded by governments to address indigenous disadvantage:

...when government invests in services for their community the preference always is to employ locally. However, the locals cannot apply for those positions because they have a criminal record because of driving offences. It becomes...circular...<sup>248</sup>

4.31 The Committee noted that in 2013 the NSW Auditor-General reported to Parliament on improving legal and safe driving for Aboriginal people.<sup>249</sup> In 2014 the NSW Government's response<sup>250</sup> to the Auditor-General's report was reviewed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> Ms Jenny Lovric, Law Society of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> Professor Jack Beetson, Literacy for Life Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> Ms Jenny Lovric, Law Society of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> Professor Jack Beetson, Literacy for Life Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> Ms Tracy Howe, NCOSS, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> Audit Office of NSW, Media Release, 19 December 2013, 'Improving legal and safe driving among Aboriginal people', <u>http://www.audit.nsw.gov.au/news/improving-legal-and-safe-driving-among-aboriginal-people</u> accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> NSW Government Response to the Report No 2/56, March 2016, of the Public Accounts Committee, Examination of the Auditor-General's Performance Audit Reports, September 2013-July 2014, received September 2016

by the Legislative Assembly Public Accounts Committee (PAC). Summaries of the Auditor-General's and PAC reports can be found at Appendix Four of this report.

#### **Reform of driver licence disqualification laws**

- 4.32 On 14 August 2017 the NSW Government announced an overhaul of driver licence disqualification laws in response to recommendations made by the Legislative Assembly Committee on Law and Safety in 2013.<sup>251</sup> The proposed reforms aim to give disqualified drivers an incentive to return to lawful driving while toughening sanctions for repeat offenders.
- 4.33 The proposed incentives include allowing courts to lift the disqualification period for drivers who can demonstrate a commitment to lawful behaviour according to specific criteria; introducing automatic and minimum disqualification periods for unauthorised driving offences; and revising maximum imprisonment terms for unauthorised driving offence penalties. In addition the Government will abolish the Habitual Traffic Offender Scheme, which it found was proven not to be a deterrent. At the same time the Government announced that it will take measures to toughen sanctions. These include ensuring that magistrates will continue to have maximum disqualifications available to them; allowing police to confiscate number plates or vehicles of repeat unauthorised drivers and providing police with extra on-the-spot powers to punish repeat disqualified driving offenders.<sup>252</sup>
- 4.34 Summaries of the Legislative Assembly Committee on Law and Safety report and the Government's response<sup>253</sup> can be found at Appendix Four of this Report.

#### Free birth certificates for vulnerable people

4.35 On 3 August 2017 the NSW Government announced that the Registry of Births Deaths and Marriages (BDM) now works with government agencies and not-forprofit organisations to provide free birth certificates and other records related support. To publicise this support, in 2016-17 BDM attended 45 community outreach events across New South Wales. In making this announcement The Hon. Mark Speakman MP, Attorney General said:

A birth certificate is vital to securing a job, housing, a driver's licence, or a Centrelink benefit, so this program is literally changing lives.<sup>254</sup>

4.36 The lack of birth certificates as proof of identity to obtain driver licences was identified by the NSW Auditor-General as one of the significant barriers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> Parliament of NSW, Legislative Assembly, Committee on Law and Safety, *Driver Licence Disqualification Reform*, No 3/55, November 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> NSW Department of Justice, Media Release, *Community safety drives disqualification laws*, 14 August 2017, <a href="http://www.justice.nsw.gov.au/Pages/media-news/media-releases/2017/community-safety-drives-disqualification-laws.aspx">http://www.justice.nsw.gov.au/Pages/media-news/media-releases/2017/community-safety-drives-disqualification-laws.aspx</a>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> Legislative Assembly Committee on Law and Safety, Inquiry into Driver Disqualification Reform, Report No 3/55, November 2013, Government Response dated 20 June 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> NSW Department of Justice, Media Release, *Free Birth Certificates for Vulnerable People*, 3 August 2017, <u>http://www.justice.nsw.gov.au/Pages/media-news/media-releases/2017/free-birth-certificates-for-vulnerable-people.aspx</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

preventing Aboriginal people from access to the licensing and vehicle registration process.  $^{\rm 255}$ 

#### Finding 13

We find that the impact of the justice system on indigenous driving offenders is serious, but falls within the Justice portfolio and outside the terms of reference of this particular inquiry.

#### Comment

- 4.37 Submissions and witnesses representing the indigenous community drew our attention to the particular disadvantages experienced by drivers, both learners and experienced, in some indigenous communities. At the core of this disadvantage is the fact that the various factors which can individually create barriers to obtaining and retaining a licence, including remote location, socio-economic hardship, access to alternative transport, and access to education and training, come together for some indigenous communities. As a consequence, rates of obtaining and retaining driver licences in these communities is low while the need to access private motor vehicles is high.
- 4.38 Witnesses described the consequences of not having a driver licence in remote indigenous communities where distances from services are great and there is seldom alternative transport. All too often aspiring learners are unable to access reliable vehicles and trained supervisors, limiting access to education and training, employment, and health and local services. They further described the consequences for unlicensed or offending drivers who commit driving and other offences, but are unable to comply with judicial reporting conditions, or who find themselves having to choose to drive in emergencies in the absence of any alternative.
- 4.39 Indigenous drivers in these circumstances often become repeat offenders in circumstances which lead to more serious convictions and even incarceration for driving offences.
- 4.40 We have discussed the evidence of how to improve programs which address the barriers disadvantaged learners experience. The evidence we heard regarding the consequences for indigenous drivers of repeat offending, however, is in our view another level of magnitude in seriousness, but not an issue which we think comes within the terms of reference for this inquiry.
- 4.41 We endorse recent changes to driver licence disqualification laws and the availability of birth certificates to vulnerable people.
- 4.42 We recommend, therefore, that the NSW Government examine the offending and incarceration rates for indigenous driving offenders in order to test the effectiveness of these recent changes and to formulate a scheme which aims to reduce indigenous driving offending and incarceration rates to at least the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> Audit Office of NSW, NSW Auditor-General's Performance Audit, *Improving legal and safe driving among Aboriginal people*, December 2013

https://www.audit.nsw.gov.au/ArticleDocuments/294/01 Improving Legal Safe Driving Aboriginal people Full R eport.pdf.aspx?Embed=Y, accessed 18 September 2017

community average, and that this review be undertaken within the Justice portfolio.

## **Recommendation 17**

The Committee recommends that the NSW Government examine above average offence and incarceration rates for indigenous drivers. The Committee recommends that this examination be undertaken within the Justice portfolio and that it report in one year.

# **Disabled learner drivers**

- 4.43 The Committee received several submissions which discussed access to driver training for people with disabilities.
- 4.44 Information on Disability and Education Awareness Services (IDEAS) Inc outlined to the Committee the impact that the roll out of the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) will have on the number of people with a physical disability who will seek access to driving. IDEAS quoted figures which suggest more than 30,000 Australians living with spinal cord injuries and amputations could potentially drive modified vehicles.<sup>256</sup>
- 4.45 NDIS funding may allow many disabled people to learn to drive for the first time or re-learn diving skills which they used before they acquired their disability. IDEAS advised that both a database of occupational therapists who conduct driver assessments and a list of vehicle modification services are available. Further, IDEAS itself operates a classified website on which people may buy and sell modified vehicles and vehicle modification parts.<sup>257</sup>
- 4.46 IDEAS argued that disabled people need a central information hub to provide all the information they need to explore learning to drive and vehicle modification rules, and that they would be happy to work with NSW Roads and Maritime Services (RMS) to bring this to fruition.<sup>258</sup>
- 4.47 The New South Wales Division of Occupational Therapy Australia (OTAUS) also submitted to the inquiry on the issue of access to driving for people with a disability. They described the role of occupational therapists in assessing the driving competence of disabled people and designing driver rehabilitation and retraining programs, including on-road assessment in collaboration with professional driver trainers.<sup>259</sup>
- 4.48 The Committee invited IDEAS and OTAUS to appear together at its public hearing held on Monday 29 May 2017.
- 4.49 Ms Lyndall Cook, OTAUS, explained to the Committee that driver training for disabled people is a specialist form of driver education, although professional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> Submission 33, IDEAS Inc, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> Submission 33, IDEAS Inc, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> Submission 33, IDEAS Inc, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> Submission 60, Occupational Therapy Australia, p2

driver trainers are not required to undertake any formal training to perform this specialist role:

We recommend that the driving instructors used by occupational therapists undertake some further training, which is generally a two-day course where they learn about different disabilities and different types of vehicle modifications so they can help drivers to use these modifications.<sup>260</sup>

- 4.50 Ms Diana Palmer, Executive Officer, IDEAS, expressed concern that lessons from a disability driving instructor may be more expensive than from a trainer who had not undertaken any special training accreditation, and that services were less available in the country than in metropolitan areas.<sup>261</sup>
- 4.51 The Committee also asked Ms Palmer to expand on the submission from IDEAS that recommended a central information hub for disabled people seeking information on learner driving. Ms Palmer advised:

IDEAS has an online database that is our information hub and certainly within there we have a tailored directory through which we can assess motor vehicle modifications, driver training, driver school and driver assessment schools as well as occupational assessors. That could certainly be another area we could focus on in building a database of where there are mentors and trainers available. Then again it is about communicating that information out to the community so that people are aware of where they can go to access the information and the services.<sup>262</sup>

- 4.52 Ms Palmer confirmed to the Committee that IDEAS had not spoken with Service NSW about the benefits of an information hub as IDEAS proposed.
- 4.53 The Committee examined the information available online to people with a disability seeking to gain a driver licence or have their vehicle modified. This information is available via the RMS website.<sup>263</sup> For detailed information about disability assessment or vehicle modification, however, the website refers people to the website of OTAUS where inquirers need to select and view several screens to identify occupational therapists in their area who offer driving assessment services.<sup>264</sup>
- 4.54 Transport for NSW informed the Committee that it is working to improve the way it communicates with disabled people in order to reduce barriers and increase the number of disabled people gaining and retaining driver licences.<sup>265</sup>

#### Other support for disadvantaged learners

4.55 The NSW Safer Driver Course has been discussed above. Transport for NSW wrote that the Disadvantaged Learner Initiative offers 1,000 subsidised places per

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> Ms Lyndall Cook, Occupational Therapy Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> Ms Diana Palmer, IDEAS, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> Ms Diana Palmer, IDEAS, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> <u>http://www.rms.nsw.gov.au/roads/licence/health/driving-with-disability.html</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> <u>https://www.otaus.com.au/</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> Answer to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 10

year for young learner drivers from disadvantaged backgrounds, to access the Safer Driver Course using a fee exemption.<sup>266</sup>

4.56 Transport for NSW also reported that the NSW Government provides assistance for young people in care who may not have access to a vehicle or the financial capacity to pay for driving lessons. Transport for NSW acknowledged, however, that support programs suffer from patchy coverage, variable delivery models, and unaddressed equity issues.<sup>267</sup>

# Volunteer community mentoring

- 4.57 A number of stakeholders suggested that the cost of entry to the driver licensing system was a barrier to many people. A common solution to this problem was the use of volunteer community mentors to provide a substitute for paid professional instruction, and to assist disadvantaged learners comply with the requirement for 120 hours of supervised learner driving.
- 4.58 The Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW Limited (PCYC) put forward its Driver Mentor Program as a solution for addressing the costs of professional driver training and achieving 120 hours of supervised driving. PCYC expressed concern at the lack of regulation of mentor programs with a danger of inconsistent outcomes, and outlined the elements of its model which contributed to its robustness:
  - Strong community support
  - Provision of training and support for volunteer mentors
  - Provision of learner induction programs to set expectations and boundaries
  - Provision of professional lessons to ensure minimum skill levels for learner and mentor safety prior to commencement of the program
  - Provision of ongoing professional support by a licensed driving instructor for learners and mentors.<sup>268</sup>
- 4.59 PCYC advocated that greater availability of funded driver mentor programs would not only assist learners comply with the learner log book requirements, but would ensure that trained mentors taught safe and low-risk driving.<sup>269</sup>
- 4.60 Blue Datto Foundation Ltd (Blue Datto) also described their community mentor program to the Committee. The Foundation advocated for two principles to address the needs of novice drivers: a community setting which captured students who left school early so not benefitting from senior high school safe driving education; and support for schools as the frontline for pre-driver education.<sup>270</sup> In this regard, Blue Datto put forward its peer mentor model where

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p44

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p44

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> Submission 45, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, p5

they train university students to promote safe driving attitudes to young people via small group facilitation.<sup>271</sup>

- 4.61 The Committee invited PCYC and Blue Datto to give evidence together at its public hearing held on Monday 22 May 2017.
- 4.62 Mr Graham Spencer, Chair, Program Advisory Board, Blue Datto, advised that their peer mentor program had real merit and should be investigated further with a view to encouraging its use in senior secondary school.<sup>272</sup> He suggested that the benefit of peer mentorship was its capacity to educate young people, including both drivers and passengers, as a way to influence peer pressure. Mr Spencer proposed that peer mentoring be introduced in schools at Year 10:

That is the time when there is enormous interest in driving and when peer influence can be very positive.  $^{\rm 273}$ 

4.63 Mrs Erin Vassallo, Chief Executive Officer, Blue Datto, told the Committee of the benefits of peer mentoring being used through to the end of secondary school:

Because our programs are run by undergraduates, we create an extra level of road safety ambassadors. The peer mentors we have trained are incredible ambassadors for their generation, friends and wider community groups. It is reinforcing the message at Year 10 when they are becoming the trainers as well. It is very empowering.<sup>274</sup>

4.64 Mrs Vassallo also said that peer mentoring should be expanded to TAFE to ensure early school leavers received the benefits of the program.<sup>275</sup>

# **Rural and regional learner drivers**

- 4.65 Disadvantage suffered by rural and regional learner drivers through poor access to training and licensing services was raised in a number of submissions. As with indigenous drivers, the particular need of rural and regional residents to drive due to a lack of alternative transport options was raised by many people.
- 4.66 The Committee noted the relevance of the 2016 inquiry by the Legislative Assembly Committee on Community Services into access to transport for seniors and disadvantaged people in rural and regional New South Wales. The Committee's recommendations and the NSW Government's response<sup>276</sup> can be found at Appendix Four of this report.
- 4.67 The need for support for rural and regional learner drivers was stressed by the Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia (IPWEA) in its submission, as an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> Submission 45, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> Mr Graham Spencer, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p46

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> Mr Graham Spencer, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p47

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> Mrs Erin Vassallo, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p47

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> Mrs Erin Vassallo, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p46

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> Legislative Assembly Committee on Community Services, Inquiry into access to transport for seniors and disadvantaged people in rural and regional NSW, Report No 1/56, December, 2016, Government Response dated April 2017

appropriate response to the fact that rural road fatalities are disproportionately high.<sup>277</sup>

- 4.68 PCYC suggested the provision of learner driver training in rural and regional areas is limited by a lack of qualified personnel. PCYC reported that it faced this barrier when trying to offer the Safer Driver Course on behalf of the NSW Government in far western New South Wales. It proposed that a 'travelling road show' be developed and subsidised to overcome this.<sup>278</sup>
- 4.69 The Australian Driver Trainers Association (ADTA) also referred to the unviability of professional driver training services in many small towns.<sup>279</sup>
- 4.70 A further area of locational disadvantage which many submissions referenced was the idea that learner drivers need to experience a variety of driving environments. These stakeholders argued that metropolitan learner drivers do not always experience non-metropolitan driving conditions and vice versa, to the detriment of a well-rounded driver education.
- 4.71 As discussed earlier, one solution to this issue was the opportunity offered by driving simulators which could be made available to learner drivers to simulate unfamiliar driving conditions.
- 4.72 The National Motorists Association Australia (NMAA) disagreed, however, that this was an issue. It advised the Committee that all drivers should be trained to the same high standard to be competent on all road surfaces, and in city and country driving.<sup>280</sup>
- 4.73 The Committee recognised the needs of rural and regional drivers in its 2015 report on Motorcycle Safety in NSW<sup>281</sup> when it recommended, amongst other things, better access to rider training courses in all parts of the state, and that state agencies work with local government to achieve consistent safety standards. The Committee's recommendations and the NSW Government's response<sup>282</sup> to this report are summarised at Appendix Four.
- 4.74 The role which is played by local government to complement NSW Government agencies in addressing the requirements of rural and regional drivers is discussed later in this report.

# Finding 14

We find that the NSW Government's measures to address socio-economic and educational barriers to driver licensing are adequately funded and available across wide areas of the state. We also find that as the program continues to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> Submission 16, IPWEA, p22

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> Submission 58, Australian Driver Trainers Association, p6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> Joint Standing Committee on Road Safety (Staysafe), *Inquiry into Motorcycle Safety in NSW*, Report No 1/56, 19 November 2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> Joint Standing Committee on Road Safety (Staysafe), *Inquiry into Motorcycle Safety in NSW*, Report No 1/56, 19 November 2015, Government Response, 20 May 2016

# expand as planned, that program coordination, availability and integration with community organisations will continue to improve.

#### Comment

- 4.75 In its submission the NSW Government outlined the extensive support it currently provides to learner drivers who experience barriers to accessing learner driver training and gaining a driver licence. The government's and other evidence discussed several programs addressing the disadvantages experienced by indigenous learners, disabled learners, learners in remote locations, and learners who are unable to afford professional driver training or access a reliable vehicle.
- 4.76 We endorse the efforts the government is making to support disadvantaged learners, including the progress being made by linking driver training to other educational attainments such as literacy and trade training.
- 4.77 We heard evidence, however, from witnesses advocating on behalf of disadvantaged learners or who deliver driver training programs targeted at disadvantaged learners, that the current programs are piecemeal and lack long term funding commitments. The evidence of indigenous and disabled advocates in particular suggested that current efforts may be insufficient to overcome barriers or address the needs of their communities.
- 4.78 As support programs continue to expand and reach more disadvantaged learners, we believe that there are advantages in having a single information hub for these programs. Anyone identifying as a disadvantaged learner driver, or as a supporter, could access a single information hub as a resource for locating all available and necessary material and advice.
- 4.79 Such a hub would need to be easily identified and located by anyone contacting the Service NSW call centre or home page, visiting a Service NSW service centre, visiting other relevant NSW Government agency web pages or service centres, or through linked information from other sources.
- 4.80 A single information hub would also overcome the current requirement to identify individual service providers, and of moving between agencies to gather all the information required to address particular needs and circumstances.

#### **Recommendation 18**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW and Roads and Maritime Services review funding for programs that reduce barriers to disadvantaged young people, including indigenous people, obtaining and retaining driver licences.

#### **Recommendation 19**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW investigate how the aims, objectives and achievements of the Literacy for Life Program can better inform the Driver Licensing Access Program and the way it is delivered in the future.

#### **Recommendation 20**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW and Roads and Maritime Services create a single information hub which can be accessed by and on behalf of any disadvantaged learner driver as a resource for locating all available and necessary material and advice.

# Chapter Five – Driver education

#### Summary

This chapter discusses the education of drivers and other road users through public information campaigns, generally via the mass media, and also via sanctions and incentives.

It is relevant to terms of reference:

- c) The needs of any particular driver groups
- e) The needs of metropolitan, rural and regional drivers

f) The needs and expectations of passengers and other road users.

In Chapter Five we consider the effectiveness and cost of road safety campaigns, and feedback from road users including pedestrians, cyclists, motorcyclists, disadvantaged drivers, and older drivers.

We also discuss the role of Local Government as a partner in road safety campaigning, and briefly consider the merits of sanctions, rewards and incentives to encourage safer driving.

Based on stakeholder feedback we make recommendations for the subjects of future road safety campaigns.

We also recommend a review of the role of the Local Government Road Safety Officer Program, and of the NRMA proposal for a road speed awareness course in lieu of fines for low range driving offenders.

# Campaigns

- 5.1 Public education is an important tool in the implementation of the NSW Road Safety Strategy 2012-21. The safe systems principles which underpin the NSW road safety strategic framework include safe road design, safer vehicles, safe travel speeds and safe road user behaviour. Changing the behaviour and attitudes of drivers so that they manage on-road safety risks more responsibly is the objective of the government's education programs and campaigns.<sup>283</sup>
- 5.2 The main avenue for education for the broader community of unrestricted licensed road users is through media mass communications which disseminate updates and reinforce road safety messages. Major road safety campaigns also target aberrant driver behaviours such as speeding, drink and drug driving, fatigue and seatbelt compliance.<sup>284</sup>

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transport for NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29
 May 2017, p61; Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p31

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p27

- 5.3 Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety informed the Committee that the NSW Government invests around \$20 million in road safety public education campaigns to the general community. New campaigns launched in response to the increase in the road toll included: the 'Towards Zero' campaign; 'Don't Trust Your Tired Self', due to the rise in fatigue-related fatalities; 'Slow Down' speeding campaign, in response to an increase in speedrelated fatalities; and the 'Look Out Before You Step Out' pedestrian campaign, in response to an increase in pedestrian fatalities over the past two years.<sup>285</sup>
- 5.4 Mr Carlon confirmed that recent campaigns have had a positive effect on the recent trend in accidents in fatalities. He advised:

We are still on a trend line down. Clearly, the increase in fatalities over the past two years is disturbing, and we have taken significant action to address that over the past 18 months. Between December 2014 and June 2016 the moving 12 month fatality total increased by 26 per cent. Since June last year we have turned that around to a 6 per cent reduction in fatalities. The countermeasures that we have introduced, the campaigns to re-engage the community, and the police operations that have been run throughout the State—the enforcement activity—are having an impact, but we clearly need to do more.<sup>286</sup>

5.5 He stressed the importance of the information sharing which occurs between the Centre for Road Safety, NSW Police, Roads and Maritime Services (RMS), education partners and community organisations to ensure that campaigns are targeted and that programs are continually updated to address the specific problems. He advised that currently:

We are targeting increases in fatigue-related crashes, speed-related crashes, pedestrian fatalities, and the increased number of light truck crashes from a geographic perspective and also a police operational perspective.<sup>287</sup>

- 5.6 The NSW Government submission cited fifteen major campaigns targeting various groups of road users disseminating road safety messages on a range of topics including pedestrian speeding, fatigue, drink and drug driving, distraction, enforcement, and motorcycle, bicycle and pedestrian safety. The 'Towards Zero' strategy, launched in mid-2016, includes a major umbrella campaign which aims to reinforce the individual driver's responsibility to help prevent deaths and serious injuries on New South Wales roads.<sup>288</sup>
- 5.7 Transport for NSW explained that road safety advertising campaigns are developed through the incorporation of attitudinal studies as well as behavioural trends identified through crash statistics. In addition, previous campaign content and approaches are taken into consideration in order to build on existing public knowledge. In its submission, Transport for NSW also acknowledged the significant contribution of NSW Police, in particular, the Highway Patrol

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transport for NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p61

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transport for NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, pp62-63

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transport for NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p63

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p4

Command in disseminating road safety education through its interactions with road users and through its publicity displays at major motor sports events and regional fairs and shows.<sup>289</sup>

5.8 Transport for NSW also emphasised the potential of digital media to provide more substantive and widespread road safety education. Comparing the reach of local face-to-face education workshops with social media platforms, Mr Bernard Carlon observed that:

You might go out and do 10 of them and reach 600 people, and a 15-minute Facebook live session reaches 2,500 people in 24 hours.<sup>290</sup>

#### **Campaign effectiveness**

- 5.9 In relation to the design, implementation and outcomes of its public education campaigns, Transport for NSW confined its detailed comments to the 'Ride to Live' motorcycle safety campaign which was launched in November 2014. This campaign was the first large-scale campaign in New South Wales aimed at increasing awareness of motorcycle safety across the community and helping riders to better manage risks on the road. The campaign also targets drivers, focussing on their responsibility to be aware of motorcyclists and to help them ride to live.<sup>291</sup>
- 5.10 Transport for NSW advised that the principal factors used to design the campaign included the evidence base of findings from crash data as well as attitudinal research and strong collaboration with key stakeholder groups. The campaign highlights common scenarios for commuter and recreational riders and illustrates the consequences of different choices which riders can make in response to a number of designated hazards.<sup>292</sup>
- 5.11 The television campaign was supported by a range of related communication strategies including a website and radio, YouTube, and digital and outdoor advertising. As part of the campaign tracking process, online surveys of riders and drivers were conducted before and after the campaign launch. Transport for NSW reported that the responses indicated a high recognition of the campaign and respondents had confirmed that they were thinking more about their choices and actions on the road.
- 5.12 Transport for NSW advised that since the launch of the campaign there have been 99,000 visits of more than three minutes to the <u>ridetolive.com.au</u> website and 70,000 interactive tests completed and 277,000 YouTube views of television commercials.<sup>293</sup>
- 5.13 While evaluating road users' responsiveness to the campaign, Transport for NSW did not provide detailed discussion of the outcome of the campaign in relation to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p62

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transport for NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p72

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p48

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p48

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p49

the rate of motorcycle fatalities and injuries. However, the submission did note that inexperience is a major contributor to motorcycle crashes with younger riders having the highest casualty rate per licence. In addition, motorcyclists aged 40 years and over are making up an increasing proportion of the road toll, particularly in the 50 to 59 age group, and there has been a similar trend with serious injuries. In response to current motorcycle casualty trends, Transport for NSW foreshadowed further evolution of the 'Ride to Live' campaign to ensure that it continues to maintain the awareness of the target audience and to be relevant and effective.

- 5.14 In the context of the safe system approach campaign effectiveness depends on an array of complementary actions and strategies underpinning public education. In addition to the 'Ride to Live' campaign, the NSW Motorcycle Safety Action Plan 2017-2019 will include a review of the current Motorcycle Graduated Licensing Scheme (GLS) to further improve road safety training for novice drivers and further activities will be implemented to encourage the take-up of post-licence training by older riders.<sup>294</sup>
- 5.15 The Committee noted the strong support for the 'Ride to Live' campaign received from representatives of the motorcycle community.<sup>295</sup>
- 5.16 A number of submissions and witnesses stressed the need for more robust enforcement measures in conjunction with public education to ensure effectiveness.<sup>296</sup> Other witnesses pointed to the need for campaigns to be supported by face-to-face community mentor programs, particularly in relation to changing the attitudes of young road users.<sup>297</sup>

#### **Campaign expenditure**

- 5.17 Despite the Government's spending around \$20 million annually in road safety public education campaigns, numerous submissions and witnesses expressed concern at the lack of knowledge of the road rules exhibited by drivers on the road. Representatives of vulnerable road user advocates queried whether sufficient funds are being spent on public education about road rules.<sup>298</sup>
- 5.18 On the one hand academic road safety researchers cautioned that there are limits to what education can achieve with regard to behaviour change. The Committee heard that:

...giving people information does not change into behaviour. It does not translate into behaviour change. We know that fining people does. If you have threatened

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp49-50

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> Mr Brian Wood, Secretary, Motorcycle Council of NSW, Transcript of evidence 22 May, 2017, p40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> Submission 24, Australian Cycle Alliance, p1; Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health, p4; Mr Harold Scruby, Pedestrian Council of Australian, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p36

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> Mr Graham Spencer, Chair, Program Advisory Board, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p45; Ms Jenny Davidson, State Coordinator, Driver Education Programs, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p48

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> Mr Ray Rice, Advocacy Manager, Bicycle NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p65

something that is important to them, like a driver licence, then people are likely to change their behaviour. We do know that. We have very good evidence of that.<sup>299</sup>

- 5.19 On the other hand academic representatives agreed that public awareness campaigns are a necessary tool to complement police enforcement activity. Researchers urged, in particular, the continuation of campaigns on road rules, street signage, enforcement, speed (in conjunction with the use of point to point cameras), pedestrian safety, the rights of cyclists, drink driving, and sharing the road with different road users.<sup>300</sup>
- 5.20 At the same time witnesses urged the need for further research into more complex problem areas such as the circumstances contributing to road accidents and the reasons for non-compliance with the licensing system. They stressed that this was necessary in order to devise education campaigns which target areas that are currently poorly understood such as single vehicle accidents on rural roads and the significant presence of unlicensed drivers in accident statistics.<sup>301</sup>

#### Feedback from road users

#### New and poorly understood road rules

5.21 The lack of knowledge of road rules and the apparent failure of drivers to keep abreast of new road rules was a recurrent theme throughout many submissions.<sup>302</sup> Submissions agreed that there must be further effort to encourage motorists to obey road rules. Some observed that road users will obey road rules if they make sense and are useful to travel.<sup>303</sup> The National Motorists Association (NMAA) urged the development of a Highway Code following the example of Britain and France which publish reasons for rules.<sup>304</sup> Others made the point that on-going public education about road rules is imperative given the impracticality of the police being able to universally enforce them.<sup>305</sup>

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence,
 22 May 2017, pp16-17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health, pp4-5; Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, TARS, University of New South Wales, p19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> Mr Mick Savage, Manager, Roads and Transport Directorate, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p6; Ms Tracy Howe, Chief Executive Officer, NSW Council of Social Service, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, pp 3-4; Ms Jenny Davidson, State Coordinator, Driver Education Programs, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p48; Submission 44, Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research, University of New South Wales, p1; Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> Submission 12, Mr Gary Cook; Submission 16, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia (NSW); Submission 18, Mr John Handley; Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs; Submission 20, Mr Michael King; Submission 24, Australian Cycle Alliance; Submission 32, Name suppressed; Submission 34, Mr Terry Craig; Submission 36, Ms Helia Wolfson; Submission 37, Dr John-Paul Bossi; Submission 38, Mr Derek Wolfson; Submission 39, Mr Geoff Ashton; Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation; Submission 41, Mr Tony Arnold; Submission 42, Mr Gilbert Grace; Submission 46, Mr Daniel Woodall; Submission 47, Bicycle NSW; Submission 53, Mr Daniel Endicott; Submission 54, Name suppressed; Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation; Submission 57, Ms Julie Abbottsmith; Submission 59, The Law Society of New South Wales; Submission 62, Academy of Road Safety; Submission 64, Awesome Driving School; Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health; Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks; Submission 74, Pedestrian Council of Australia Limited

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup> Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup> Submission 20, Mr Michael King, p2

- 5.22 The 'Top 10 Misunderstood Road Rules in New South Wales' was released by Transport for NSW in November 2012 as a guide to help drivers to keep pace with changes to the NSW Road Rules which brought them into line with the Australian Road Rules. The guide was developed by the Centre for Road Safety from community feedback. It is available at every RMS registry across New South Wales and also online at the RMS website. The guide covers rules relating to roundabouts; pedestrians when turning; mobile phones; keeping left; using headlights and fog lights; U-turns; safe following distances; school zones; and yellow traffic lights.<sup>306</sup>
- 5.23 The guide has received the support of the Pedestrian Council of Australia (PCA). The PCA also indicated concern, however, at the continuing manifestation of confusion, lack of knowledge and lack of respect in driver behaviour on the roads. In its submission, the PCA raised the possibility that the problem of drivers misunderstanding the road rules is far worse than is generally realised. The PCA called for independent research to determine the extent of the problem including by observation of driver behaviour and by testing of road rules knowledge. Particular problem rules cited by the PCA were the give way rule at roundabouts and the rule of turning left and right at intersections.<sup>307</sup>
- 5.24 Mr Harold Scruby, Chief Executive Officer, PCA, emphasised the fatal consequences of drivers not understanding or obeying the road rules. He cited the example of the increased pedestrian death toll which, at the end of 2016, had risen 50 per cent on the three year average. Mr Scruby emphasised that to be fully effective, road rules education campaigns also needed to be supported by stronger enforcement action by police.<sup>308</sup>

#### New vehicle technology

5.25 Many submissions and witnesses referred to the need for education of road users about new safety features in vehicles including their operation; managing risks such as distraction and over-reliance on the technology; and the need for guidance on the selection and purchase of vehicles with safety features.<sup>309</sup> Transport for NSW acknowledged that educating users of connected and automated vehicles (CAV) will be essential. The Committee noted that Transport for NSW is continuing to work with the National Transport Commission and Austroads on preparations for the introduction of automated vehicles.<sup>310</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> Transport for NSW, *Top 10 Misunderstood Road Rules*, <u>http://roadsafety.transport.nsw.gov.au/downloads/top-10-misunderstood-road-rules.pdf</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>307</sup> Submission 74, Pedestrian Council of Australia Limited, pp1-2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>308</sup> Mr Harold Scruby, Chief Executive Officer, Pedestrian Council of Australia Limited, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, pp35-36

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> Submission 11, Mr Peter Macpherson, pp2-3; Submission 16, IPWEA (NSW) p19; Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p11; Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe, pp7-8; Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association p5; Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p5; Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, p11; Submission 66, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, pp 5 & 13; Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p7; Submission 70, Mr Len Woodman, pp3-4; Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp68 -69

#### Driver and other road user distraction

- 5.26 Vulnerable road user advocates pointed out that they make an effort to be well informed about road rules because it is cyclists and motorcyclists who stand to lose the most if there is an incident on the road. Bicycle representatives stressed that it is the responsibility of drivers of motor vehicles to ensure that road safety is achieved. While vulnerable road users commended the government's 'Get Your Hand Off It' campaign on mobile phone distraction, there was widespread concern that driver behaviour in relation to mobile phones continues to present an unacceptable road safety risk, particularly for cyclists and motorcyclists.<sup>311</sup>
- 5.27 Mr Brian Wood, Secretary, Motorcycle Council of NSW (Motorcycle Council), pointed to the additional hazard caused by drivers placing their mobile phone on the windscreen thus creating a blind spot which could obstruct their ability to identify a motorcycle rider in their proximity.<sup>312</sup> Driver trainers and mentors expressed concern that most drivers do not understand the reduction in focus and attention caused by using mobile phones or other distractions while driving. Submissions also urged stronger promotion of the safe driving message with regard to distractions caused by emerging vehicle and driver/passenger interface systems.<sup>313</sup>
- 5.28 Several submissions emphasised that there should be more enforcement action to support public education on mobile phone use in vehicles. The Australian Road Safety Foundation (ARSF) urged a ban on the use of mobile phones in government operated vehicles, accompanied by a community awareness campaign. Mr Stewart Nicholls, Business Development Manager, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, commended a highly visible enforcement exercise undertaken by Western Australia police which involved police wearing shirts marked 'Mobile phone enforcement' riding in traffic and issuing on-the-spot fines to mobile phone users. He noted that the police action was supported by a social media campaign.<sup>314</sup>
- 5.29 The NSW Advocate for Children and Young People informed the Committee that the recently introduced blanket ban on handling a mobile phone while driving for Learner, P1 and P2 licence holders may be too onerous for young people driving long distances in regional areas.<sup>315</sup>

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup> Ms Sara Stace, Secretary Australian Cycle Alliance, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p69; Submission 61, Bicycle Network, p17; Mr Ray Rice, Advocacy Manager, Bicycle NSW, Transcript of evidence ,22 May 2017, p65
 <sup>312</sup> Submission 25, Motorcycle Council of NSW, p4; Mr Brian Wood, Secretary, Motorcycle Council of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p45

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup> Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health,p6; .Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p3; Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p12; Submission 66, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd,p11; Mr Stewart Nicholls, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p55

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> Submission 12, Mr Gary Cooke, pp6-7; Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, p19; Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, pp6-7; Mr Stewart Nicholls, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p55

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup> Submission 73, NSW Advocate for Children and Young People, p2

5.30 A number of submissions and witnesses argued that passengers should be included in road safety education campaigns and that education should include a focus on the passenger's responsibility to reduce distractions.<sup>316</sup>

#### Road sharing

5.31 Commenting on the Transport for NSW 'Top Ten Misunderstood Road Rules' campaign, Mr Carlon informed the Committee that:

I spent a lot of time on radio answering those misunderstood road rules and trying to get the community to understand the safety risks and how to share the road in a responsible manner.

- 5.32 Mr Carlon confirmed that Transport for NSW would continue to engage with the community regarding the need for mutual respect of road users in sharing the road environment, particularly in view of the increase in active transport on New South Wales roads. He said that the 'A Metre Matters' minimum distance passing rule had been introduced in New South Wales for cyclists to manage the road sharing risks.<sup>317</sup>
- 5.33 However, bicycle advocates questioned the adequacy of the 'Go Together Campaign' which was launched in March 2016 with the introduction of the new road rules for sharing the road with bicycles.<sup>318</sup> Ms Sara Stace, Secretary, Australian Cycle Alliance, informed the Committee:

There has been very little enforcement of the minimum passing distance legislation. There is also very low awareness among drivers in general and low awareness of the need to leave that distance every time they pass every bicycle rider in every situation. There is a lot of misunderstanding about how that legislation applies.<sup>319</sup>

5.34 The Amy Gillett Foundation advised that it had noted an improvement in the jurisdictions where passing distance rules have been introduced. On the other hand, Dr Rob Katz, Chair, Research and Policy Advisory Committee, Amy Gillett Foundation, observed:

However, there is a lot of sketchiness about the details in drivers' minds. That probably applies across the board to a lot of other rules; it is not limited to the overtaking distance legislation.<sup>320</sup>

5.35 Motorcyclist representatives also stressed the need for drivers to be educated about interacting safely with motorcycles allowing for the speed differential

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup> Submission 12, Mr Gary Cooke, pp6-7; Submission 16, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia (NSW), p5; Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p22; Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p6; Submission 50, Road Safety Education Limited, pp4-6; Submission 66, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, pp5 & 15; Mrs Erin Vassallo, Chief Executive Officer, Blue Datto Foundation Limited, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p44

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017. p72

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup> Mr Ray Rice, Advocacy Manager, Bicycle NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p65

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>319</sup> Ms Sara Stace, Secretary, Australian Cycle Alliance, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p65

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup> Dr Rod Katz, Chair of the Research and Policy Committee, Amy Gillett Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p65

between motorcycles and bicycles and the different manoeuvrability of motorcycles in using road space.<sup>321</sup>

5.36 The adequacy of education for drivers as to how to interact safely with heavy vehicles was another aspect of road sharing raised in evidence.<sup>322</sup> The Amy Gillett Foundation referred to online and face-to-face education products which it is developing in partnership with the transport industry and as part of a public engagement working group in Victoria to improve the awareness of truck drivers about sharing the road with vulnerable road users.<sup>323</sup>

#### Disadvantaged drivers

- 5.37 Evidence received from academic researchers and indigenous advocates pointed to the need to ensure that campaigns targeting disadvantaged road users are also appropriate for people who have low literacy. Legal advocates were particularly concerned that changes to road rules should be communicated effectively to indigenous communities and that there is ongoing consultation to ensure that driver education programs are culturally appropriate.<sup>324</sup> In addition, witnesses emphasised the importance of communities being able to take ownership of campaigns if they are to be effective.<sup>325</sup>
- 5.38 Transport for NSW has expressed its confidence that technological solutions will be able to assist disadvantaged road user groups including Aboriginal, rural and remote, and culturally and linguistically diverse communities, by making road safety education and training more accessible and tailored to specific needs. Transport for NSW noted that agency partnerships will enable new opportunities for e-learning pathways. It advised that consultations will be held with a range of relevant agencies to explore online learning opportunities and the use of interactive educational resources.<sup>326</sup>

## Safe driving for older drivers

5.39 Evidence presented to the inquiry by academic researchers and road safety educators and trainers indicated the need for awareness campaigns to be directed to older drivers to inform them about changes to road rules; available support services, should they wish to retire from driving; and modern safety features in vehicles which may help them to continue safe driving.<sup>327</sup> Submissions further suggested that education campaigns could usefully be conducted by holding regular workshops in nursing homes and retirement villages.<sup>328</sup> The National Roads and Motorists Association (NRMA) advised that 3,000 older

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> Submission 25, Motorcycle Council of NSW, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup> Submission 25, Motorcycle Council of NSW, p5; Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup> Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup> Submission 49, Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) Limited, p3; Submission 59, The Law Society of New South Wales, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> Professor Jack Beetson, Executive Director, Literacy for Life Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p2; Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health, pp3&6; Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation p12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> Submission, 64 Awesome Driving School, p2 ; Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation p12

drivers attended their 'Years Ahead' seminars in 2016 which discussed road rules, safe driving tips and the older driver assessment system.<sup>329</sup>

- 5.40 Alzheimer's Australia NSW pointed to the need for more information resources in the form of brochures and booklets to inform drivers about their responsibility when driving after a diagnosis of dementia. They also pointed to the need for culturally appropriate resources for sufferers of dementia in Aboriginal and culturally and linguistically diverse communities.<sup>330</sup> Information on Disability and Education Awareness Services (IDEAS) urged the need to establish an RMS information hub to help people with a disability locate information about how to obtain driver training and fitness assessments, as well as information on modified vehicles.<sup>331</sup>
- 5.41 There was also evidence to suggest that consideration should be given to targeting specific campaigns to elderly drivers in rural and regional areas. The George Institute for Global Health pointed out that reluctance to retire from driving is common across metropolitan, rural and regional areas. However, the implications are likely to be greater outside metropolitan areas where there are fewer transport alternatives.<sup>332</sup>
- 5.42 Transport for NSW expressed confidence that vehicles with safety features will support the emerging population of older drivers allowing many of them to continue to drive safely. It also pointed to the use of technology to deliver e-learning to older drivers about support services via linkages to websites across government agencies. The Transport for NSW *First Stop Transport* was cited as an example of an information resource which could induct retirees into using public transport options.<sup>333</sup>
- 5.43 Transport for NSW advised that an evaluation is being undertaken to assess the effectiveness of the older driver licensing system on road safety outcomes for older drivers. The findings will inform the development of a comprehensive policy response during 2017 and may include initiatives such as the use of technological solutions to further improve communication and educational programs for older drivers.<sup>334</sup>

#### Safe driving in both familiar and unfamiliar environments

A number of submissions noted an over-representation of rural and regional areas in crash statistics.<sup>335</sup> The value of specific campaigns to target the causes of rural and regional crashes, especially speed and fatigue, was also discussed.<sup>336</sup> Another frequently mentioned issue was the need to train drivers for specific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>329</sup> Submission 51, National Roads and Motorists Association, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>330</sup> Submission 21, Alzheimer's Australia NSW, p 13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup> Submission 33, Information on Disability & Education Awareness Services, p3

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup> Submission 17, Combined Pensioners and Superannuants Association p11; Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe p12;
 Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health,p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>333</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp12-13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>334</sup> Submission 74, Pedestrian Council of Australia, p6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>335</sup> Submission 17, Combined Pensioners and Superannuants Association, p10; Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup> Submission 61, Bicycle Network, p10

road conditions.<sup>337</sup> Some submissions asserted that the causes of road fatalities and injuries were equally relevant to metropolitan and rural areas and all drivers should be trained to a common standard across a range of conditions regardless of the geographic location in which the learner lived.<sup>338</sup> On the other hand, driver trainers noted the difficulty of accessing the different driving environments due to Australia's long distances.<sup>339</sup> Some suggested the need for online education to fill the gaps.<sup>340</sup>

5.45 Submissions identified a range of rural and regional issues which are connected with the high death rates on regional roads. These included higher speeds; less police enforcement; lower seat belt use; drink driving; driver fatigue; greater risk-taking; lack of income resulting in poor maintenance of vehicles; and older drivers' vehicle dependency due to lack of public transport. In addition, the Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia (IPWEA) urged that education be expanded to include changing road conditions, particularly at worksites; navigating rural unsealed roads; and safety precautions when encountering flooded roads.<sup>341</sup>

- 5.46 While the NSW Government submission did not provide detailed information about advertising directed to rural and regional areas, Mr Carlon confirmed that educational and enforcement measures were being targeted from a geographic perspective to address increases in fatigue and speed related crashes, light truck crashes, and pedestrian fatalities.
- 5.47 Mr Carlon explained that the Centre for Road Safety continually updates education programs to ensure that they are relevant in that context. As an example, he outlined how the fatigue education campaign, which had previously been focused on long-haul and holiday trips, has been reshaped into the 'Don't Trust Your Tired Self' campaign to address the 50 per cent rise in casualty rates occurring in metropolitan areas.<sup>342</sup>
- 5.48 Mr Carlon also underlined the important role which enforcement has played in regional areas to reduce the road toll. He assured the Committee that an increase in heavy vehicle crashes which occurred regionally in 2009-10 had been successfully reduced as a result of the speed camera program for average speed cameras which was implemented in regional New South Wales.<sup>343</sup>
- 5.49 In relation to the road safety of young drivers in rural areas, the Transport for NSW submission highlighted the program which it has established in partnership with NSW Technical and Further Education (TAFE) is aimed at young males and

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 337}$  Submission 16, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia (NSW), p22

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>338</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p20; Submission 55 Australian Road Safety Foundation, p14;
 Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p6; Submission 54, Name suppressed, p2; Submission 66, Ian Luff
 Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, p1; Submission 67, National Motorist Association Australia, p10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe, p12; Submission 26, Mr Nigel Withers, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup> Submission 58, Australian Driver Trainers Association, p6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup> Submission 16, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia (NSW), p25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>342</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transport for NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p63

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transport for NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p63

provisional licence holders in regional locations. These young drivers are travelling long distances for work and education, and are likely to be driving solo for the first time and to be driving at higher speeds. The program provides a range of targeted messages in relation to speed, fatigue, animals on rural roads, mobile phone use, and drink and drug driving.<sup>344</sup>

5.50 Transport for NSW has also forecast that technological solutions will offer opportunities to address the rural deficit of road safety education and training. It cautioned, however, that more work will have to be done, including consultation with other relevant Government agencies, in order to understand the barriers faced by various disadvantaged road user groups and to design programs which are accessible and tailored to need.<sup>345</sup>

#### Making safe driving choices

5.51 Transport for NSW expressed its strong commitment to encouraging government and corporate fleets and the public at large to become informed about driver assist technologies, and to purchase Australasian New Car Assessment Program (ANCAP) rated vehicles. Mr Carlon stressed the important role which government and industry must play in setting an example to the public by implementing vehicle purchasing policies and workplace education with regard to the safety advantages of five-star rated ANCAP vehicles. In relation to the NSW Government's safe vehicle purchasing policy, Mr Carlon advised:

It will mean that as the vehicle fleet rolls over within the Government... those vehicles will get into the second-hand market very quickly. We will have available in the market much more of those safety features like automatic emergency braking, lane-assist technologies and adaptive cruise control, all of which are going to add safety features to our vehicles. I think at a national level a conversation about incentivising, whether it is through insurance systems or otherwise, getting our most vulnerable and overrepresented parts of the population in those vehicles—our older drivers and our younger drivers—is a really worthy thing to do.<sup>346</sup>

5.52 The NSW Government is also contributing to inter-jurisdictional consultations, auspiced by the National Transport Commission and Austroads, to identify and address issues which may currently impede the safe and reliable introduction of automated vehicle technology.<sup>347</sup>

#### Comment

- 5.53 The NSW Government conducts multi-pronged driver education campaigns to promote safe driving and road use to licensed drivers and all road users.
- 5.54 While we received many submissions critiquing past and present campaigns, and offering ideas for new campaigns, New South Wales' performance in achieving historically low levels of road fatalities is testament in part to the success of this campaigning.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>344</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp39-40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p42

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>346</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transport for NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, pp71 & 74

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>347</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p69

5.55 We believe it is important to continue this successful approach and are pleased at the evidence presented by the NSW Government witnesses in this regard.

#### Publishing campaign evaluations

- 5.56 Some witnesses called for Transport for NSW to publish the results of its evaluations of campaigns in order to better understand the impact of individual campaigns. We believe this is a reasonable proposition which will lead to more informed debate about which campaigns are more or less successful in educating the community.
- 5.57 We commend the commitment which Transport for NSW has given to the design, implementation and evaluation of the 'Ride to Live' campaign. Ultimately the success of this campaign can be judged by the support it has received from the motorcycle community which agreed that it has been very successful.

#### Consultation, liaison and partnership

- 5.58 We attach particular significance to the involvement of the principal motorcycle advocacy organisations throughout the 'Ride to Live' campaign and consider this to be a model for the achievement of success in campaigns generally. We urge Transport for NSW to continue to consult with representatives of road user groups in the design and implementation of all public education campaigns. We also urge Transport for NSW to provide more detailed analysis of its campaign strategies and outcomes in its annual reporting and on its website.
- 5.59 Regarding enforcement, we urge Transport for NSW to more comprehensively report on its partnership with NSW Police in relation to the linkages between enforcement activities and public education strategies.
- 5.60 In order to ensure that road safety education and training programs are calibrated with public education campaigns, we believe that Transport for NSW should establish a more formal consultative mechanism with relevant community organisations, professional driver trainers, and the education sector to share information and develop strategies. It is important, for example, to ensure through consultation that advertising, education campaigns, and learning resources for disadvantaged drivers are culturally sensitive and appropriate. It is also important for Transport for NSW's campaigning to reflect the special needs of the ageing population, and of drivers in rural and regional areas.
- 5.61 We noted that the NSW Government submission did not provide information about any initiatives taken to educate truck drivers about sharing the road with other road users. Conversely there is a need for ongoing education to ensure that drivers of light vehicles and vulnerable road users are aware of how to interact with heavy vehicles, such as allowing them extra space for turning and braking. We urge Transport for NSW to explore with the transport industry opportunities to develop road safety messages which target drivers of both light and heavy vehicles about their responsibility to interact safely with each other and with vulnerable road users.
- 5.62 We note that the information which Transport for NSW provided regarding its road safety campaigns did not include reference to education campaigns

conducted in consultation with the corporate sector. Transport for NSW should explore opportunities for partnerships with the transport industry in the design and implementation of its public education campaigns.

#### Vehicle procurement policy

5.63 We commend Transport for NSW's vehicle procurement policy which will stimulate the fastest possible transition of the New South Wales vehicle fleet to the adoption of the new vehicle safety technologies. We urge Transport for NSW to formally consult with the corporate sector on the development of public and workplace education campaigns to empower fleet managers and individual drivers to make responsible and informed purchases of vehicles.

#### Expenditure

5.64 Whether there should be more expenditure on advertising or on the research and analysis which underlies it, is difficult for us to judge without further detailed reporting by Transport for NSW on the design, implementation and outcome of its campaigns and how it prioritises expenditure. However, in light of the evidence, we consider that the expenditure on advertising is proportionate to the impressive range of road safety education problems which Transport for NSW has sought to address. At the same time, we reiterate our earlier finding regarding the need for more precise and comprehensive collection and analysis of research data in order to inform campaign strategies and priorities, and to ensure that Transport for NSW achieves maximum effectiveness from its significant financial investment in driver education.

#### Future campaigning

- 5.65 We heard many calls for particular campaigns to be formulated or extended. While we recognise that road safety messaging is complex and campaigning is a crowded space, we endorse the NSW Government's current campaigning and propose the following subjects for future campaigns:
  - (a) New vehicle technology and the need for drivers to be educated about its road safety benefits and how to use it to achieve these benefits
  - (b) Driver and other road user distraction, with particular emphasis on the dangers for vulnerable road users
  - (c) Road sharing
  - (d) Pedestrian, motorcycle, bicycle and heavy vehicle awareness
  - (e) New and poorly understood road rules such as the minimum passing distance rule with bicycles
  - (f) Safe driving in both familiar and unfamiliar environments, with an emphasis on safe driving on country roads
  - (g) Safe driving for and around older drivers, with an emphasis on how older drivers can identify practical transport alternatives and find support to manage their retirement from driving if necessary

(h) Making safe driving choices including selecting safer vehicles and properly maintaining vehicles.

#### **Recommendation 21**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW publish evaluations of the effectiveness of driver education campaigns in order to better inform and engage the community in the formulation of future campaigns.

#### **Recommendation 22**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW conduct future driver education campaigns with an emphasis on the development and demonstration of safe driving attitudes, which address the following topics:

- New vehicle technology and the need for drivers to be educated about its road safety benefits and how to use it to achieve these benefits
- Driver and other road user distraction, with particular emphasis on the dangers for vulnerable road users
- Road sharing and pedestrian, motorcycle, bicycle and heavy vehicle awareness
- New and poorly understood road rules such as the minimum passing distance rule with bicycles
- Safe driving in both familiar and unfamiliar environments, with an emphasis on safe driving on country roads
- Safe driving for and around older drivers, with an emphasis on how older drivers can identify practical transport alternatives and find support to manage their retirement from driving if necessary
- Making safe driving choices including selecting safer vehicles and properly maintaining vehicles

# The role of Local Government

- 5.66 An important channel for NSW Government road safety campaigns lies at the local government level. Funding for local community road safety education is provided via a partnership program which exists between the government road safety authorities and local government. In addition, community groups delivering road safety education can apply for grants to fund their activities. The NSW Government submission outlined the details of the NSW Local Government Road Safety Program (LGRSP) and the Community Road Safety Grants Program.<sup>348</sup>
- 5.67 Evidence received from the IPWEA stressed the front line role played by local government Road Safety Officers (RSO) who are part-funded by Transport for NSW to be specialist road safety educators within councils, and who are responsible for holding forums, localising statewide campaigns, and delivering

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp 60-61

community level programs.<sup>349</sup> The IPWEA's submission urged the need for funding of the LGRSP to be extended to require every local council to employ a local RSO.<sup>350</sup> Transport for NSW advised that the program funds over 70 road safety officer positions across over 80 councils, with some officers working across a number of councils.<sup>351</sup>

5.68 The Committee received evidence to suggest that, based on the experience of some community educators, the delivery of local education programs supporting major campaigns at the local level may not be functioning optimally. Dr Katz advised:

At the Amy Gillett Foundation we have been running the 'It's a two way street' program for a number of years. That is in conjunction with local councils who show a willingness to take it up. It is subject to the vagaries of funding and the ability to find those local council partners. Where we have been able to do it we believe that it has worked well. Again, it would be wonderful to have more research around the precise effectiveness of those campaigns. Figuring out whether you have spent your campaign dollar wisely is always a huge challenge.<sup>352</sup>

- 5.69 The Committee asked to what extent RMS or Transport for NSW required formal reporting from RSOs to give feedback about their community engagement and for planning and development of further campaigns. Transport for NSW advised that it has recently jointly implemented with RMS a new Road Safety Officer online system to capture information about all RSO projects across the state. The online system requires reporting by RSOs of objectives and strategies in relation to specific local road safety issues, regular milestone reporting, and evaluation of specified objectives.<sup>353</sup>
- 5.70 Transport for NSW further advised that the new system will assist with the continuous improvement of road safety projects under the LGRSP and with the delivery of effective outcomes. In addition, Transport for NSW confirmed that insights gathered from the delivery of regional and local projects are taken into account when statewide campaigns are developed.<sup>354</sup>

# Finding 15

# We find that Local Government could be utilised more effectively to deliver driver education.

#### Comment

5.71 We received evidence on behalf of local government that councils are an underutilised resource for promoting road safety messages to the community.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup> Mr Mick Savage, Manager, Roads and Transport Directorate, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup> Submission 16, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p60

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>352</sup> Dr Rod Katz, Chair of the Research and Policy Committee, Amy Gillett Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p70

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>353</sup> Answers to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>354</sup> Answers to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 5

- 5.72 The Road Safety Officer Program was promoted as a local resource for partnering with state authorities in coordinated campaigning.
- 5.73 We are unsure whether this program is still viable given reports that a substantial number of councils no longer employ a road safety officer.
- 5.74 We were pleased to learn that there is now a more formalised system for reporting on campaign implementation by RSOs in local councils. However, in order to fully evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of community workshops and programs, Transport for NSW and RMS should also seek feedback from community organisations working with local councils.
- 5.75 We have recommended, therefore, that Transport for NSW review, in consultation with councils and their representatives, the role of local government and particularly, the Road Safety Officer Program, to determine if the Program is viable and can be better utilised than at present.

#### **Recommendation 23**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW review, in consultation with councils and their representatives, the role of local government and particularly, the Road Safety Officer Program, in delivering road safety education.

#### Sanctions, rewards and incentives

- 5.76 Some submissions discussed the relative merit of sanctions and incentives in educating drivers about safe driving.
- 5.77 The sanctions imposed on learner and provisional drivers are discussed earlier in this report, including discussion of the potential to offer concessions to provisional drivers who commit low range offences.

#### Fair Go for Safe Drivers

- 5.78 The NSW Government offers a 50 per cent discount on licence renewal fees for eligible drivers with a good driving record.<sup>355</sup>
- 5.79 Eligible drivers must have held an unrestricted New South Wales licence continuously for five years and have no disqualifying offences recorded in those five years.

#### Other proposed incentives

5.80 Mr Bill Woods submitted that drivers with long term clear driving records should receive even greater recognition. He proposed that drivers with a gold licence and no demerit points lost in ten years should be exempted from older driver assessment, although not medical assessment, unless and until they lose a demerit point for any reason.<sup>356</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>355</sup> <u>http://www.rms.nsw.gov.au/roads/licence/driver/renew-replace.html</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>356</sup> Submission 77, Mr Bill Woods, p1

- 5.81 Several submissions proposed schemes for rewarding safe driving or for undertaking specified driver training. Mr Ronak Shah, Academy of Road Safety, proposed both licence discounts and cheaper insurance premiums as incentives for drivers to undertake courses and even for parents to have their children professionally trained.<sup>357</sup>
- 5.82 In its submission, the Insurance Council of Australia (ICA) suggested it is challenging for insurers to reduce premiums for drivers who have undertaken courses when both the effectiveness of courses and the behaviour of drivers subsequent to their training may be difficult to judge.<sup>358</sup>
- 5.83 The Committee's attention was also drawn to the role of technology in measuring driver performance, enabling insurance premiums to be adjusted to reward safe driving. Mr Ian Faulks noted that Pay How You Drive insurance products, available in the United Kingdom and United States, use global positioning system (GPS) technology to send information to the insurer who then evaluates continuously how well the car is driven.<sup>359</sup> The ICA confirmed that telematics are being used in the Australian insurance industry to obtain data from customers in order to better assess risk and price accordingly.<sup>360</sup>

#### Road speed awareness course

- 5.84 The Committee received a supplementary submission from the National Roads and Motorists Association (NRMA) proposing that New South Wales adopt a United Kingdom scheme where a Road Speed Awareness Course is offered as an option to first-time low range offenders in place of a fine.<sup>361</sup>
- 5.85 The Committee noted that the NSW Government considered this proposal in 2015 in response to the Committee's report into speed zoning and its impact on the demerits points scheme, but chose not to adopt it.<sup>362</sup>
- 5.86 The NRMA believes that this proposal continues to have merit as a response to the current increasing road toll after the long period of decrease. It argued that the scheme will be an effective response to careless or inattentive behaviour by first-time low range offenders, and is not an option for serious offenders. Under the scheme eligible drivers would attend a speed awareness course at their own expense in place of the current penalty regime. The NRMA quoted United Kingdom Government statistics which show the scheme is widely used in the United Kingdom, and the Committee understands a United Kingdom Government evaluation of the scheme is expected shortly.<sup>363</sup>

```
<sup>361</sup> Submission 51a, National Roads and Motorists Association, p1
```

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>357</sup> Submission 62, Mr Ronak Shah, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>358</sup> Submission 76, Insurance Council of Australia, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>359</sup> Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup> Submission 76, Insurance Council of Australia, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup> <u>https://www.parliament.nsw.gov.au/committees/inquiries/Pages/inquiry-details.aspx?pk=1984#tab-governmentresponses</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> Submission 51a, National Roads and Motorists Association, p1

#### Comment

- 5.87 We note that calls for greater incentives and rewards for safe driving are always popular. The Fair Go for Safe Drivers discount is a significant reward, and there may be scope for extended or additional rewards. We have recommended above an investigation of opportunities to reward provisional drivers for safe driving.
- 5.88 We agree that the NRMA proposal for a road speed awareness course has merit and is worthy of investigation.

# **Recommendation 24**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW examine and publicly report on the proposal by the NRMA for the replacement of fines for low range driving infringements with the option of road safety courses.

# Chapter Six – Regulation of driver trainers

#### Summary

This chapter discusses the regulation of driver trainers, both professional and non-professional.

It is relevant to terms of reference:

d) The needs of driver trainers, both professional and non-professional

g) The costs of driver training standards and how they should be allocated.

In Chapter Six we consider the current regulation of professional driver trainers and evidence from the industry suggesting improvements. This includes further discussion of the learner log book program and the discounting scheme discussed in Chapter Two.

We find that regulation of professional trainers is under-developed and recommend that current regulations be reviewed and improvements identified through formal liaison with the industry.

We also consider the reliance for training learner drivers on non-professional trainers ie volunteers and mentors.

We review evidence proposing more training for parent volunteers and the role of community mentor programs.

We find that the regulation of non-professional driver trainers is limited and recommend consideration of whether some training for non-professional trainers should be mandated. We recommend that learner drivers trained by qualified community mentors should also qualify for the learner driver log book discount.

# **Professional driver trainers**

#### **Current regulation**

#### Statutory requirements

6.1 Professional driver instructors, including motorcycle rider instructors, must meet the requirements of the *Driving Instructors Act 1992* and accompanying Regulation.<sup>364</sup> The primary objectives of the Act are to combat corruption and malpractice within the industry; to keep persons who are considered unfit to hold a driving instructor's licence out of the industry; and ensure that both current licensees and future applicants have successfully completed an approved training course. To improve accountability and to facilitate the effective monitoring of their operations, driving schools and licensed driving instructors are required to establish and maintain a proper system of records and to produce those records

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p47

for inspection by police or authorised officers.<sup>365 366</sup>These legislative provisions were developed following an investigation by the Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC) into driver licensing and were formulated with the intention of restoring public confidence in the licensing system.<sup>367</sup>

# Professional development

6.2 Conversely, evidence received from representatives of the driver trainer industry has stated that:

Due to the lack of any requirements for further professional development, up skilling or reassessment of ability, the professional driver training industry is essentially self-regulated. Whilst we are bound by an Act and Regulations, there is little, if any, third party regulation of this sector. Professional development is mostly on a voluntary basis and is carried out usually by the industry associations.<sup>368</sup>

- 6.3 The NSW Driver Trainers Association (NSWDTA) further observed that as training for instructors is on a user pays basis, many industry members will not join professional organisations or pursue continuing education unless they are made to or there is some sort of financial incentive.<sup>369</sup> In the view of the professional associations, professional development for driving trainers should be a requirement not an option.<sup>370</sup>
- 6.4 The renewal of a driving instructor's licence occurs every five years and involves passing a computer-based knowledge test.<sup>371</sup> There is currently no further training or assessment requirement or any other form of professional development requirements to retain or renew a licence. Roads and Maritime Services (RMS), confirmed that:

At this stage, Roads and Maritime Services does not have an ongoing role in the professional development and ongoing training of driver instructors as such through any professional development.<sup>372</sup>

#### Transport for NSW training requirements

6.5 Transport for NSW informed the Committee that the qualification process for professional driver trainers and rider trainers includes medical, police and working with children checks; a 90 question Driver Knowledge Test on road rules; a driving test or Motorcycle Operator Skills Test; a letter of eligibility, a driving instructor training course, a Certificate IV in Transport and Logistics (Car, Truck, Motorcycles) and a Regulator Final Assessment. Driving instructors must also

<sup>367</sup> Legislative Assembly, Hansard, Driving Instructors Bill, Second Reading, 25 February 1992
 <sup>368</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p4

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>365</sup> NSW Government, NSW Legislation, *Driving Instructors Act 1992*, No 3, Part 5, <u>https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/act/1992/3/part5</u>, accessed 18 September 2017
 <sup>366</sup> NSW Government, NSW Legislation, Driving Instructors Regulation 2016, Clause 9. <u>https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/regulation/2016/542/sec9</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup> Submission 30 NSW Driver Trainers Association, pp5 & 15; Mr Anthony Cope, President, NSW Driver Trainers Association, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p31

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>370</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p5; Submission 58, Australian Driver Trainers Association, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>371</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>372</sup> Ms Melinda Bailey, Executive Director, Compliance and Regulatory Services, Roads and Maritime Services, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, pp63-64

comply with the RMS 'Fit and Proper' policy and be competent in language, literacy and numeracy. Additional or alternative qualifications apply depending on the area of instruction, for example older driver assessments; the Safer Drivers Course; courses for high risk drivers such as the Traffic Offenders Intervention Program (TOIP); or training for heavy vehicle drivers.<sup>373</sup>

- 6.6 On the other hand, driver trainer representatives noted the sometimes poor quality of training provided through Registered Training Organisations (RTO). In particular they expressed concern that the authority to make the final assessment of an instructor has been transferred from RMS to the RTOs with the result that an independent check is not performed before the instructor is issued with the licence.<sup>374</sup>
- 6.7 In addition, the evidence received suggested that the instructors teaching in NSW may not have qualifications of a consistent standard due to interstate variations in training requirements. The Committee heard:

Sadly, the course is also offered by several interstate providers, and the RMS will accept their certificates. We have heard of people being away for as little as two or three days and coming back with a certificate IV driving instructor qualification. Having chatted with them, we have found that they spent less than one hour in the motor vehicle.<sup>375</sup>

# Provider accreditation

6.8 Courses such as the Safer Driver Course and the Driver Licensing Access Program (DLAP) are delivered through a range of providers in multiple locations across New South Wales. Transport for NSW advised that appropriately qualified trainers are selected through a tender process. In the case of the Safer Driver Course, only RMS accredited providers are permitted to deliver the course with trainers who have the required qualifications and have a specifically designed Safer Driver Course Training Program for Facilitators and Coaches. The training program includes the course curriculum, delivery modes, road safety information and building the capacity of trainers to facilitate or coach more effectively. Providers are required to deliver the course in accordance with the materials developed by the Centre for Road Safety.<sup>376</sup> However, evidence was also presented which suggested that the safer driving program in New South Wales is implemented inconsistently across the state.<sup>377</sup>

# Provider management audit

6.9 As part of an evaluation of the Safer Driver Course which commenced in June 2014 and has yet to be completed, a provider management audit and quality assurance evaluation was conducted in 2015. Transport for NSW advised that the provider management audit revealed issues with providers, including Workplace

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp63-64

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>374</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>375</sup> Mr Michael Humphries, General Manager, Australian Driver Trainers Association, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>376</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp38-39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>377</sup> Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence,22 May 2017, p16

Health and Safety (WHS) policies, ensuring trainers' accreditation, administration of the management processes and records management.<sup>378</sup>

6.10 Flawed trainer performance was also identified in the quality assurance evaluation. Issues cited included the tendency of some driving coaches to adopt the more traditional driving instructor role, and trainers straying away from the coaching and peer mentoring approach. Specific examples included coaches providing tips for passing the driving test, little use of questioning and limited discussion of crash risk. Transport for NSW confirmed that it will continue to work with stakeholders to improve the design and delivery of the Safer Driver Course in line with evidence-based, best practice approaches.<sup>379</sup>

#### '3 for 1' scheme

- 6.11 As discussed earlier, under the NSW Graduated Licensing Scheme (GLS), young learner drivers (16-25 years) must have completed and entered in their log book 120 supervised driving hours before attempting an on-road driving test. To assist learners in achieving this, learner drivers who complete a one hour structured driving lesson with a fully licensed driving instructor can record three hours driving experience in their learner driver log book under the '3 for 1' scheme. To be eligible for the scheme, the driving instructor must develop each structured lesson in conjunction with the supervising and learner drivers. Each lesson must aim to develop and enhance the learner driver's practical application of low-risk driving principles, as outlined in the learner driver log book.<sup>380</sup>
- 6.12 A maximum of 10 hours of lessons is accepted and recorded as 30 hours in the learner driver log book. This means that learners who undertake 10 hours of professional instruction obtain a 20 hour discount from learner driver log book requirements. The result is that these learners are only required to undertake 100 actual hours of driving practice.<sup>381</sup>
- 6.13 In conjunction with the 3-for-1 discount driver trainers are responsible for the accurate and honest maintenance of the learner log book and, signing off on structured lessons and maintaining structured lesson plans.<sup>382</sup> The NSWDTA advised:

The purpose of these documents was to try and ensure that any instructor who was granting extra hours was providing training to a high standard and delivering structured learning to clients. In reality, *any* driving instructor has been able to grant extra hours in the log book and nobody has been checking on the quality of the training.<sup>383</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>379</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>380</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>381</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>382</sup> Roads and Maritime Services, *Instructions for fully licensed driving instructors, learner drivers and supervising drivers*, <u>http://www.rms.nsw.gov.au/documents/about/forms/45071488-structure-lesson-record-keeper.pdf</u>, accessed 21 July 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>383</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p14

#### Regulation of driver trainers

#### Log book audits and communications

- 6.14 Following the public hearings, the Committee sought further information from Transport for NSW regarding its approach to auditing log books and the findings arising from audits. Transport for NSW advised that, in the case of light vehicle licences, log books are checked by the Testing Officer at the time the learner sits the driving test. However, it went on to state that log books are not a tool to conduct compliance audits as is the case with log books completed by applicants for heavy vehicle licences under the Heavy Vehicle Competency Based Assessment (HVCBA) program.<sup>384</sup>
- 6.15 The evidence also did not explain to what extent Transport for NSW and RMS hold communications with professional driver trainers about professional standards, changed road rules or other matters. In response to questions sent following the public hearing, Transport for NSW confirmed that it does communicate with industry bodies for driver trainers; with RTOs providing training for heavy vehicle instructors; and with motorcycle rider training providers. However, it provided no further details regarding the frequency or purpose of those communications.<sup>385</sup> In addition to the lack of record audits, the NSWDTA regretted the discontinuation of information nights held by the RMS predecessor, the Roads and Traffic Authority, to help driving instructors to keep abreast of changes to road rules and other relevant matters.<sup>386</sup>

# Post-licence training instructors

- 6.16 Post-licence training is an industry sector which provides training to drivers who already have a licence and are seeking further training in an off-road controlled environment and including courses marketed as advanced or defensive training. Evidence submitted by professional driver trainer organisations advises that there are no requirements for becoming a post-licence driver trainer or for setting up such a business. Instructors in this category may range from ex police officers, racing drivers, professional licence driving instructors or facilitators holding a qualification in workplace training. In addition to off-road training, these instructors are also involved in delivering classroom based training to the corporate sector.<sup>387</sup>
- 6.17 The Committee noted that the RMS website sets out the relevant qualifications required by RMS for approved course providers. The website states that qualifications issued by non-approved course providers are not recognised as the courses may not have been conducted to the standard required by RMS. The website also includes the requirements for a Restricted Driving Instructor's licence which is available for providers of post-licence instruction. The restricted

<sup>385</sup> Answers to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>384</sup> Answers to supplementary questions, Transport for NSW, Question 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>386</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>387</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p7

licence is issued with the condition *Restricted licence* which means that the licensee is not permitted to instruct people who hold a learner driver licence.<sup>388</sup>

#### Heavy vehicle driving instructors

- 6.18 The training of heavy vehicle drivers is governed by the HVCBA scheme under the New South Wales heavy vehicle licensing framework. This framework uses the assessment rules and criteria identified by the National Heavy Vehicle Competency Based Framework which was jointly developed by jurisdictions across Australia. Transport for NSW advised that training and assessment is provided under this framework by suitably qualified heavy vehicle driving instructors who have been approved as accredited assessors with an RTO.<sup>389</sup>
- 6.19 Following release of a report into false certifications of HVCBAs by an RMS accredited assessor in 2014, which was conducted by ICAC, RMS has been working to strengthen governance of the HVCBA scheme.<sup>390</sup> To this end RMS has recently required the separation of the training and assessment roles to mitigate any potential conflict of interest which could arise in the heavy vehicle license assessment process. RMS has also introduced a requirement for in-cabin cameras to be in operation to record end-to-end on-road assessments.
- 6.20 In addition, the Transport for NSW submission advised that work is currently underway on further measures to improve regulatory compliance of the training and assessment scheme. Areas of focus include better management of RTOs including the streamlining of a range of management, education, auditing and sanctioning processes and improved communications between stakeholders.<sup>391</sup>

#### **Suggested improvements**

#### Improving professional skills and standards

6.21 Concerns about the regulation and accreditation of professional driver trainers were expressed in evidence not only by professional driver trainer representatives but by a wider range of stakeholders. The lack of support for professional driving instructors and the need to enhance their status and performance by upgrading qualifications, standards and ongoing professional training was a recurrent theme.<sup>392</sup> Submissions also raised the need for stricter compliance arrangements to ensure that standards of performance and integrity continue to be monitored.<sup>393</sup> Evidence also suggested the need to guarantee the teaching standard of the professional driving instructor by requiring that all

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>388</sup> Roads and Maritime Services, *Driving Instructors*, <u>http://www.rms.nsw.gov.au/business-industry/driving-instructors/index.html</u> accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>389</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p53

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>390</sup> <u>https://www.icac.nsw.gov.au/docman/investigations/reports/4271-investigation-into-false-certifications-of-heavy-vehicle-competency-based-assessments-by-a-roads-and-maritime-services-accredited-assessor-operation-nickel-jan-2014/file, accessed 18 September 2017</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>391</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>392</sup> Submission 16, IPWEA (NSW) p5; Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW Limited, pp18-19; Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe, pp2 & 19; Submission 25, Motorcycle Council of NSW, p5; Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, p15; Submission 70, Mr Len Woodman pp4-5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>393</sup> Submission 54, Name suppressed, p6; Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p4; Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p8

professional trainers update their qualifications to the Technical and Further Education (TAFE) Certificate IV level.<sup>394</sup>

# Impact of the 3 for 1 scheme on professional training

6.22 Driver trainer representatives expressed concern that there has been a diminution of the role of the professional trainer since the introduction of the '3 for 1' log book hours scheme. They pointed out that bonus hours can only be granted for the first 10 hours spent with a driving instructor with the result that many learners see that as the limit of how many lessons they are prepared to have. The NSWDTA stated that, prior to the introduction of the 3 for 1 incentive, the lesson average was higher than 10. In the view of the NSWDTA professional training was previously 'valued more as something that could actually help, rather than just help get more hours in the log book'.<sup>395</sup>

# Competency based assessment system

6.23 Preference for a competency based assessment system was expressed in a number of submissions.<sup>396</sup> In the Australian Capital Territory (ACT) and South Australia P plate drivers can choose to do a standard test for the practical assessment or a competency based assessment with an accredited instructor.<sup>397</sup> Driver trainer associations saw merit in a competency based system as an alternative to the hours based approach to training, following the example of the Competency Assessment Scheme in the ACT. The Australian Driver Trainers Association (ADTA) has developed a Master Instructors Course in which instructors are trained to the necessary level to enable them to conduct the learner assessments which are part of a competency based system. However, the ADTA stressed the importance of the regulator having a stake in the final assessment decision.<sup>398</sup>

# National standards

6.24 With regard to skill-sets and competencies a number of submissions referred to the need for a nationally agreed system of standards.<sup>399</sup> One suggestion was to integrate competencies into the national Australian Qualifications Framework (AQF) so that they would be transparent and accessible for all relevant stakeholders, including professional trainers, non-professional supervisors and learners.<sup>400</sup> Other submissions advocated the establishment of a national accreditation system with a staircase of industry benchmarks<sup>401</sup> or a system of graded qualifications based on best practice international examples.<sup>402</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>394</sup> Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>395</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, pp5-6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>396</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW Limited, pp 5 & 19; Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe, p15; Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>397</sup> <u>http://www.roadready.act.gov.au/c/roadready?a=sp&pid=1098839493;</u> <u>http://mylicence.sa.gov.au/road-rules/the-drivers-handbook/graduated</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>398</sup> Submission 58, Australian Driver Trainers Association, p8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>399</sup> Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>400</sup> Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, pp8-9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>401</sup> Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation p13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>402</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association, p9

# Adverse factors affecting standards

6.25 The downward pressure on standards due to undercutting of fees and tuition quality amongst commercially competing trainers was cited as a barrier to improving the overall standard and status of the driver training profession.<sup>403</sup> The National Roads and Motorists' Association (NRMA) urged the introduction of measures to ensure that accredited driving instructors teach learners how to be safe drivers and not just how to pass driving tests.<sup>404</sup>

#### Quality and compliance improvements

6.26 The NRMA and the Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW Limited (PCYC) are providers of the Transport for NSW Safer Driver Course. The NRMA suggested that the standard of training could be improved overall by strengthening the focus of RMS on quality and compliance; accepting new registered training providers to deliver higher standards of training; supporting a coaching rather than instruction model and requiring ongoing professional development for accredited driving instructors to maintain their accreditation.<sup>405</sup> The PCYC pointed to the need for competency based assessment for driving instructors seeking to deliver the Safer Driver Course as a complement to the existing provider quality assurance processes.<sup>406</sup>

# Cost allocation

- 6.27 While the cost of improving standards was acknowledged to be a potential barrier to raising the professional standing of driver trainers, it was noted that this should not be used as an excuse for inaction. Submissions pointed to the fact that price signals for consumers of driver training can have the positive effect of reinforcing the value of driver instruction. However, it was acknowledged that government support may be needed to ensure the delivery of training in some social or remote situations and to fund research and consultancy in relation to designing a set of delivery standards, developing content, establishing industry benchmarks and overseeing levels of accreditation.<sup>407</sup>
- 6.28 Submissions suggested that costs could be shared between the commercial industry, government and individual driver trainers who should be required to contribute to their own professional development.<sup>408</sup> Submissions also noted that giving incentives to learners to increase the training time spent with professional trainers could have a positive effect on the standards. Because of the increasing demand for their services and greater income earning possibilities, driver trainers would be motivated to seek further professional development opportunities.<sup>409</sup>

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 403}$  Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe, pp 3 & 11

 $<sup>^{404}</sup>$  Submission 51, National Roads and Motorists' Association, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>405</sup> Submission 51, National Roads and Motorists' Association, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>406</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, pp18-19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>407</sup> Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, pp6-7; Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, p15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>408</sup> Submission 55 Australian Road Safety Foundation p15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>409</sup> Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe p12; Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation pp6-7; Submission 47, Bicycle NSW

Regulation of driver trainers

# Emerging specialities

- 6.29 A number of submissions pointed to emerging areas where a greater amount of driver trainer expertise will be required. For example, disability advocates foreshadowed that more driving instructors will be needed to train disabled drivers following commencement of the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) which provides new opportunities for the modification of vehicles enabling disabled people to learn to drive independently.<sup>410</sup> In addition, with the increasing aged population, there will be a greater number of older drivers who seek to continue driving and who will require ongoing assessment and skills support.<sup>411</sup>
- 6.30 To meet the new demand for trainers with the skills to screen and filter disabled and older drivers, representatives of Occupational Therapy Australia (OTAUS) proposed that a training program and qualification could be a component of the five yearly licence renewal process for professional driving instructors.<sup>412</sup>
- 6.31 Additionally, many submissions stressed the need for driver trainers to have expertise in teaching vehicle safety technology.<sup>413</sup> The Committee was informed that the Master Driver Program which has been developed by the ADTA in Queensland places particular emphasis on teaching instructors about the use of new vehicle technology.<sup>414</sup>

# Future consultations

- 6.32 In its submission, the Australian Road Safety Foundation (ARSF) expressed concern regarding the underrepresentation of the driver training industry in advisory positions for state-based road safety panels.<sup>415</sup> The Committee noted that the commercial driving instructor sector is not a coherent group of organisations. Mr Michael Humphries, General Manager, ADTA, told the Committee that only a quarter to a third of New South Wales driving instructors are members of either the NSWDTA or the ADTA or both.<sup>416</sup>
- 6.33 The Committee heard that whatever improvements can be made to the training and qualifications of professional instructors via self-regulatory mechanisms, professional trainers would prefer a system which is underpinned by firm regulatory support.<sup>417</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>410</sup> Submission 33, Information on Disability and Education Awareness Services, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>411</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p51

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>412</sup> Ms Lyndall Cook, Occupational Therapy Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p28

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>413</sup> Submission 11, Mr Peter Macpherson, pp2-3; Submission 16, IPWEA (NSW) p19; Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p11; Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe, pp7-8; Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p5; Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p5; Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, p11; Submission 66, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, pp 5 & 13; Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p7; Submission 70, Mr Len Woodman, pp3-4; Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>414</sup> Submission 58, Australian Driver Trainers Association, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>415</sup> Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, p13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>416</sup> Mr Michael Humphries, General Manager, Australian Driver Trainers Association, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p31

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>417</sup> Mr Michael Humphries, General Manager, Australian Driver Trainers Association, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, pp31-32

# Finding 16

# We find that the regulation of the professional driver training industry is underdeveloped.

#### Comment

- 6.34 Professional driver trainers in New South Wales are regulated under state legislation. The current regulation aims to reduce corruption, ensure fitness to be licensed, and ensure that trainers hold appropriate qualifications.
- 6.35 The industry's own evidence to the Committee, however, was that the industry is essentially self-regulated. The evidence for this view is based, in summary, on a lack of any requirement for licensed trainers to undertake any prescribed professional development to retain their instructors' licences other than passing a computerised test every five years.
- 6.36 Notwithstanding the fragmented nature of the industry, we believe that the way forward to advance professional standards and determine the appropriate regulatory balance can only be determined by further detailed consultations between the principal organisations, Transport for NSW and other relevant stakeholders.
- 6.37 The NSW Government recognises the value of professional driver training by offering learner drivers a discount on the 120 hours of supervised driving which they must undertake before being examined for their fitness to convert to a provisional licence.
- 6.38 We recognise the value of professional training also. We believe, however, that the value of this training is diminished where there are doubts about the qualifications and standards of professional driver trainers. We find it contradictory that incentives are currently offered to learner drivers by Transport for NSW to undertake training with professional instructors while the monitoring of industry training standards, performance and the currency of instructors' qualifications may not be systematic.
- 6.39 Based on the evidence received, we have formed the view that there should be a more formalised and continuous process of communication between Transport for NSW and professional driver trainers in support of their ongoing professional development. Transport for NSW should consult with the professional organisations and develop and implement a suitable information and communication strategy to underpin a continuing education scheme for trainers. New developments such as vehicle safety technology create an imperative for the driver training industry to develop greater expertise to address the needs of contemporary and future learner drivers. The onus is on Transport for NSW, in partnership with the representative organisations, to ensure that professional driver trainers consistently meet the standards of integrity and competence which the public expects them to have.
- 6.40 Regarding learner log books, we are concerned that there is a lack of transparency with regard to the auditing system applying to the record keeping requirements for professional driving schools and instructors set out under the

Driving Instructors Act 1992 and the Driving Instructors Regulation 2016, as well as with any record keeping obligations which may be imposed by RMS, for example, in the context of the '3 for 1' scheme. The Committee urges Transport for NSW to clarify its oversight role as well as the auditing processes which it has in place to ensure the regulatory compliance of the professional driver training industry.

- 6.41 We have recommended earlier in this report that Transport for NSW conduct an audit of the learner log book system which should also encompass any concerns we express here.
- 6.42 We have also recommended elsewhere in this report that the value of professional driver training could be recognised by extending the discount offered to learner drivers if we can be confident that road safety outcomes are not compromised.
- 6.43 Regarding the role of post-licence instruction, or advanced and defensive driver trainer, we believe that the place of post-licence trainers within the professional driver training industry is worthy of examination. Earlier in this report we have recommended a review of post-licence training to clarify its role and assess its suitability to train drivers. Our recommendation below may also be an opportunity to examine the qualifications of post-licence trainers in the context of an examination of professional trainer qualifications generally.
- 6.44 If professional driver training is to be promoted as a way of ensuring learners are better trained, it is important that industry standards can be shown to be the best possible. Hence, we have recommended a process by which Transport for NSW and the professional driver training industry can work together to examine the current regulation and identify changes which need to be made to meet community expectations.

# **Recommendation 25**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW convene a working party comprised of representatives of the professional driver training industry and road safety researchers to examine and report on the current regulation of the professional driver training industry and the legislative and regulatory reforms required:

- To ensure that qualifications, skills and practices within the New South Wales industry are equivalent to world's best practice
- To ensure that professional driver trainers with qualifications gained in other jurisdictions must demonstrate that they meet New South Wales industry standards before being licensed to operate in New South Wales
- To ensure that professional driver trainers commit to and receive timely and effective professional development regarding changing vehicle technology and road rules, and other related matters.

# Non-professional driver trainers

#### **Reliance on volunteers and mentors**

- 6.45 Non-professional training accounts for the majority of training received by novice drivers. This is due to the requirement under the GLS to complete 120 supervised hours of driving before obtaining a provisional licence, and to the barriers of cost and accessibility of professional training which may be experienced by learner drivers.<sup>418</sup>
- 6.46 Most training is delivered by parents, friends or guardians acting as supervisors or by volunteers and mentors working within community-based social disadvantage programs. Mentors are also engaged in school and community programs delivered by a range of privately run road safety and young driver education organisations such as the Blue Datto Foundation Ltd (Blue Datto) and the PCYC.<sup>419</sup>

#### Lower trainer qualifications required for motor vehicles

6.47 The PCYC drew the Committee's attention to the lower level of qualification required for supervising learner drivers:

NSW Class C (car) licences are the last remaining licence class where people, often without skills or experience in driver training provide the bulk of the driver education to learner drivers. All other licence classes provide some form of competency based training and assessment provided by suitably qualified trainers.<sup>420</sup>

6.48 The only qualification or experience which many supervising drivers hold is a driver licence. Under the current licensing system only provisional drivers and holders of an overseas licence are not permitted to supervise a learner driver. There is no requirement for the supervising driver to prove competency in the supervisory role, to have attended any sort of post-licence training or to prove their knowledge and understanding of the road rules or low-risk driving strategies.<sup>421</sup>

#### **Suggested improvements**

#### Improving volunteer qualifications

6.49 The lack of qualifications of volunteer trainers was raised as a concern in a number of submissions and by witnesses. Some called for measures to ensure greater exposure of learner drivers to professionally qualified trainers in accredited programs and for programs to assist and better inform volunteer mentors.<sup>422</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>418</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers' Association, p6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>419</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p43; Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs Limited, p15; Submission 45, Blue Datto Foundation, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>420</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>421</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, pp 6 & 19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>422</sup> Submission 16, IPWEA, p21; Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p12; Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p19, Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, pp5-7; Submission 47, Bicycle NSW, p1; Submission 64, Awesome Driving School, pp 1& 3; Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p6; Mr Terry Birss, Chief Executive Officer, Road Safety Education Limited and Mr Russell White, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Road Safety Foundation Limited, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p52

Regulation of driver trainers

#### Keys2Drive – a model program

- 6.50 The NSWDTA acknowledged that lay person training can be effective for preparing young drivers to pass the driving test. It observed, however, that because of the lack of direction received, volunteer supervisors may fail to focus the learner on how to drive safely after the driving test.<sup>423</sup>
- 6.51 Professional trainer representatives observed that structured training is best delivered as a partnership between the guardian and a professional driver instructor.<sup>424</sup> The Australian Government-funded program, Keys2Drive<sup>425</sup> was cited by several submission authors as a positive model. This program, developed by the Australian Automobile Association, provides a free driving lesson with a professional instructor and the opportunity for the learner driver and their supervisor to be instructed together.<sup>426</sup>
- 6.52 The Committee noted stakeholder concern that funding for the Keys2Drive program was not guaranteed. The program received ongoing funding, however, in the 2017 federal budget.<sup>427</sup>

# Resources for non-professional trainers

- 6.53 A number of submissions and witnesses were concerned at the inadequacy of teaching and learning resources for non-professional driving instructors and stressed in particular the need to provide more readily accessible training material.<sup>428</sup> The NRMA pointed to the need for more education for parents on how to teach learners and more resources in the form of online tutorials to assist parents.<sup>429</sup>
- 6.54 Transport for NSW advised that, as part of a project to modernise the driver knowledge test, RMS is implementing an education strategy for novice drivers, parents and supervisors.<sup>430</sup>

# Parent workshops

6.55 'Helping Learner Drivers Become Safer Drivers' workshops were developed by Transport for NSW and RMS for parents and guardians of learner drivers to support them in their role as supervising drivers. The two-hour workshops are run by Local Government Road Safety Officers (RSO) and other RMS employed contractors and are free of charge. Transport for NSW advised that 70 workshops

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>423</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>424</sup> Submission 58, Australian Driver Trainers Association, pp3-4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>425</sup> Australian Government, Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development, *Keys 2 Drive*, <u>https://www.keys2drive.com.au/</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>426</sup> Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe, p2; Submission 47, Bicycle NSW, p1; Submission 64, Awesome Driving School, p1; Australian Government, Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development, *Keys 2 Drive*, https://www.keys2drive.com.au/, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>427</sup> <u>http://www.aaa.asn.au/news-and-publications/news/article/?id=federal-budget-a-win-for-road-safety-and-transport-infrastructure</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>428</sup> Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p6; Submission 64, Awesome Driving School, p1; Submission 70, Mr Len Woodman, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>429</sup> Submission 51, National Roads and Motorists' Association, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>430</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p40

were held around the State during 2016.<sup>431</sup> Transport for NSW explained that the purpose of the workshops is to offer practical advice on how to help learner drivers become safer drivers and covers topics such as how to use the learner log book; planning driving sessions; how to deal with difficulties arising during driving practice and the need to give constructive feedback.<sup>432</sup>

#### Introducing more dedicated training options

- 6.56 The Committee received evidence which was critical of the level of resourcing and the content of the 'Helping Learner Drivers Become Safer Drivers' workshops.<sup>433</sup> In particular, PCYC expressed dissatisfaction with the content of the workshop package because of the lack of information for supervisor drivers on how to teach low-risk driving strategies.
- 6.57 PCYC expressed its preference for the provision of an elective 'train the supervising driver' program for supervisors. It stressed the need to provide a range of dedicated training options for supervising drivers seeking to improve their skills. It predicted a flow-on benefit as existing licence holders would also be exposed to the safe and low-risk driving strategies currently taught in courses delivered by professional driver trainers to novice drivers.<sup>434</sup>
- 6.58 Refresher training for supervisors and mentors was felt to be a necessity, not only in terms of spreading awareness about low-risk driving techniques but also to ensure that trainers were kept abreast of changes in road rules, new vehicle technologies, and sharing the road with vulnerable road users.<sup>435</sup> Some driving school proprietors and professional instructors advocated the need for additional incentives or rewards to be offered to parents and supervisors to encourage them to obtain professional training before supervising learner drivers.<sup>436</sup>

#### Community-based training for volunteers and mentors

- 6.59 In addition to the training of supervisors delivered through Transport for NSW parent workshops, opportunities for mentors and volunteers to be trained to some degree are also available within community organisations.
- 6.60 Blue Datto provides school and community programs which are uniquely delivered by university graduates who are trained internally by Blue Datto as 'near-peer' mentors. These are trained by Blue Datto in small group facilitation. Blue Datto targets youth who may have already left high school education as part of its community program and has recently developed an online parent program.<sup>437</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>431</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p66

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>432</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>433</sup> Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association, p6; Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, pp 6 & 19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>434</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>435</sup> Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, pp4 & 5; Submission 58, Australian Driver Trainers Association, p5; Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, pp7-8; Ms Brooke O'Donnell, General Manager, Education and Communications, Road Safety Education Limited, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p52

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>436</sup> Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe, p12; Submission 62, Academy of Road Safety, p1;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>437</sup> Submission 45, Blue Datto Foundation Limited, pp2-3

- 6.61 The PCYC stressed that it provides strong support for mentors involved in delivering its driver mentor programs. It expressed concern, however, that community-based learner driver mentor programs are not regulated and it is at the discretion of the organisers as to how much value they place on safety, education and support for mentors and the learning process. PCYC noted that driver mentor programs may or may not use professional driving instructors in the conduct of these programs.<sup>438</sup>
- 6.62 The ADTA pointed to the need to make ongoing professional development available to mentors in driver mentoring programs for Aboriginal learner drivers in regional areas.<sup>439</sup>

# Increasing the component of training by professional trainers

- 6.63 In order to ensure consistency and quality in the delivery of driver education products and services, the PCYC urged that there should be professional development and mentoring processes for all driver instructors.<sup>440</sup> As discussed earlier in this report, submissions also expressed the view that consistency could be achieved by mandating that all learners complete the Safer Drivers Course, thus ensuring that all learner drivers have some experience of learning safe driving principles from an accredited trainer.<sup>441</sup>
- 6.64 An alternative suggestion was that the majority of a learner's supervised instruction be undertaken either by a Certified Driving Instructor or by a person who has undertaken a course in instruction such as Keys2Drive.<sup>442</sup> In addition, credit hours given to using a certified driving instructor could be extended, and a minimum of 10 hours be made mandatory.<sup>443</sup>
- 6.65 Ms Brooke O'Donnell, General Manager, Education and Communications, Road Safety Education Limited (RSE), acknowledged the importance of ensuring that education is provided to help parents understand the importance of filling the required 120 hours of supervised driving practice with proper guidance for learner drivers.<sup>444</sup>

# Finding 17

We find that the current regulation of non-professional driver trainers is limited, and that terms like volunteer and mentor are not well defined.

#### Comment

6.66 The majority of the supervision of learner drivers in New South Wales is undertaken by volunteers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>438</sup> Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW Limited, p15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>439</sup> Submission 58, Australian Driver Trainers Association, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>440</sup> Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW Limited, p19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>441</sup> Submission 58, Australian Driver Trainers Association, pp3-4; Submission 66, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, p5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>442</sup> Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe, pp11-12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>443</sup> Submission 47, Bicycle NSW, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>444</sup> Ms Brooke O'Donnell, General Manager, Education and Communications, Road Safety Education Limited, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p55

- 6.67 Traditionally, supervision is undertaken by the parents of learner drivers, or other family members or friends.
- 6.68 Of growing importance, especially to assist disadvantaged people gain a driver licence, is supervision by community volunteers and mentors arranged by charities and other agencies which often receive government funding to support their activities.
- 6.69 Given the recognition of the importance of professional driver training, evidenced by both the regulation under which the industry operates and the discount which learners may claim when they attend professional training, it is a paradox perhaps that most learner driver supervision is performed by people whose only qualification for the role is that they hold a driver licence.
- 6.70 Having recommended above that Transport for NSW examine whether the professional driver training industry needs improved regulation, we recommend that the regulation of the volunteer driver training industry also be reviewed.
- 6.71 Any review of the regulation of driver training needs to be conscious of the balance between the contributions of the professional and volunteer cohorts in producing licensed drivers. The NSW Government needs to have a clear understanding of its objectives with regard to learner driver supervision, and particularly whether it wants to increase the number of hours which learner drivers spend with professional driver trainers.
- 6.72 The professional industry told the Committee that the 3 for 1 discount which learner drivers may claim off their 120 hours when they use professional trainers up to a maximum of 10 hours, has arguably led to a mindset that 10 hours is a maximum recommended number of hours of professional training required of learners.
- 6.73 A risk of over-regulating professional driver training is that regulation increases costs with the effect of encouraging more learners to seek volunteer supervision.
- 6.74 We recommend that in reviewing volunteer driver training standards, Transport for NSW should consider a number of matters. Firstly, it needs to consider whether it should mandate a minimum number of professional training hours which all learner drivers must undertake if there are road safety benefits to be gained. A mandated minimum could apply to all learners or could apply to learners who meet certain criteria, such as people who have failed the learner driver test a certain number of times.
- 6.75 Secondly, Transport for NSW should consider whether professional training should be made a prerequisite for receiving volunteer or mentor supervision. If there are road safety benefits to be gained by ensuring that learners receive their initial training from professional trainers, before relying on volunteer supervision for the bulk of their 120 hours, then we believe they should be identified.
- 6.76 These two recommendations are made earlier in this report.
- 6.77 Thirdly, we received evidence from several quarters that volunteer supervisors receive insufficient training themselves. Programs like Keys2Drive and the Safer

Driver Course include components addressed at the need and responsibilities of volunteer supervisors, but they are neither compulsory nor extensive. Witnesses were concerned at the capacity of untrained supervisors to pass on bad driving habits to learners, or not detect and correct poor driving practices in the learners under their supervision. Transport for NSW should consider reviewing the training needs of volunteer and mentor supervisors.

- 6.78 We heard evidence from both community mentoring organisations and others of the important contribution made by mentor supervisors in assisting learner drivers who have no or limited access to supervision. Providers like PCYC and Blue Datto already provide training to mentors before they commence supervision. It is possible that following Transport for NSW's review, it may regulate that mentors receive a minimum level of training in the future. Where mentors are trained to a certain supervisory standard, we recommend that Transport for NSW consider whether a discount could be extended to learner drivers who receive the supervision of trained mentors to reduce their 120 hours requirement.
- 6.79 It is quite clear that current learner driver training is heavily reliant on supervision by volunteers. We expect the current training system would collapse if volunteers were unavailable or disallowed. Whether or not the current system relies too heavily on volunteer supervisors, however, is not a matter which we can determine. The recommendations we make here and elsewhere in this report, however, will allow Transport for NSW to gain a better understanding of this level of reliance and whether it should continue.
- 6.80 We note the concern expressed by Transport for NSW that there is an equity issue for people across the community being able to afford additional hours of professional instruction.<sup>445</sup> We acknowledge that detailed financial analysis will be required to determine the funding of additional professional training for supervisor drivers and mentors, and for learner drivers.

# **Recommendation 26**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW review and report publicly on opportunities to better train and regulate volunteer learner driver supervisors and mentors in order to achieve improved road safety outcomes, and that this review include an analysis of the benefits of mandating that volunteer and mentor supervisors of learner drivers receive some form of professional training.

# **Recommendation 27**

The Committee recommends that subject to Recommendation 26, learner drivers instructed by appropriately trained community mentors such as those employed by Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW Limited and Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, qualify for a learner driver log book discount, as do learner drivers trained by professional driver trainers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>445</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p65

# **Recommendation 28**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW work with community training organisations such as Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW Limited and Blue Datto Foundation Ltd to ensure that young people who drop out of the education system are able to access high quality driver training by qualified volunteers and mentors.

# Chapter Seven – School education

#### Summary

This chapter discusses how road safety education is taught in schools.

- It is relevant to terms of reference:
- a) Trends in road safety research and crash statistics
- c) The needs of any particular driver groups
- f) The needs and expectations of passengers and other road users
- h) The experience of other jurisdictions, and interstate cross border issues
- i) Other related matters.

In Chapter Seven we consider the NSW Road Safety Education Program and how road safety education is taught to school students of all ages.

We also consider the resources used to teach road safety, including the particular techniques of in-school driver training, resilience training and fear-based training.

We discuss the need to capture early school leavers who will not benefit from the senior secondary school curriculum, as well as evidence proposing national accreditation for road safety educators.

We are satisfied that the New South Wales curriculum is sound, and recommend the examination of the aspects of the curriculum identified above.

# Road safety education and the school curriculum

7.1 New South Wales leads national and international jurisdictions with its comprehensive mandatory, best practice road safety education framework in schools and early childhood services.<sup>446</sup> The Committee learned that no other state in Australia (and very few countries) has been able to achieve mandatory, prescriptive road safety content within its school curriculum.<sup>447</sup>

#### **NSW Road Safety Education Program**

7.2 The NSW Road Safety Education Program is the key education strategy designed to deliver coherent road safety education to all ages from young children to senior high school and Technical and Further Education (TAFE). The program is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>446</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p61

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>447</sup> Submission75, Transport for NSW, p31

delivered to 3,083 schools educating more than one million students and over 3,500 early childhood services.  $^{\rm 448}$ 

- 7.3 Since 1986, the program has provided educational resources and professional development to teachers and childhood educators throughout New South Wales. It is delivered in partnership with the Association of Independent Schools, the Catholic Education Commission, the Department of Education, and early childhood education specialists at Macquarie University. The program includes the delivery of road safety education to students by classroom teachers and is a formal part of the curriculum and of pre-service training for teachers.<sup>449</sup>
- 7.4 The curriculum was developed closely with the former NSW Board of Studies, Education and Teaching Standards (now the NSW Education and Standards Authority).<sup>450</sup> Road safety education specialists provide teachers and schools with subject matter expertise, and curriculum and policy advice and are responsible for the professional development of teachers when new road safety teaching resources are released.<sup>451</sup> The school based program does not include in-vehicle driver training.<sup>452</sup>

#### Other school programs

- 7.5 In addition to the formal school education program, the Centre for Road Safety provides funding to a number of organisations which provide road safety experiences for students outside the classroom context. Organisations such as the Little Blue Dinosaur Foundation, the Rotary Youth Driver Awareness (RYDA) program, the Drive to Survive Program and bstreetsmart are key community partnerships.<sup>453</sup> These are not part of the mandatory road safety education program and are viewed as supplementing, not replacing, the content which is required to be taught by teachers.<sup>454</sup>
- 7.6 Transport for NSW emphasised the importance of technology in school education in its approach to road safety education and training. Achievements to date include an online interactive digital resource for primary school students, teachers and parents. Transport for NSW stated that it is particularly keen to identify education initiatives which target specific high-risk road user groups.<sup>455</sup>

# When should road safety education commence?

7.7 Many submissions and witnesses agreed that road safety education should commence in early childhood, be age appropriate and be consistently reinforced through to senior high school and TAFE.<sup>456</sup> The Committee also heard that school

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>448</sup> Submission75, Transport for NSW, p30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>449</sup> Submission75, Transport for NSW, p30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>450</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p31

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>451</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p31

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>452</sup> Submission75, Transport for NSW, p30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>453</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p61

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>454</sup> Submission75, Transport for NSW, p34

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>455</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Officer, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p61

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>456</sup> Submission 12, Mr Gary Cooke, p7; Submission 14, Ms June Beckett, p4; Submission 18, Mr John Handley, p1; Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p22; Submission 22, Mr Benny Horn, p1; Submission 31, Mr Sam Reich, p1; Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p8; Submission 41, Mr Tony Arnold, p1; Submission 42, Mr Gilbert

education should be part of a whole of life program and that the Government should take a lead in ensuring the provision of continuing education to complement school education.<sup>457</sup>

#### Pre school

7.8 Available evidence, both locally and internationally, shows that access to quality early childhood education is consistently a major factor influencing developmental, learning and social abilities.<sup>458</sup> Transport for NSW described its strong commitment to developing appropriate resources for very young children in partnership with expert early childhood educators. The *Kids and Traffic* early childhood education program is funded by the Centre for Road Safety and delivered in partnership with Macquarie University. *Kids and Traffic* teaching and learning resources, including videos, have been developed to provide support for educators, carers and other adults in how to impart the appropriate road safety concepts to young children.<sup>459</sup>

# **Primary school**

7.9 In 2016, Transport for NSW launched *Safety Town*, a suite of innovative new digital resources to support the teaching of road safety from Kindergarten to Year 6 in New South Wales primary schools. To date the website has recorded over 50,000 visitors and Transport for NSW predicted that in time it has the potential to reach over 650,000 students. The website includes 30 interactive activities, comprehensive teaching notes, links to relevant transport information and updated information for parents and carers. Government, independent and Catholic schools were involved in the testing and trialling of the interactive components.<sup>460</sup>

# Secondary school

- 7.10 Road safety is taught in New South Wales schools as part of the Personal Development, Health and Physical Education (PDHPE) curriculum. This is a mandatory subject for students from kindergarten to Year 10. The focus is on the development of knowledge, values, attitudes and behaviours to enable students to make informed decisions as safer road users.<sup>461</sup>
- 7.11 In Years 11 and 12 students in NSW government schools explore road user safety as part of a mandatory Crossroads course which includes protective behaviours, how to be assertive in risky situations, making a decision as a road user, and

Grace, p2; Submission 45, Blue Datto Foundation Limited, p3; Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation,pp2,7,&21; Submission 50, Road Safety Education Limited, p3; Submission 61, Bicycle Network, p2; Submission 62, Academy of Road Safety, p1; Submission 64, Awesome Driving School, p3; Submission 66, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Limited, pp15-16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>457</sup> Mr Ray Rice, Advocacy Manager, Bicycle NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p69

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>458</sup> NSW Department of Education and University of Wollongong, *Fostering Effective Early Education Literature Review*, 2017, <u>https://education.nsw.gov.au/media/ecec/pdf-documents/FEEL-Study-Literature-Review-Final.pdf</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>459</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p31

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>460</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p32; Transport for NSW, *Safety Town* website, <u>www.safetytown.com.au</u>, accessed 18 September, 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>461</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p30

looking out for others to promote safe travel for all. Similar sessions are provided in New South Wales Catholic and independent schools as part of their student wellbeing and pastoral programs.<sup>462</sup>

- 7.12 The Transport for NSW *On the Move* website is the central location for all secondary schools and has been developed in partnership with the education sectors to provide information for teachers, parents and students.<sup>463</sup>
- 7.13 In relation to the optimum years in which to concentrate road safety education, the Committee noted some divergence of opinion among road safety education providers and advocates. The Australian Road Safety Foundation (ARSF) said that road safety education should be instilled at the earliest possible opportunity and that the driver education component should start from Years 8, 9 or 10 as part of an integrated process continuing throughout the school education process.<sup>464</sup> Road Safety Education Limited (RSE), provider of the RYDA program for senior secondary students, focussed on the latter part of Year 10 and Year 11. Mr Terry Birss, Chief Executive Officer, RSE, told the Committee:

There is tension in the argument too soon or too late. Too soon and it is an academic exercise, which you are unlikely to get students to engage in, for example. Too late and bad habits have been formed.<sup>465</sup>

- 7.14 The Blue Datto Foundation Ltd (Blue Datto) stressed the importance of Year 10 as when students are about to take up apprenticeships and miss the Crossroads Driver Education program in years 11 and 12. A more detailed elaboration of their position is discussed below.<sup>466</sup>
- 7.15 Stakeholders broadly endorsed the need, which is recognised in the New South Wales school curriculum, to focus in the senior years on the higher order cognitive skills including situational awareness, discernment and management of risks, and the importance of taking into account human behaviour beyond a basic understanding of moving the car and the road rules.<sup>467</sup>
- 7.16 On the other hand, the Committee also noted evidence expressing concern that the road safety education focus in senior high school was insufficient. In particular, the RSE observed that in high schools road safety competes with many other student health and well-being priorities despite being, along with suicide, the highest injury and fatality risk for teenagers.<sup>468</sup>

<sup>463</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p32; Transport for NSW, *On the Move* website, <u>http://www.onthemove.nsw.edu.au/</u>, accessed 18 September 2017

<sup>466</sup> Submission 45, Blue Datto Foundation Limited, pp2-3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>462</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>464</sup> Mr Russell White, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Road Safety Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p50

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>465</sup> Mr Terry Birss, Chief Executive Officer, Road Safety Education Limited, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p50

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>467</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp32-33; Chief Executive Officer, Australian Road Safety Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p56

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>468</sup> Submission 50, Road Safety Education Limited, p10

# How should road safety education be taught?

# **Teaching resources**

7.17 NSW Government policy requires that road safety education in schools be taught by professional teachers. Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, told the Committee:

We support the view that health and community issues, such as road safety, are addressed by qualified teachers who are familiar with their students' background and strengths and the focus is on the development of knowledge, values, attitudes and behaviours to enable students to make informed decisions as safe road users.<sup>469</sup>

- 7.18 At the same time, the Centre for Road Safety provides funding to a number of external organisations such as the RSE to deliver additional educational components. Transport for NSW advised that such programs are viewed as supplementing not replacing the content required to be taught by teachers. Transport for NSW also advised that schools make local decisions to select these events.<sup>470</sup>
- 7.19 Road safety education organisations stressed the importance of providing reliable teaching and learning resources for professional class room teachers. Some road safety educators questioned the role of teachers and queried their expertise to be the primary providers of driving and road safety education.<sup>471</sup> They stressed the importance of having outside resources provided by road safety specialists available for teachers to use. The ARSF urged that there should also be greater consistency of teaching and educational resources within the current school education system. Mr Russell White, Chief Executive Officer, ARSF, said:

I think we need to look at a more holistic way of ensuring that content is delivered at the same standard with the same passion across the board.<sup>472</sup>

- 7.20 The RSE expressed concern that while governments have developed guidelines to help schools choose road safety programs, many funded programs fail to meet these guidelines.<sup>473</sup>
- 7.21 Representatives of both the ARSF and the RSE agreed that there should be a system of accreditation for school road safety programs to help teachers and parents identify effective road safety education and ensure that the delivery of school based training is consistent in its standards and content.<sup>474</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>469</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p61

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>470</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p34

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>471</sup> Submission 45, Blue Datto Foundation, p6; Ms Brooke O'Donnell, General Manager, Education and Communications, Road Safety Education Limited, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p51

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>472</sup> Mr Russell White, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Road Safety Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p51

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>473</sup> Submission 50, Road Safety Education Limited, p11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>474</sup> Submission 50, Road Safety Education Limited, p3; Mr Russell White, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Road Safety Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p51

#### Advanced and defensive driver training in schools

- 7.22 The delivery of road safety and driver education in New South Wales secondary schools is based in the classroom and focusses on developing appropriate student attitudes, values and behaviour. Transport for NSW explained that it does not support in-vehicle driver training within the curriculum because research has consistently found that there is little evidence of reduced crash involvement as a result of participating in practical driving courses at the school level. As discussed earlier in this report, it also pointed to evidence indicating that some programs have led to earlier licensing and increased exposure of young drivers to possible accidents. Transport for NSW also cited evidence indicating that practical driver training can produce a level of over confidence in young drivers inconsistent with their driving skills.<sup>475</sup>
- 7.23 Committee Members representing electorates with high rates of young driver fatalities reported a strong push by some schools for driver training which teaches advanced, defensive or low-risk driving skills. The Committee sought the views of academic road safety researchers on this proposition. Associate Professor Teresa Senserrick, Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research, University of New South Wales, advised:

Those advanced skill courses are of particular concern. They are attractive; people like them. They make sense because young people crash because they lose control of their vehicles, so people think that we need to teach them how to gain control of vehicles. It is really tough to tell people who dedicate their lives to doing this that it does not work and that actually it can increase risk for young men if you do it across an entire cohort.<sup>476</sup>

7.24 Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health (George Institute), opposed calls for advanced programs in schools:

I think it is really important for the Committee to understand about resisting calls for driver training—and not just advanced driver training but any kind of driver training in education—until we have very solid evidence that it is actually effective and it has a reasonable effect size in the same way that we get from graduated driver licensing.<sup>477</sup>

7.25 The Committee has made more detailed comments and findings in relation to advanced and defensive driver training earlier in this report.

#### **Resilience training**

7.26 The NSW Road Safety Education Program is based on the principle of developing students' knowledge, values, attitudes and behaviours.<sup>478</sup> Evidence presented by academic road safety researchers confirmed that education which establishes good habits from the very beginning is important for young people. They referred

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>475</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p33

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>476</sup> Teresa Senserrick, Associate Professor, TARS, University of New South Wales, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>477</sup> Professor Rebecca Ivers Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence,22 May 2017, p17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>478</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p6

to promising results emerging from resilience based education programs being trialled on in the United States. The results indicated that training young people aged 14 and 15 in strategies to deal with personal and social risk-taking behaviour not related to road safety could translate into better road behaviours later on.

7.27 Professor Ivers informed the Committee of her work on a resilience program run in Northern Rivers high schools:

If we were going to do anything, actually embedding those kinds of risk-taking behaviour programs deep into the school curriculum where teachers have a very standard curriculum that they are teaching—and they are educators trained to do that—you are actually more likely to get gains in road safety from those kinds of programs and then continue with our strong graduated driver licensing system.<sup>479</sup>

7.28 Associate Professor Senserrick agreed that resilience programs could have a positive effect in reducing crash risk for young people. She also endorsed the view that schools could further strengthen their focus on resilience training:

Even though they are not specifically a driver education program, they are a life skills program. A lot of programs in schools, in health programs and other areas, have this as part of their foundation, but it could be beefed up a bit to include some of those driving-type risks in the examples.<sup>480</sup>

7.29 Associate Professor Senserrick also stressed that there is a critical need for further evaluations of promising initiatives such as resilience training which target specific high risk groups.<sup>481</sup>

# Fear-based training

- 7.30 bstreetsmart is a program supported by Transport for NSW as a supplementary learning experience reinforcing school based education. The program consists of a one-day event, presented by the Westmead Hospital Trauma Service, which is designed to deliver road safety related education material to Year 10-12 students in New South Wales.
- 7.31 Transport for NSW advised that the objective of the program is to promote safe behaviour as drivers, riders and passengers and to reduce the fatality and injury rates of high school students. Transport for NSW further advised that the program provides students with a realistic look at the trauma caused by road crashes and gives students information and strategies for reducing their risk of injury or death.
- 7.32 Transport for NSW reported that in 2016 the event was attended by 19,802 students from 1,887 public, Catholic and independent schools. The event was also accessible nationally on the bstreetsmart website and via live streaming.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>479</sup> Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>480</sup> Teresa Senserrick, Associate Professor, TARS, University of New South Wales, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>481</sup> Submission 44, Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research, University of New South Wales, p2

- 7.33 An independent evaluation of the bstreetsmart program was conducted in 2014. Transport for NSW advised that it showed modest knowledge gains and an increased sense of risk aversion in relation to a range of risk factors including speeding, fatigue, mobile phone use while driving, alcohol and drugs, and passenger behaviour. The evaluation suggested, however, that student awareness could not be sustained long term without continued educational effort.
- 7.34 In response, Transport for NSW advised that the Centre for Road Safety has developed a set of teaching and learning materials to enable teachers to continue to reinforce the bstreetsmart program in the school context.<sup>482</sup>
- 7.35 In contrast to the support demonstrated by the Centre for Road Safety for the bstreetsmart program, the submission received from the RSE urged the Committee not to support any 'fear-based' programs for school students which include crash re-enactment or images of horrific injuries. In the view of the RSE, such programs fail both best evidence and governmental guidelines.<sup>483</sup>
- 7.36 It cited research which stated that fear-based approaches should not be used unless they are moderated by follow-up activities in order to empower students. It also noted that research has found that young people's main reaction to fear is to block it out and that other emotional techniques such as shame, guilt and responsibility are likely to be more effective. RSE informed the Committee that government road safety education guidelines across a number of jurisdictions clearly advise schools to avoid fear-based programs, but many still fund fear-based events.<sup>484</sup>

# Vulnerable road users

- 7.37 While several submissions broadly endorsed the provision of consistent and appropriate road safety education throughout the primary and secondary curriculum, bicycle advocates urged the inclusion of specific modules focussing on vulnerable road users. This was important, in their view, to ensure that the next generation of motorists are cyclist aware and are able to interact safely with other road users.<sup>485</sup>
- 7.38 Bicycle advocates also expressed concern that the number of children and young people riding bicycles has halved in recent decades. One suggestion to reverse this trend was the development and implementation of a statewide Ride2School program to support children riding and walking to school.<sup>486</sup> Bicycle advocates stressed the importance of students riding a bicycle in the early and middle school years so that they are able to gain practical experience in recognising hazards and assessing risks.<sup>487</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>482</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp33-34

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>483</sup> Submission 50, Road Safety Education Limited, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>484</sup> Submission 50, Road Safety Education Limited, p10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>485</sup> Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>486</sup> Submission 61, Bicycle Network, p17

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>487</sup> Dr Rod Katz, Chair of the Research and Policy Committee, Amy Gillett Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May
 2017, p69

- 7.39 Evidence presented by Transport for NSW indicated that as part of the PDHPE curriculum, students in Years 7 and 8 explore road risks, including how to be proactive about personal safety from the point of view of a vulnerable road user, including a pedestrian, a passenger, and a cyclist, as well as from the perspective of a future driver.<sup>488</sup>
- 7.40 The need for national consistency in educational materials regarding vulnerable road users was also raised. The Amy Gillett Foundation advised that the national Cycle Aware project funded by the Australian Research Council will provide the first national overview of cyclist-related content.<sup>489</sup>

# Early school leavers

- 7.41 Blue Datto is a New South Wales based registered charity which was established following the death of a 17-year-old apprentice in a crash in which both drivers were red 'P' platers. The Blue Datto school program gives priority to the Year 10 level in order to ensure that early school leavers receive safe driving education. There is also a community program which targets youths who may have already left high school education.<sup>490</sup> The need for driving and road safety education to capture early school leavers is also discussed elsewhere in this report.
- 7.42 Evidence presented by Blue Datto stressed the importance of Year 10 as this is when students are about to take up apprenticeships and so would miss the Crossroads Driver Education program in years 11 and 12. Mrs Erin Vassallo, Chief Executive Officer, Blue Datto, said:

There also might be different cultures in different communities about leaving school at year 10, and we should ensure that we address their needs because they are often involved in accidents.<sup>491</sup>

7.43 Mr Graham Spencer, Chair, Program Advisory Board, Blue Datto, further commented that Year 10 warrants a specific focus because this is the time when there is enormous interest in driving and when peer influence can be positive.<sup>492</sup> Blue Datto programs rely on peer mentors, who are Blue Datto-trained university undergraduates, to deliver attitude and behaviour messages relating to safe driving. Blue Datto proposed that further research be undertaken to understand the road safety benefits of youth mentoring.<sup>493</sup>

#### National curriculum and accreditation

7.44 The Committee received evidence that road safety educators are concerned at the lack of coherence in the programs delivered nationally in schools and the lack of enforcement of guidelines for best practice teaching and learning resources.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>488</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>489</sup> Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>490</sup> Submission 45, Blue Datto Foundation Limited, pp2-3

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>491</sup> Mrs Erin Vassallo, Chief Executive Officer, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p47
 <sup>492</sup> Mr Graham Spencer, Chair, Program and Advisory Board, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 22

May 2017, p47

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>493</sup> Submission 45, Blue Datto Foundation Limited, p6

- 7.45 New South Wales is the only state with specific road safety content as part of the school syllabus.<sup>494</sup> The RSE pointed out that road safety education is a mixture of government, not-for-profit and commercial programs. The extent to which these incorporate best practice principles varies widely. Most secondary schools rely on external providers or government developed curriculum resources. The RSE noted that governments produce guidelines to help schools choose best practice road safety education programs, but that many funded programs fail to meet these guidelines.<sup>495</sup> Mr Birss called for program accreditation and a stronger commitment by governments to giving guidance and enforcing guidelines.<sup>496</sup>
- 7.46 The RSE also expressed concern that the Australian draft national curriculum included few references to road safety education and gave little guidance for teachers on prioritising topics in health education according to statistically proven risk.<sup>497</sup> The ARSF proposed greater collaboration between national road safety education representatives to evaluate the effectiveness of courses and resources and to develop a national curriculum framework.<sup>498</sup>
- 7.47 Transport for NSW advised that the Road Safety Education Reference Group Australia (RSERGA), a network of road safety education professionals, meets four times a year to share and discuss school and early childhood road safety education initiatives.<sup>499</sup>

# Comment

- 7.48 Road safety education is a longstanding component of school education in New South Wales.
- 7.49 The NSW Government submission gave details of the school curriculum and how and when it is delivered.
- 7.50 We also heard from specialist school educators and others who put forward various positions on who should deliver road safety education in schools, at what ages this should occur, and which types of educational programs were more or less suitable.
- 7.51 We are satisfied that the New South Wales school curriculum is well founded and expertly delivered. We believe, however, that there may be advantages in the NSW Government examining the evidence put before us in order to understand what road safety improvements may be achieved.
- 7.52 In our view the universal accessibility of driver education materials on the internet is a compelling argument for schools, teachers, parents and learner drivers to have more effective guidance as to which courses and resources meet the required standard. As a recognised leader in Australian school-based road

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>494</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p74

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>495</sup> Submission 50, Road Safety Education Limited, pp9 & 11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>496</sup> Mr Terry Birss, Chief Executive Officer, Road Safety Education Limited, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>497</sup> Submission 50, Road Safety Education Limited, p7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>498</sup> Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, pp5 & 21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>499</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p74

safety education, Transport for NSW is well placed to lead and influence this discussion.

- 7.53 In particular, we recommend that the NSW Government examine:
  - (a) The ages at which particular road safety messages should be introduced in schools
  - (b) Whether fear-based programs are useful at any age
  - (c) How to better integrate road safety and driver education for students who have left school and are in TAFE and trade training
  - (d) Developments in resilience training for students which may improve the way we seek to develop safe driving attitudes and risk management skills in young people
  - (e) Whether there are any benefits to be gained from the introduction of a national road safety curriculum and national accreditation for road safety educators.

# **Recommendation 29**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW and the NSW Department of Education, in consultation with road safety researchers and educators, review the current road safety curriculum for students of all ages to identify the road safety benefits of:

- Introducing road safety messages to students at particular ages
- Fear-based education programs
- Opportunities to tailor Technical and Further Education courses to better integrate road safety and driver education with trade and literacy training
- The value of resilience training in developing safe driving attitudes and risk management skills
- A single national road safety curriculum and national accreditation for road safety educators.

# Chapter Eight – Vocational training, work and employment

#### Summary

This chapter discusses road safety education and training in trade training and in the workplace.

It is relevant to terms of reference:

b) Evaluating current driver training, including the effectiveness of refresher training and skills updating, and adaptation to changing vehicle technology

- c) The needs of any particular driver groups
- e) The needs of metropolitan, rural and regional drivers
- g) The costs of driver training standards and how they should be allocated
- i) Other related matters.

In Chapter Eight we consider the role of technical and further education in providing driver training, especially to disadvantaged learner drivers including indigenous people, and motorcyclists in rural and regional areas, as well as to apprentices as part of their trade training.

We also consider the role of health and safety training for employees who drive in the workplace, including heavy vehicle operators, and the responsibilities of manufacturers and fleet managers.

We recommend that the integration of driver training with vocational training be considered, and that the heavy vehicle industry and fleet managers be engaged to seek an industry-wide approach to workplace road safety.

# **Vocational training**

#### **Technical and Further Education**

8.1 A number of stakeholders acknowledged the vital role played by Technical and Further Education (TAFE) in targeting at-risk young male learner drivers in regional areas, and in providing access to driver licensing and vocational education for disadvantaged and indigenous young people.<sup>500</sup> In addition, Transport for NSW outlined the contribution of the TAFE system to the fulfilment of skills shortages in the heavy vehicle industry through its heavy vehicle

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>500</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp39-40; Submission 49, Aboriginal Legal Services (NSW/ACT) Limited; Submission 59, The Law Society of NSW; Submission 65, Literacy for Life Foundation; Submission 69, The George Institute for Global Health; Submission 72, NSW Council of Social Service

induction and refresher programs and a proposed new transport operator apprenticeship.<sup>501</sup>

8.2 The Committee also heard evidence of opportunities to tailor TAFE courses to better integrate road safety and driver education with trade and literacy training<sup>502</sup> and to improve access to post-licence training for motorcycle riders in rural and regional areas.<sup>503</sup> As discussed above, the Blue Datto Foundation Ltd (Blue Datto) stressed the importance of providing safe driving education in Year 10 to students planning to leave school early and of reinforcing those messages during TAFE training. Mrs Erin Vassallo, Chief Executive Officer, Blue Datto, observed that safe driving education at TAFE should be given priority considering that apprentices are already on the roads driving and are statistically at a very high risk.<sup>504</sup>

# Trade apprentices in regional areas

- 8.3 Transport for NSW and TAFE have established a partnership which targets young drivers who drive long distances to TAFE and to their work as apprentice trade people. Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, advised that in 2016, 600 trade apprentices in western New South Wales participated in a series of 'Towards Zero' road safety workshops. He said that, following the success of these workshops, further workshops are being planned and implemented across the state through the TAFE network.<sup>505</sup>
- 8.4 Recognising that young apprentices are driving solo for the first time, TAFE focuses on key road safety issues including speed, fatigue, animals on rural roads, mobile phone use, and drink and drug driving. An additional area of focus is the role played by parents and employers in influencing the road safety choices and behaviours of young drivers. This can be helping them to choose the safest vehicle, encouraging compliance with the speed limit, or encouraging them to take regular breaks when they travel. Transport for NSW informed the inquiry that further information resources, including an animated video and online modules, are currently being developed by TAFE and Roads and Maritime Services (RMS) for teachers, parents and employers.<sup>506</sup>
- 8.5 The Australian Road Safety Foundation (ARSF) urged the need for further expansion of driver training and education to rural and regional New South Wales through the TAFE network.<sup>507</sup> Transport for NSW advised that it will consult with stakeholders regarding further expansion of the partnership project.<sup>508</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>501</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>502</sup> Ms Jenny Lovric, Indigenous Issues Committee, Law Society of NSW and Professor Jack Beetson, Executive Director, Literacy for Life Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, pp2-3; Mr Russell White, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Road Safety Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p57;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>503</sup> Mr Brian Wood, Secretary, Motorcycle Council of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p42

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>504</sup> Mrs Erin Vassallo, Chief Executive Officer, Blue Datto Foundation Ltd, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, pp46 47

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>505</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p61

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>506</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp 39-40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>507</sup> Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, p14

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>508</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp 39-40

#### Indigenous and disadvantaged training needs

- 8.6 As discussed earlier in this report, the Driver Licensing Access Program (DLAP) has been established to increase equity of opportunity for disadvantaged Aboriginal people and other disadvantaged communities to obtain a driver licence and to be safe and legal road users. The program provides help with tasks such as licence enrolment, learner driver supervision, and debt negotiation and management. In 2016-17 Transport for NSW expanded the program to 14 providers, including some TAFE colleges, covering more than 50 geographic locations with the target of achieving 630 learner licences and 586 provisional licences for disadvantaged drivers.
- 8.7 The Committee was informed that consultation on the DLAP has been held by the NSW Advocate for Children and Young People. The Advocate identified that program coverage is patchy; that the service delivery model is variable; and that there are still barriers to licensing for many disadvantaged young people, including young people who are in out of home care, homeless, living remotely or who are Aboriginal. The Advocate further stated that it was imperative to continue to improve access to driver licensing for young people who are culturally and linguistically diverse.<sup>509</sup>
- 8.8 Evidence presented to the inquiry emphasised that, particularly for young indigenous people in rural and remote areas, a driver licence is vital for employment: Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health (George Institute), said:

If a young indigenous person without any qualifications cannot get a driver's licence because of unpaid fines, it can be difficult to get a job, because a driver's licence is effectively a qualification for employment for somebody who does not have any other skills, if one thinks of working for a council, or as a fork lift driver and so on. It is critically important, particularly when you consider that many young indigenous people live in rural and remote areas or in transport-disadvantaged parts of the city.<sup>510</sup>

8.9 Professor Jack Beetson, Executive Director, Literacy for Life Foundation, advised:

Adult literacy, at the very best in the communities, is 40 per cent low literacy; at worst it can be up to 80 per cent or 90 per cent in some communities. I am talking about adults 15 years and over.<sup>511</sup>

8.10 Professor Beetson cited research which found that a significant benefit from literacy training in disadvantaged indigenous communities was an increase in the number of previously unlicensed drivers who had been able to get permits and licenses. This was achieved through the campaign building participants' confidence and literacy skills, assisting them to work off unpaid fines through Work Development Orders, and connecting them with driver training providers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>509</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp44-45

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>510</sup> Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, The George Institute for Global Health, Transcript of evidence,22 May 2017, p10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>511</sup> Professor Jack Beetson, Executive Director, Literacy for Life Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p3

8.11 Professor Beetson pointed out that the success of the Aboriginal Adult Literacy Campaign, administered by his Foundation, arose from its non-accredited, informal community development approach, which empowers communities to take control from the outset. This contrasted with the high attrition rates recorded in the formal courses delivered by Registered Training Organisations (RTO).<sup>512</sup> Comparing the graduation rates of the Aboriginal Adult Literacy Campaign in Brewarrina with literacy education through TAFE, Professor Beetson observed:

Seventy-eight per cent of people graduated out of that campaign. If [you] look at TAFE and private providers in the literacy space, or certificate levels 1 and 2, you see that they are graduating 10 per cent of people, at best.<sup>513</sup>

8.12 A number of stakeholders proposed linking the Literacy for Life Foundation's model of adult education to driver education as a way forward to improving educational and employment opportunities for Aboriginal and other disadvantaged groups.<sup>514</sup> Transport for NSW advised the Committee that it will review the DLAP in 2017/18 to ensure that the needs of a broader group of disadvantaged young people are addressed; that the design reflects best practice in community-based road safety education and training; and that the program delivery is expanded to other locations. In its review Transport for NSW said it will seek the views of existing service providers, community Services (FACS), and the NSW Advocate for Children and Young People.<sup>515</sup>

#### Heavy vehicle operator training

- 8.13 Transport for NSW outlined the role of TAFE in heavy vehicle operator training. It also cited a TAFE project to identifying skill shortages in the transport industry. This project included a national survey of transport operators to identify which were the most critical skills required by truck drivers. The need for improved road safety skills, in particular, fatigue management skills, was a common theme amongst respondents. As a result of this project, TAFE NSW has proposed that a Transport Operator Apprenticeship course be developed and funded. This proposal is currently being considered at the national level by the independent government-funded national skills service organisation, Australian Industry Standards (AIS).<sup>516</sup>
- 8.14 Ms Melinda Bailey, Executive Director, Compliance and Regulatory Services, RMS assured the Committee:

The requirements for a heavy vehicle upgrade are certainly more stringent than for a car licence. You start with a car vehicle licence and in upgrading it not only is the practical component increased, but the other knowledge aspects of the requirements increase as we move from the rigid class into our heavy combination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>512</sup> Submission 65, Literacy for Life Foundation, p2

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>513</sup> Professor Jack Beetson, Executive Director, Literacy for Life Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p3
 <sup>514</sup> Ms Jenny Lovric, Indigenous Issues Committee, Law Society of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p3.
 See also Submissions, No. 49, Aboriginal Legal Services (NSW/ACT) Limited; No. 65, Literacy for Life Foundation; No.
 O. The George Institute for Clear Head Head Head Head Head Head Head Services.

<sup>69,</sup> The George Institute for Global Health; No. 72, NSW Council of Social Service

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>515</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p45

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>516</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p54

and then our highest risk vehicle, the multicombination. What might be of interest statistically is that our heavy vehicle licence holders are an increasing group in New South Wales. $^{517}$ 

8.15 The Transport for NSW witnesses told the Committee that while the number of heavy vehicle licence holders is increasing, there has been a marked decrease in the number of accidents and fatalities.<sup>518</sup>

#### Safety at work education for apprentices

- 8.16 Work-related road safety impacts on a large cross section of the community. The ARSF told the Committee that two out of three vehicles on the road are making a work-related trip. The risk of accident involvement is greater for drivers of work-related vehicles not only through higher levels of exposure to the road environment, but also time and scheduling pressures, work relationships and other distractions.<sup>519</sup>
- 8.17 Mr Carlon stressed the need for training programs to take account of the significant proportion of people who crash while driving a vehicle at work. The ARSF agreed that a stronger focus on road safety was required as part of workplace health and safety (WHS) responsibilities of employers and employees. Mr Russell White, Chief Executive Officer, ARSF, proposed that education about work-related driving and safety responsibilities should commence early and be directed to young apprentices as part of TAFE road safety education. <sup>520</sup>

#### Motorcycle rider training in regional areas

- 8.18 The Staysafe Committee's 2015 inquiry into motorcycle safety recommended the development of a post-licence training course and urged RMS to ensure adequate availability and accessibility of rider training courses in metropolitan, regional and rural New South Wales.<sup>521</sup> The Committee's recommendations on motorcycle safety and the NSW Government's response<sup>522</sup> are summarised in Appendix Four.
- 8.19 In its submission the Motorcycle Council of NSW reiterated its concern that access to post-licence training in rural areas continued to be limited.<sup>523</sup>
- 8.20 The Committee questioned whether there might be scope for more teaching and mentoring of post-licence riders to be delivered regionally through the TAFE network and at local government level. Mr Brian Wood, Secretary, Motorcycle Council conceded that this might be a solution, but held reservations about the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>517</sup> Ms Melinda Bailey, Executive Director, Compliance and Regulatory Services, Roads and Maritime Services, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p73

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>518</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, and Ms Melinda Bailey, Executive Director,
 Compliance and Regulatory Services, Roads and Maritime Services, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, pp70 & 73
 <sup>519</sup> Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, p16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>520</sup> Mr Russell White, Chief Executive Office, Australian Road Safety Foundation, Transcript of evidence, 22 May 2017, p57

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>521</sup> Joint Standing Committee on Road Safety (Staysafe), *Inquiry into Motorcycle Safety in NSW*, Report No 1/56, 19 November 2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>522</sup> Joint Standing Committee on Road Safety (Staysafe), *Inquiry into Motorcycle Safety in NSW*, Report No 1/56, 19 November 2015, Government Response, 20 May 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>523</sup> Submission 25, Motorcycle Council of NSW, p5

availability of accredited rider trainers and the cost of courses delivered through TAFE. He advised that the Motorcycle Council had sponsored training workshops in regional areas and encouraged other providers to do likewise, but the cost of providing such training was still a barrier to the uptake of post-licence training.<sup>524</sup>

- 8.21 Transport for NSW and RMS confirmed that they will review, and consider options to improve, the availability and accessibility of rider training and testing services across New South Wales. In its submission the Institute of Public Works Engineering Australasia (IPWEA) NSW proposed that local government Road Safety Officers (RSOs) could assist with delivery of rider training subject to support and funding. In addition, IPWEA proposed that there is a need for all road safety training to include content addressing variations in road conditions relevant to rural and regional areas, for example navigating roadworks, unsealed roads and floods.<sup>525</sup>
- 8.22 With regard to post-licence training options, Transport for NSW advised that a desktop review of 10 commercial training providers conducted in 2016 had revealed a diverse range of courses which could be tailored to the individual needs of motorcycle riders.<sup>526</sup>
- 8.23 As a result of its research, the Centre for Road Safety is considering the need to develop accreditation guidelines for post-licence rider training to provide consistency of course content state-wide and to ensure that courses include the rider skills and competencies which are evidence-based and proven to contribute to reduced crash risk. In addition Transport for NSW has advised that it will work with RMS and training providers to better promote appropriate courses for infrequent and returning riders.<sup>527</sup>
- 8.24 In relation to the cost of post-licence training, Transport for NSW acknowledged that the high cost may be a deterrent to riders pursuing refresher training. While pre-provisional training courses are subsidised by the NSW Government, this does not apply to any additional training.<sup>528</sup>
- 8.25 In addition, Transport for NSW informed the Committee that the current Motorcycle Rider Training Scheme will receive further attention as part of a broader review of the NSW Motorcycle Graduated Licensing Scheme (GLS).<sup>529</sup>

# Work and employment

# Workplace health and safety

8.26 Support was expressed by stakeholders for safe driver education to be provided in the workplace as part of the statutory obligations of employers regarding WHS, and chain of responsibility laws. Several submissions called for further policy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>524</sup> Mr Brian Wood, Secretary, Motorcycle Council of NSW, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p42

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>525</sup> Submission 16, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australasia (NSW), pp4-5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>526</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp 47-48

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>527</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p50

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>528</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p50

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>529</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, p47

development by government and for new training initiatives to be developed in consultation with the transport industry.<sup>530</sup>

- 8.27 The ARSF and the Transport Workers' Union (TWU) observed that while most major fleet owners take occupational health and safety and chain of responsibility obligations seriously, many smaller fleet operators and owner drivers still need to provide education and awareness raising.
- 8.28 The Amy Gillett Foundation reported that it is working in partnership with the transport and logistics company, the Toll Group, to develop a road safety program for truck drivers. This program is designed to make fleet and heavy goods vehicle drivers aware of the risks they pose to vulnerable road users and to make sure that they stay fit and healthy as well.<sup>531</sup> Mr Stewart Nicholls, Business Development Manager, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, told the Committee that, even in the larger fleets, there was still insufficient attention to WHS education.<sup>532</sup>

#### Workplace training

- 8.29 The ARSF pointed out that addressing road safety as a WHS issue will help to create a better standard of driver training and driver competence which will filter down to the broader public.<sup>533</sup> The ARSF further stressed that induction and on-going training programs should be provided in relation to any vehicle used at work, whether it is a liveried fleet vehicle or a private car used for business purposes. The ARSF argued that a well-trained driver reduces road trauma and its associated costs as well as reducing an employer's liability in meeting WHS and chain of responsibility obligations.<sup>534</sup>
- 8.30 The ARSF urged the need for phone-off policies in all government and private sector fleets in order to better control road safety risks arising from driver distraction. The ARSF also expressed concern that not enough was being done to deliver drug and alcohol education to drivers in the workplace.<sup>535</sup>
- 8.31 In his submission, Mr Ian Faulks, Safety and Policy Analysis International, drew attention to the need to clarify whether work-related driver training is an area for driving instructors or workplace safety practitioners.<sup>536</sup> In addition, Mr Faulks noted the valuable educative role played by local government RSOs who are often the first point of contact for business and fleet managers in dealing with issues like access routes, vehicle selection and use, and the training of staff and contractors in road safety.<sup>537</sup>

<sup>531</sup> Dr Rod Katz, Chair of the Research and Policy Committee, Amy Gillett Foundation, 22 May 2017, p70

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>530</sup> Submission 52, Transport Workers' Union, Submission 55, Submission 58, Australian Driver Trainers Association; Australian Road Safety Foundation; Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>532</sup> Mr Stewart Nicholls, Business Development Director. Ian Luff Motivation Australia and Drive to Survive, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p55

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 533}$  Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, pp 6 & 20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>534</sup> Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, pp 6 & 17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>535</sup> Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, pp19-20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>536</sup> Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>537</sup> Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p21

- 8.32 Mr Mick Savage, Manager, Roads and Transport Directorate, IPWEA, outlined a positive example of how RSOs work with the transport industry. He referred to a heavy vehicle forum to be held at Forbes which had been organised by the RSO, on behalf of three regional councils, to enable consultation on local vehicle freight issues between the local trucking industry and the National Heavy Vehicle Regulator.<sup>538</sup>
- 8.33 A number of submissions acknowledged the effectiveness of the National Road Safety Partnership Program as an information sharing resource for fleet managers which helps to foster a positive road safety culture amongst businesses. The ARSF urged ongoing collaboration by governments with the program.<sup>539</sup>
- 8.34 The Insurance Council of Australia (ICA) pointed to the contribution made by some insurance companies in giving risk management education to commercial fleet customers. These companies reportedly found that short, regular and relevant education improved workplace understanding of how to improve drivers' safety on the road.<sup>540</sup>

#### **Heavy vehicles**

- 8.35 The TWU wrote that the high and increasing number of heavy vehicle registrations in New South Wales makes road safety considerations in the industry very important.<sup>541</sup> While the union observed that the heavy vehicle industry has the highest number of fatalities and serious injuries of any industry nationally, Transport for NSW advised that in New South Wales the number of accidents has decreased.<sup>542</sup>
- 8.36 Mr Nick McIntosh, Assistant State Secretary, TWU, told the Committee that there has been a cultural shift over the past decade in the transport industry with regard to behaviour on the road. At the same time, however, he said that the competitive nature and cost structures of the industry undermine regulatory and educational efforts to improve road safety for heavy vehicles.<sup>543</sup> The TWU's submission described driver fatigue and the pressure to meet performance targets and deadlines, as endemic risk factors.<sup>544</sup>
- 8.37 With regard to the contribution made by education and training to accident and injury prevention, the TWU observed:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>538</sup> Mr Mick Savage, Manager, Roads and Transport Directorate, Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p4

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>539</sup> Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p5; Submission 55, Australian Roads Safety Foundation pp18 & 21;
 Submission 70, Mr Len Woodman, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>540</sup> Submission 76, Insurance Council of Australia, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>541</sup> Submission 52, Transport Workers' Union, p2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>542</sup>; Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, and Ms Melinda Bailey, Executive Director, Compliance and Regulatory Services, Roads and Maritime Services, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017 p73

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>543</sup> Mr Nick McIntosh, Assistant State Secretary, Transport Workers Union, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, p12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>544</sup> Submission 52, Transport Workers' Union, p2

Whilst training and education is certainly not a silver bullet in and of itself when it comes to road safety in the heavy vehicle industry, it nevertheless cannot be overlooked as an important enabler of safety outcomes.<sup>545</sup>

#### Heavy vehicle training requirements

- 8.38 There are currently five licence classes for heavy vehicles light rigid, medium rigid, heavy rigid, heavy combination and multi combination.<sup>546</sup> Training requirements and qualifications for each class of vehicle are set out under the New South Wales heavy vehicle licensing framework which requires drivers to progressively build and gain experience from smaller to larger heavy vehicles. Drivers undertake knowledge and practical testing relevant to the vehicle in which they are applying to drive. The Heavy Vehicle Competency Based Assessment (HVCBA) scheme provides training in the operation of a heavy vehicle and in securing loads. The New South Wales competency requirements derive from the National Heavy Vehicle Competency Based Framework which was jointly developed by jurisdictions across Australia.
- 8.39 Under the national competency framework, all training and assessment must be provided by qualified heavy vehicle driving instructors who have been approved as accredited assessors with a Registered Training Organisation (RTO). Following Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC) investigations into the driver training industry reported in 2014, measures have been put in place by RMS to strengthen governance and improve the integrity of the HVCBA scheme. Transport for NSW informed the Committee that efforts to date include the introduction of a number of scheme-specific policies and procedures; the use of in-cabin cameras; and a requirement for the separation of training and assessment processes.
- 8.40 Transport for NSW also foreshadowed additional measures which it will put in place to ensure that the regulatory objectives of the HVCBA scheme are achieved. These include improved management of the RTOs in relation to education, auditing and sanctioning, and the introduction of a robust communications policy to enable better communication between stakeholders. With regard to the affordability of training under the HVCBA scheme, Transport for NSW advised that the costs of the HVCBA are set by the private market.<sup>547</sup>
- 8.41 In relation to the operation of the HVCBA scheme, the TWU expressed concern at the decline in the number of RTOs, especially in rural and regional areas, and at the lack of continuing education for heavy vehicle drivers beyond the initial licensing process. The TWU is itself involved in the provision of workplace training through the Transport Education Audit Compliance Health Organisation (TEACHO) which administers the Bluecard training system. This was established by the TWU in conjunction with employers and industry to provide assistance to transport workers and employers in relation to career pathways, training, industrial rights, research, and health and safety issues.<sup>548</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>545</sup> Submission 52, Transport Workers' Union, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>546</sup> Submission 52, Transport Workers' Union, p3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>547</sup> Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp53-54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>548</sup> Submission 52, Transport Workers' Union, p4

8.42 The TWU observed that the costs associated with ongoing driver training and education, and the lack of incentives available to drivers may account for the low participation rates in driver education and training across the industry. It concluded that there was a need for a more professionally structured and coordinated industry-wide approach to driver education and training to share responsibility across all stakeholders.<sup>549</sup>

#### The responsibilities of manufacturers and fleet managers

#### Emerging vehicle technologies

- 8.43 Many submissions highlighted the need for driver and road safety education to include the correct operation of new and emerging vehicle technologies and suggested that vehicle manufacturers be included in training and education strategies.<sup>550</sup>
- 8.44 Transport for NSW acknowledged that connected and automated vehicles (CAV) will provide drivers with new functions that are currently not taught in driver training. Transport for NSW suggested that manufacturers could train drivers on a pre-approved curriculum. On receipt of proof of training, RMS could endorse the driver's licence for operation of a CAV. Alternatively, drivers could be required to certify that they have received and understood manufacturer-provided instructions on the safe and lawful operation of the vehicle.<sup>551</sup>
- 8.45 Dr Elizabeth Coombs, A/NSW Privacy Commissioner, drew the Committee's attention to the privacy implications of automated vehicle technology as another area which impacts on driver training.<sup>552</sup> The Staysafe Committee raised this issue in its 2016 report on driverless vehicles and road safety as one requiring further study.<sup>553</sup>
- 8.46 Mr Carlon advised that the NSW government encourages the dissemination of vehicles with new safety features through its fleet procurement policy which requires the purchase of five-star rated vehicles. He noted that from 2018, the Australasian New Car Assessment Program (ANCAP) will adopt Euro NCAP standards so that driver-assist, automatic braking, and adaptive cruise control technologies will be more widely available on the Australian market. He advised that at present the rate of take-up of five-star rated vehicles is significantly lower in the light truck sector compared with light passenger vehicles. Mr Carlon observed that while there is still a long way to go, major fleets have a responsibility to incentivise the market to educate the public to choose five-star rated vehicles.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>549</sup> Submission 52, Transport Workers' Union, pp6-7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>550</sup> Submission 11, Mr Peter Macpherson, pp2-3; Submission 16, IPWEA (NSW) p19; Submission 19, Police Citizens Youth Clubs, p11; Submission 23, Mr Charles Lowe, pp7-8; Submission 30, NSW Driver Trainers Association p5; Submission 40, Amy Gillett Foundation, p5; Submission 55, Australian Road Safety Foundation, p11; Submission 66, Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd, pp 5 & 13; Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p7; Submission 70, Mr Len Woodman, pp3-4; Submission 71, Mr Ian Faulks, p8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>551</sup> Submission 67, National Motorists Association Australia, p8; Submission 75, Transport for NSW, pp68-69

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>552</sup> Submission 4, Dr Elizabeth Coombs, A/NSW Privacy Commissioner, p1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>553</sup> <u>https://www.parliament.nsw.gov.au/committees/inquiries/Pages/inquiry-details.aspx?pk=1972</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>554</sup> Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, Transcript of evidence, 29 May 2017, pp70-71

#### Comment

- 8.47 We agree that there are opportunities for TAFE courses to better integrate road safety and driver education with trade and literacy training. In this regard we have commented earlier on the schemes to assist disadvantaged learner drivers, delivered by TAFE and other providers, which make these links.
- 8.48 We also agree with the proposition that safe driving education be taught to trade apprentices and include a strong focus on road safety in relation to the health and safety legislation chain of responsibility. We urge Transport for NSW and RMS to further consult with TAFE, industry representatives and the relevant WHS authorities to explore possibilities for designing innovative programs in this area.
- 8.49 In our previous report we urged Transport for NSW to consider whether there are opportunities for a wider dissemination of rider training workshops through TAFE and at the local government level through the Local Government Road Safety Program (LGRSP). We draw attention to these opportunities again.
- 8.50 We note the value of stakeholder and industry liaison generally in order to better understand driver and industry needs, and encourage all parties to establish and maintain close consultative relationships.

#### **Recommendation 30**

The Committee recommends that Transport for NSW and Roads and Maritime Services:

- Engage with TAFE NSW to ensure road safety training is an integral part of vocational training
- Liaise with the heavy vehicle industry and fleet managers to seek an industry-wide approach to workplace road safety, including strategies which recognise emerging vehicle technologies and promote safe vehicle selection.

## Appendix One – Conduct of inquiry

#### **Terms of Reference**

The Committee resolved to conduct the inquiry and adopted the terms of reference on Wednesday 9 November 2016. On the same date the Committee resolved to advertise the inquiry on its website from Wednesday 16 November 2016.

The Chair of the Committee also issued a media release on Wednesday 16 November 2016 seeking public submissions. In addition, the Chair wrote to around 110 organisations representing various groups of road users, inviting submissions. These included government departments and agencies, local government road safety engineers, academics, road safety educators, young driver educators, and advocates of driver trainers, motorists, older drivers, Aboriginal driver, disabled drivers, pedestrians, bicyclists, transport workers, motorcyclists and insurance providers. Submissions closed on Monday 20 February 2017. An extension was granted until Monday 27 March 2017 to allow for receipt of the NSW Government submission.

#### Submissions

The Committee received 78 submissions. A full list of submissions is included in Appendix Two. The Committee resolved to publish all of the submissions and these are available on the Committee's webpage at:

https://www.parliament.nsw.gov.au/committees/inquiries/Pages/inquirydetails.aspx?pk=2422#tab-submissions.

Six submissions were published with the name suppressed. This was by request or with the agreement of the author. One submission was made partially confidential at the request of the author.

#### Hearings

On Thursday 18 May 2017, the Committee published a second media release announcing the conduct of two public hearings. The Committee held its first public hearing at Parliament House on Monday 22 May 2017 at which it heard 24 witnesses.

The Committee held the second public hearing on Monday 29 May 2017 at which it heard 17 witnesses. A list of witnesses who appeared at each hearing is available at Appendix Three. Full transcripts of the hearings and responses to questions taken on notice or which were sent to witnesses by the Committee after the public hearings are also available on the Committee's webpage.

# Appendix Two – Submissions

| 1  | Mr Rob Laidlaw   |
|----|--|
| 2  | Mr Ashley Boland   |
| 3  | Safe2go  |
| 4  | Office of the Privacy Commissioner                       |
| 5  | Mr Robert Carter   |
| 6  | Name suppressed  |
| 7  | Mr Michael MacLaurin                                     |
| 8  | Mr Grant Mistler   |
| 9  | Mr Barry Cole  |
| 10 | Advancing Projects Pty Ltd                               |
| 11 | Mr Peter Macpherson                                      |
| 12 | Mr Gary Cook   |
| 13 | Mr P T Gough   |
| 14 | Ms June Beckett  |
| 15 | Mr Eddie Tredrea   |
| 16 | Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia (NSW)    |
| 17 | Combined Pensioners and Superannuants Association        |
| 18 | Mr John Handley  |
| 19 | Police Citizens Youth Clubs NSW Limited                  |
| 20 | Mr Michael King  |
| 21 | Alzheimer's Australia NSW                                |
| 22 | Mr Benny Horn  |
| 23 | Mr Charles Lowe  |
| 24 | Australian Cycle Alliance                                |
| 25 | Motorcycle Council of NSW                                |
| 26 | Mr Nigel Withers   |
| 27 | ii-drive Pty Ltd   |
| 28 | Mr Rolf Muller   |
| 29 | Ms Faye Roberts  |
| 30 | NSW Driver Trainers Association                          |
| 31 | Mr Sam Reich   |
| 32 | Name suppressed  |
| 33 | Information on Disability & Education Awareness Services |

| 34  | Mr Terry Craig                              |
|-----|---|
| 35  | Mr Martin Geliot                            |
| 36  | Ms Helia Wolfson                            |
| 37  | Dr John-Paul Bossi                          |
| 38  | Mr Derek Wolfson                            |
| 39  | Mr Geoff Ashton                             |
| 40  | Amy Gillett Foundation                      |
| 41  | Mr Tony Arnold                              |
| 42  | Mr Gilbert Grace                            |
| 43  | CASAR Park                                  |
| 44  | Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research   |
| 45  | Blue Datto Foundation Ltd                   |
| 46  | Mr Daniel Woodall                           |
| 47  | Bicycle NSW                                 |
| 48  | Mr John Ferranda                            |
| 49  | Aboriginal Legal Services (NSW/ACT) Limited |
| 50  | Road Safety Education Limited               |
| 51  | National Roads and Motorists' Association   |
| 51a | National Roads and Motorists' Association   |
| 52  | Transport Workers' Union of NSW             |
| 53  | Mr Daniel Endicott                          |
| 54  | Name suppressed                             |
| 55  | Australian Road Safety Foundation           |
| 56  | Mr David Jackson                            |
| 57  | Ms Julie Abbottsmith                        |
| 58  | Australian Driver Trainers Association      |
| 59  | The Law Society of New South Wales          |
| 60  | Occupational Therapy Australia              |
| 61  | Bicycle Network                             |
| 62  | Academy of Road Safety                      |
| 63  | Name suppressed                             |
| 64  | Awesome Driving School                      |
| 65  | Literacy for Life Foundation                |
| 66  | Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd       |
| 67  | National Motorist Association Australia     |
| 68  | City of Sydney                              |
|     |   |

| 69 | The George Institute for Global Health  |
|----|---|
| 70 | Mr Len Woodman                          |
| 71 | Mr Ian Faulks                           |
| 72 | NSW Council of Social Service           |
| 73 | Advocate for Children and Young People  |
| 74 | Pedestrian Council of Australia Limited |
| 75 | Transport for NSW                       |
| 76 | Insurance Council of Australia          |
| 77 | Mr Bill Woods                           |
| 78 | Name suppressed                         |
|    |   |

## Appendix Three – Witnesses

### Monday 22 May 2017

#### McKell Room, Parliament of New South Wales

| son  | Literacy for Life Foundation   |
|--|--|
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  | Aboriginal Legal Service   |
|  |  |
|  | The Law Society of New South Wales   |
| ommittee   |  |
|  | NSW Council of Social Services   |
| cer  |  |
| vers   | The George Institute of Global Health  |
| sion   | -  |
|  | The George Institute of Global Health  |
| ury Division   | -  |
| Teresa Senserrick  | Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research  |
| 5  | Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research  |
| ow   |  |
|  | NSW Driver Trainers Association  |
|  |  |
|  | Australian Driver Trainers Association   |
|  |  |
|  | Pedestrian Council of Australia  |
| cer  |  |
|  | Police Citizens Youth Clubs  |
| Driver Education   |  |
|  |  |
|  | Police Citizens Youth Clubs  |
| Programs & Activities  |  |
|  | Blue Datto Foundation Ltd  |
| cer  |  |
|  | Blue Datto Foundation Ltd  |
| lvisory Board  |  |
|  | Road Safety Education Limited  |
| cer  |  |
| 11   | Road Safety Education Limited  |
|  |  |
|  | Australian Road Safety Foundation  |
| cer  | -  |
|  | Insurance Council of Australia   |
| olicy, Risk and Disaster                                     |  |
|  |  |
|  | Insurance Australia Group  |
|  |  |
| Driver Education Programs & Activities cer lvisory Board cer | Pedestrian Council of AustraliaPolice Citizens Youth ClubsPolice Citizens Youth ClubsBlue Datto Foundation LtdBlue Datto Foundation LtdRoad Safety Education LimitedRoad Safety Education LimitedAustralian Road Safety FoundationInsurance Council of Australia |

| Mr Robert McDonald                         | Insurance Australia Group |  |
|--|---------------------------|--|
| Director of Research Initiatives           |                           |  |
| Dr Rob Katz                                | Amy Gillett Foundation    |  |
| Chair of the Research and Policy Committee |                           |  |
| Mr Ray Rice                                | Bicycle NSW               |  |
| Advocacy Manager                           |                           |  |
| Ms Sara Stace                              | Australian Cycle Alliance |  |
| Secretary                                  |                           |  |

### Monday 29 May 2017

### McKell Room, Parliament of New South Wales

| Witness                                    | Organisation                             |
|--|--|
| Mr Mick Savage                             | Institute of Public Works Engineering    |
| Manager Roads & Transport Directorate      | Australia                                |
| Mr Nick McIntosh                           | Transport Workers' Union                 |
| Assistant State Secretary                  |  |
| Ms Louise de Plater                        | Transport Workers' Union                 |
| Legal Officer                              |  |
| Mr Paul Versteege                          | Combined Pensioners and Superannuants    |
| Policy Coordinator                         | Association                              |
| Ms Diana Palmer                            | Information on Disability and Awareness  |
| Executive Officer                          | Services (IDEAS)                         |
| Ms Lyndall Cook                            | Occupational Therapy Australia           |
| Driver Trained Occupational Therapist and  |  |
| Industry Advisor                           |  |
| Ms Anita Volkert                           | Occupational Therapy Australia           |
| National Manager: Professional Standards   |  |
| Ms Susan McCarthy                          | Alzheimer's Australia NSW                |
| General Manager, Services, Policy and      |  |
| Research                                   |  |
| Mr Brian Wood                              | Motorcycle Council of NSW                |
| Secretary                                  |  |
| Mr Michael Lane                            | National Motorists Association Australia |
| National Spokesman                         |  |
| Mr Graham Pryor                            | National Motorists Association Australia |
| National Liaison Officer                   |  |
| Mr Stewart Nicholls                        | Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd    |
| Business Development Director              |  |
| Mr Bernard Carlon                          | Transport for NSW                        |
| Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety |  |
| Ms Melinda Bailey                          | Roads and Maritime Services              |
| Executive Director, Compliance and         |  |
| Regulatory Services                        |  |

## Appendix Four – Relevant reports of other Parliamentary Committees

In the course of this inquiry, we noted previous parliamentary inquiries which made recommendations about issues which come within our terms of reference.

These reports are:

- Driver Licence Disqualification Reform
- Access to Transport for Seniors and Disadvantaged People in Rural and Regional NSW
- Improving Legal and Safe Driving Among Aboriginal People
- Motorcycle Safety in NSW

While we have considered these inquiries and their recommendations, we have not sought to duplicate them or bring them into the ambit of this report. Rather we list them here for the sake of completeness and so that they may be referred to in reading this report.

#### **Driver Licence Disqualification Reform**

In 2013, the Legislative Assembly Committee on Law and Safety conducted an inquiry into whether the laws relating to unauthorised driving offences should be reformed. At the time, unauthorised driving offences were the third most common offence of which individuals were found guilty in Local Courts.

The Committee found that penalties and licence disqualification periods for unauthorised driving were disproportionate to the seriousness of the offence. Some unauthorised driving offenses carried penalties and disqualification periods greater than those for drink driving or other dangerous driving offences.

Licence disqualification periods were mandatory for unauthorised driving offences, irrespective of the circumstances of the case. The disqualification periods were also cumulative while disqualification periods for major road transport offences (including murder and manslaughter involving a vehicle) could be served concurrently.

Those in regional and rural communities, where there is limited access to public transport were particularly affected by lengthy licence disqualification. Without a driver licence, everyday tasks such as commuting to work, taking children to school, grocery shopping and attending medical appointments can become very difficult.

Long disqualification periods were also found to be ineffective as a deterrent with statistics showing that some unauthorised drivers continued to re-offend by getting back behind the wheel.

The Committee published its report on 21 November 2013 and made 16 recommendations including giving the courts more discretion to impose disqualification periods that distinguish

between different offenders; reviewing the maximum penalties to ensure they are proportionate to the offences; and introducing vehicle sanctions for offenders who repeatedly drive while disqualified.

The Government responded to the report on 20 June 2014 and supported all the report's recommendations.

The inquiry into driver licence disqualification reform is relevant to this report's discussion of the impact of the justice system on indigenous drivers, and on the needs of rural and regional drivers in particular.

#### Access to Transport for Seniors and Disadvantaged People in Rural and Regional NSW

In 2016, the Legislative Assembly Committee on Community Services conducted an inquiry into how to overcome the lack of transport options in remote areas. The Committee gave particular attention to the situation of seniors, Aboriginal people, people with a disability and social housing tenants.

The main issues raised during the inquiry were the poor coordination of rural and regional transport, and the need for more flexible transport options and more accessible transport infrastructure. The high cost of transport in rural and regional areas and the need for better information about services and transport concessions were also areas of concern.

This report also acknowledged the barriers that prevent Aboriginal people from getting their driver licence and extended disqualification periods having a significant impact on individuals and their communities. The Committee noted the Driving Change Program had had some success in overcoming these barriers.

The Committee published its report on 19 December 2016 and made 19 recommendations focusing on improving the coordination, flexibility and accessibility of transport services. It also recommended that the Driving Change Program be extended to more communities across New South Wales.

The Government responded to the report on 19 June 2017 and broadly supported the report's recommendations.

The inquiry into access to transport for seniors and disadvantaged people in rural and regional New South Wales is relevant to this report's discussion of the impact of the justice system on indigenous drivers, and on the needs of rural and regional drivers, including older drivers.

#### Improving Legal and Safe Driving Among Aboriginal People

The 1991 report into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody identified the connection between a high prevalence of motor vehicle offences by Aboriginal people and their subsequent imprisonment. The report recommended that the factors relevant to motor vehicle offences that lead to imprisonment be identified and that programs be designed, in conjunction with Aboriginal communities, to reduce the incidence of offending.

In 2013, the New South Wales Auditor-General examined the success of NSW Government actions aimed at improving legal and safe driving among Aboriginal people. The audit sought to identify barriers within the licensing and vehicle registration process, the fines enforcement

process and the justice system, and whether actions to address these barriers had been effective.

The Auditor-General found that unlicensed driving among Aboriginal people was a complex problem. The underlying socio-economic factors and disadvantage among Aboriginal people was a contributing factor while barriers also existed across a range of government portfolios. The Auditor-General concluded that existing government responses to improve legal and safe driving for Aboriginal people had had little overall impact. The inherent barriers within the licensing registration process, fines enforcement process and justice system were acknowledged and well understood by all agencies. However, without sustained and coordinated action from the NSW Government as a whole, the barriers that prevent Aboriginal people getting and retaining a driver licence would continue to exist.

The Audit Office published its report on 19 December 2013 and made recommendations to a number of government agencies in three major areas - getting a driver licence, retaining or regaining a driver licence and developing a whole-of-government response.

The government agencies were broadly supportive of the recommendations, although the NSW Police Force expressed concern regarding the detailed recommendation requiring the collection of data identifying Aboriginality.

As part of its legislative responsibility, 12 months following the publication of the Auditor-General's report the Legislative Assembly Public Accounts Committee examined the Government's progress at implementing the report's recommendations.

The Committee was not satisfied that the recommendations had been fully implemented and conducted a public hearing to seek further information from the agencies involved. The Legislative Assembly Public Accounts Committee published its review of the Auditor-General's report on 15 March 2015 and made two recommendations relating to the implementation of the inter-agency group focussed on increasing the number of Aboriginal people with an unrestricted licence.

The Government responded to the report on 15 September 2016 and supported the recommendations.

The inquiry into improving legal and safe driving among Aboriginal people is relevant to this report's discussion of the impact of the justice system on indigenous drivers.

#### **Motorcycle Safety in NSW**

In 2015, this Committee conducted an inquiry into why motorcyclists were over-represented in New South Wales road trauma and reviewed existing safety actions designed to reduce motorcycle crashes.

The Committee published its report on 19 November 2015 and made 22 recommendations including calling for a greater use of technology, inventive policy solutions and improved partnerships.

A number of recommendations aimed to enhance driver skills, behaviour and awareness of riders and to improve the interaction between riders and other road users.

The Committee recommended reviewing the NSW Graduated Licensing Scheme to reflect best practice and recent developments in other Australian jurisdictions.

The report also highlighted the importance of adequate support and ongoing professional training for riding instructors and recommended that the supply shortage of rider training courses in rural and regional New South Wales be addressed.

The Government responded to the report on 23 May 2016 and supported all but one of the recommendations.

The inquiry into motorcycle safety in New South Wales is relevant to this report's discussion of post-licence driver training and testing, and driver education.

### Appendix Five – Extracts from minutes

#### **MINUTES OF MEETING No 13**

9 November 2016 Room 1254, Parliament House

#### **Members present**

Mr Greg Aplin MP (Chair), The Hon Scott Farlow MLC (Deputy Chair), Mr Adam Crouch MP, Dr Mehreen Faruqi MLC, Mr Chris Gulaptis MP, Mr Nick Lalich MP, The Hon Daniel Mookhey MLC.

#### Officers in attendance

Elaine Schofield, David Hale, Jennifer Gallagher.

The Chair opened the meeting at 1.00pm.

1. Apologies Ms Eleni Petinos MP.

#### 2. Confirmation of minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Lalich, seconded by Mr Crouch: That the minutes of Meeting No 12, held on 12 October 2016, be confirmed.

3. \*\*\*

#### 4. New inquiry

# 4.1 Consideration of the terms of reference for the inquiry into *Driver education, training and road safety*

The Chair invited the members to consider the proposed inquiry. Discussion ensued.

Resolved on the motion of Mr Crouch, seconded by Mr Lalich, that the Committee adopts the following terms of reference for the inquiry into *Driver education*, *training and road safety*:

The Committee will inquire into, and report on, the role of whole-of-life driver education and training in supporting improved road safety outcomes in New South Wales, with particular reference to:

- a. Trends in road safety research and crash statistics
- b. Evaluating current driver training, including the effectiveness of refresher training and skills updating, and adaptation to changing vehicle technology
- c. The needs of any particular driver groups
- d. The needs of driver trainers, both professional and non-professional
- e. The needs of metropolitan, rural and regional drivers
- f. The needs and expectations of passengers and other road users
- g. The cost of driver training standards and how the costs should be allocated

- h. The experience of other jurisdictions, and interstate cross border issues
- i. Other related matters.

#### 4.2 Call for submissions

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Gulaptis, seconded by Mr Mookhey:

- That the Committee calls for submissions and advertises the inquiry on the Committee's website, by close of business on Wednesday 16 November 2016.
- That the closing date for submissions be Monday 20 February 2017.
- That the Chair issues a press release promoting the inquiry.

#### 4.3 Proposed list of stakeholders to be invited to make a submission

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Farlow, seconded by Mr Crouch:

That the Chair and Committee staff prepare a list of stakeholders to invite to make submissions to the inquiry, and members advise staff of any additional stakeholders.

#### 5. Next Meeting

The Chair closed the meeting at 1.19pm. The next meeting will be held on a date to be confirmed.

#### MINUTES OF MEETING No 14

29 March 2017 Room 1043, Parliament House

#### **Members present**

Mr Greg Aplin MP (Chair), The Hon Scott Farlow MLC (Deputy Chair), Mr Adam Crouch MP, Dr Mehreen Faruqi MLC, Mr Chris Gulaptis MP, Mr Nick Lalich MP, The Hon Daniel Mookhey MLC, Ms Eleni Petinos MP.

#### **Officers in attendance**

David Hale, Jacqueline Isles, Christopher Herbert.

The Chair opened the meeting at 1.05pm.

#### 1. Apologies

There were no apologies.

#### 2. Confirmation of minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Crouch, seconded by Ms Petinos: That the minutes of Meeting No 13, held on 9 November 2016, be confirmed.

4. \*\*\*

5. \*\*\*

#### 6. Inquiry into driver education, training and road safety

#### 6.1. Consideration of submissions

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Farlow, seconded by Mr Gulaptis: That the Committee:

- publish submissions numbered 6, 32, 54 and 63 with the authors' names withheld;
- publish all other submissions numbered 1 to 75 in full; and
- redact from any published submission all signatures and direct contact details, and any information which identifies any third party by name, address or business location, or which has the potential to defame any third party or expose anyone to unwanted attention.

#### 6.2. Confirmation of dates for public hearings

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Mookhey, seconded by Ms Petinos: That the Committee hold public hearings at Parliament House on Monday 22 May 2017 and Monday 29 May 2017, that the Chair issue a media release announcing the public hearings, and that the Chair and secretariat be authorised to make all arrangements necessary to support the holding of the public hearings.

Dr Faruqi advised that she is unavailable on Monday 22 May 2017.

#### 6.3. Witnesses to be invited to public hearing

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Gulaptis, seconded by Ms Petinos: That the Chair and secretariat compile a witness list and hearing schedule and distribute to Committee members for comment prior to issuing invitations.

7. \*\*\*

#### 8. Next Meeting

The Committee adjourned at 1.24pm until the next meeting on Monday 22 May 2017.

#### MINUTES OF MEETING NO 15

22 May 2017 8.45 am McKell Room, Parliament House

#### **Members Present:**

Mr Greg Aplin MP (Chair), The Hon. Scott Farlow MLC (Deputy Chair), Mr Adam Crouch MP, The Hon. Thomas George MP, Ms Eleni Petinos MP.

#### **Officers in Attendance**

David Hale, Christopher Herbert, Jacqueline Isles, Abegail Turingan.

#### 1. Apologies

Dr Mehreen Faruqi MLC, Mr Nick Lalich MP, The Hon. Daniel Mookhey MLC

#### 2. Confirmation of minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Crouch: That the minutes of Meeting No. 14, held on 29 March 2017, be confirmed.

#### 3. Inquiry into Driver Education, Training and Road Safety

#### 3.1 Consideration of submissions

The Committee noted that submission 76 had been received from the Insurance Council of Australia.

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Farlow: That the Committee publish submission 76 with signature and direct contact details redacted.

#### 3.2 Public Hearing

#### 3.2.1 Media

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Petinos: That the Committee authorises the audiovisual recording, photography and broadcasting of the public hearing on 22 May 2017 in accordance with the NSW Legislative Assembly's guidelines for coverage of proceedings for parliamentary committees administered by the Legislative Assembly.

#### 3.2.2 Transcript of evidence

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Crouch: That the Committee authorises the publication of the corrected transcript of evidence given on 22 May 2017 on the Committee's website.

#### 3.2.3 Questions on notice

Resolved, on the motion of Mr George: That witnesses be requested to return answers to questions taken on notice within ten working days of the date on which the questions are forwarded to the witness, and that once received, answers be published on the Committee's website.

#### **3.2.4** Documents tendered

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Farlow: That documents tendered during the public hearing be accepted by the Committee, reviewed and published on the Committee's website.

#### 4. \*\*\*

The Committee adjourned at 8.55 am

At 9:00 am, the Chair declared the public hearing open and witnesses and the public were admitted.

Literacy for Life Foundation

Professor Jack Beetson, Executive Director, was affirmed and examined.

#### Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) Ltd

Ms Nadine Miles, Chief Legal Officer, was affirmed and examined.

#### The Law Society of New South Wales

Ms Jenny Lovric, Indigenous Issues Committee, was affirmed and examined.

#### NSW Council of Social Service

Mrs Tracy Howe, Chief Executive Officer, was sworn and examined.

#### The George Institute for Global Health

Professor Rebecca Ivers, Director, Injury Division, was affirmed and examined. Dr Lisa Keay, Deputy Director, Injury Division, was affirmed and examined.

#### Transport and Road Safety (TARS) Research

Professor Teresa Senserrick, Associate Professor, Transport and Road Safety Research, was affirmed and examined.

Dr Soufiane Boufous, Senior Research Fellow, was affirmed and examined.

#### NSW Driver Trainers Association

Mr Anthony Cope, President, NSW Driver Trainers Association was sworn and examined. Mr Michael Humphries, General Manager, Australian Driver Trainers Association, was sworn and examined.

*Pedestrian Council of Australia* Mr Harold Scruby, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer, was affirmed and examined.

#### Police Citizens Youth Club

Ms Jenny Davidson, State Coordinator-Driver Education Programs, was sworn and examined. Mr Justin Hayes, General Manager-Programs & Activities, was sworn and examined.

#### Blue Datto Foundation Ltd

Mrs Erin Vassallo, Chief Executive Officer & Co-Founder, was sworn and examined. Mr Graham Spencer, Chair of Program Advisory Board, was sworn and examined.

#### Road Safety Education Limited

Mr Terry Birss, Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director, was affirmed and examined. Ms Brooke O'Donnell, General Manager Education & Communications, was affirmed and examined.

Australian Road Safety Foundation Mr Russell White, Chief Executive Officer, was sworn and examined.

#### Insurance Council of Australia

Mr Karl Sullivan, General Manager Policy, Risk and Disaster Planning, was sworn and examined.

#### Insurance Australia Group

Mrs Naomi Graham, Manager Public Policy and Industry Affairs, was affirmed and examined. Mr Robert McDonald, Director of Research Initiatives, was affirmed and examined.

#### Amy Gillett Foundation

Dr Rod Katz, Board Member, was affirmed and examined.

#### Bicycle NSW

Mr Ray Rice, Advocacy Manager, was sworn and examined.

#### Australian Cycle Alliance

Ms Sara Stace, Director, was affirmed and examined.

Evidence concluded, the witnesses and public withdrew.

#### 5. Next Meeting

The Committee adjourned at 4.45 pm until the next meeting, on Monday 29 May at 8.45 am, McKell Room.

#### **MINUTES OF MEETING NO 16**

29 May 2017 8.50 am McKell Room, Parliament House

#### Members present:

Mr Greg Aplin MP (Chair), The Hon. Scott Farlow MLC (Deputy Chair), Mr Adam Crouch MP, Mr Nick Lalich MP, The Hon. Daniel Mookhey MLC, Ms Eleni Petinos MP.

#### **Officers in attendance**

David Hale, Christopher Herbert, Jacqueline Isles, Jennifer Gallagher.

#### 1. Apologies

Dr Mehreen Faruqi MLC, The Hon. Thomas George MP.

#### 2. Confirmation of minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Crouch: That the minutes of Meeting No. 15, held on 22 May 2017, be confirmed.

#### 3. Inquiry into driver education, training and road safety

#### Public hearing

#### 3.1 Media

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Farlow: That the Committee authorises the audiovisual recording, photography and broadcasting of the public hearing on 29 May 2017 in accordance with the NSW Legislative Assembly's guidelines for coverage of proceedings for parliamentary committees administered by the Legislative Assembly.

#### **3.2 Transcript of evidence**

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Farlow: That the Committee authorises the publication of the corrected transcript of evidence given on 29 May 2017 on the Committee's website.

#### 3.3 Questions on notice

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Farlow: That witnesses be requested to return answers to questions taken on notice within ten working days of the date on which the questions are forwarded to the witness, and that once received, answers be published on the Committee's website.

#### 3.4 Documents tendered

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Farlow: That documents tendered during the public hearing be accepted by the Committee, reviewed and published on the Committee's website.

#### 4. General business

Members noted a Sydney Morning Herald article, copies of which were distributed at the meeting, which was based on evidence presented by indigenous advocacy organisations at the previous public hearing in relation to the challenges faced by indigenous citizens seeking to undertake driver training and education courses.

The Committee adjourned at 8.56 am.

At 9:00 am, the Chair declared the public hearing open and witnesses and the public were admitted.

*Institute of Public Works Engineering Australia* Mr Mick Savage, Manager Roads and Transport Directorate, was sworn and examined.

#### Transport Workers Union

Mr Nick McIntosh, Assistant State Secretary, was sworn and examined. Ms Louise de Plater, Legal Officer, was sworn and examined.

*Combined Pensioners and Superannuants Association* Mr Paul Versteege, Policy Coordinator, was affirmed and examined.

Information on Disability and Awareness Services (IDEAS) Ms Diana Palmer, Executive Officer, was sworn and examined.

#### Occupational Therapy Australia

Ms Lyndall Cook, Driver Trained Occupational Therapist and Industry Adviser: Driving, was sworn and examined.

Ms Anita Volkert, National Manager: Professional Standards, was sworn and examined.

#### Alzheimer's Australia NSW

Ms Susan McCarthy, General Manager, Services, Policy and Research, was affirmed and examined.

*Motorcycle Council of NSW* Mr Brian Wood, Secretary, was affirmed and examined.

#### National Motorists Association Australia

Mr Michael Lane, National Spokesperson, was affirmed and examined. Mr Graham Pryor, National Liaison Officer, was sworn and examined.

#### Ian Luff Motivation Australia Pty Ltd

Mr Stewart Nicholls, Business Development Manager, was sworn and examined.

#### Transport for NSW

Mr Bernard Carlon, Executive Director, Centre for Road Safety, was sworn and examined. Ms Melinda Bailey, Executive Director, Compliance and Regulatory Services, was affirmed and examined.

Evidence concluded, the witnesses and public withdrew.

#### 5. Next meeting

The Committee adjourned at 5.04 pm until a date to be determined.

#### MINUTES OF MEETING No 17

21 June 2017 Room 1136 Parliament House

#### **Members present**

Mr Greg Aplin MP (Chair), The Hon Scott Farlow MLC (Deputy Chair), , Dr Mehreen Faruqi MLC, Mr Thomas George MP, Mr Nick Lalich MP, Ms Eleni Petinos MP.

#### **Officers in attendance**

David Hale, Jacqueline Isles, Christopher Herbert.

The Chair opened the meeting at 1.13 pm.

#### 1. Apologies

Mr Adam Crouch MP, The Hon Daniel Mookhey MLC

#### 2. Confirmation of minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Farlow, seconded by Ms Petinos: That the minutes of Meeting No 16, held on 29 May 2017, be confirmed.

#### 3. Correspondence

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Petinos, seconded by Mr Farlow: That the following correspondence be noted:

- Emails from Mr Vince Sunter, Advancing Projects Pty Ltd, dated 4 June, 6 June and 9 June 2017 concerning submission 10;
- Email from Mr Paul Versteege, Combined Pensioners and Superannuants Association of NSW Inc, dated 13 June 2017 concerning submission 17 and:

That the following correspondence be accepted as late submissions:

• Email from Ms Melinda White, dated 9 June 2017 concerning aged driver assessment;

• Email from Mr Bill Woods, dated 11 June 2017 concerning aged driver assessment.

#### 4. Inquiry into driver education, training and road safety

- **4.1.** Questions on Notice: The Committee noted that the majority of responses had been received and these would be published on the Committee's webpage in the near future.
- **4.2.** Supplementary questions: The Chair advised that 12 supplementary questions had been sent to Transport for NSW and responses were expected in early July.
- **4.3.** Timetable: The Committee agreed that it would deliberate further on the inquiry findings after the Chair's draft was completed.
- 5. \*\*\*

#### 6. Next Meeting

The Committee adjourned at 1.19 pm until the next meeting on Wednesday 9 August 2017.

#### **MINUTES OF MEETING No 18**

8 August 2017 Room 1254 Parliament House

#### **Members present**

Mr Greg Aplin MP (Chair), The Hon Scott Farlow MLC (Deputy Chair), Mr Adam Crouch MP, Dr Mehreen Faruqi MLC, Mr Nick Lalich MP, Ms Eleni Petinos MP.

#### **Officers in attendance**

Simon Johnston, David Hale, Jacqueline Isles, Christopher Herbert, Jack Slater (student intern)

The Chair opened the meeting at 1.06 pm.

#### 1. Apologies

The Hon Thomas George MP, The Hon Daniel Mookhey MLC

#### 2. Confirmation of minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Crouch, seconded by Dr Faruqi: That the minutes of Meeting No 17, held on 21 June 2017, be confirmed.

#### 3. Correspondence

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Lalich, seconded by Mr Farlow: That the following correspondence be noted:

- Ms Sue Jenkins 24 June, 28 June, 29 June, 30 June and 3 July 2017 re aged driver testing
- Mr Matt Gijselman, General Manager Public Affairs, NRMA 26 June 2017 re support for Road Speed Awareness Course for first-time low-range offenders
- Ms Meredith Meeves 26 June and 28 June 2017 re aged driver testing
- Ms Rachel Simpson, Principal Manager, Parliamentary Services, Transport for NSW 14 July 2017 re answers to supplementary questions
- Ms Glenda Gartrell 17 July 2017 re congestion on narrow roads
- Mr Eric Harty 24 July 2017 re mandatory driving tests for older drivers.

#### Correspondence – out

• Mr Greg Aplin MP – 3 July 2017 in response to Mr Matt Gijselman.

#### 4. Inquiry into driver education, training and road safety

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Crouch, seconded Mr Farlow: That the correspondence from the NRMA dated 26 June 2017 be published to the Committee's website as supplementary to the NRMA's original submission.

Resolved on the motion of Dr Faruqi, seconded Mr Lalich: That the answers provided by Transport for NSW to the Committee's supplementary questions be published to the Committee's website.

#### 5. Road Speed Awareness Course – presentation by NRMA

Ms Carlita Warren, Senior Manager Policy & Research, and Mr Wade O'Leary, Corporate Communications & Campaigns Manager, NRMA delivered a PowerPoint presentation.

6. \*\*\*

#### 7. Next Meeting

The Committee adjourned at 1.44 pm until the next meeting on Wednesday 13 September 2017 at 1.00pm in Room 1254.

#### **UNCONFIRMED MINUTES OF MEETING No 19**

20 September 2017 Room 1254, Parliament House

#### **Members present**

Mr Greg Aplin MP (Chair), The Hon Scott Farlow MLC (Deputy Chair), Mr Adam Crouch MP, Dr Mehreen Faruqi MLC, Ms Eleni Petinos MP

#### Officers in attendance

Simon Johnston, David Hale, Jacqueline Isles, Christopher Herbert, Abegail Turingan

The Chair opened the meeting at 1.08 pm.

#### 1. Apologies

The Hon Thomas George MP, Mr Nick Lalich MP, The Hon Daniel Mookhey MLC

#### 2. Confirmation of minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Farlow, seconded by Mr Crouch: That the minutes of Meeting No 18, held on 9 August 2017, be confirmed.

#### 3. Correspondence

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Crouch, seconded by Mr Farlow: That the correspondence from Mr Paul Taffa, Motorcycle Council of NSW dated 13 August 2017 which was previously circulated, be noted.

#### 4. Inquiry into driver education, training and road safety

The Chair tabled correspondence from Dr Mehreen Faruqi MLC dated 19 September 2017 proposing the addition of two recommendations and amendment of a third.

The Chair advised that, after consideration, he had incorporated Dr Faruqi's proposals into his draft report.

The Chair tabled the draft report.

Discussion ensued.

#### **Consideration of Report**

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Crouch, seconded by Mr Farlow: That the Committee consider the Chair's draft report in globo.

#### Adoption of Report

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Crouch, seconded by Mr Farlow:

a) That the Committee adopt the recommendations as set out in the report.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Petinos, seconded by Mr Farlow:

b) That the draft report be the report of the Committee and that it be signed by the Chair and presented to the Parliament.

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Farlow, seconded by Ms Petinos:

c) That the Committee staff be permitted to correct stylistic, typographical and grammatical errors.

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Crouch, seconded by Mr Farlow:

d) That, once tabled, the report be published on the Committee's webpage.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Petinos, seconded by Mr Farlow:

e) That the Chair issue a press release announcing the tabling of the report.

#### 5. \*\*\*

#### 6. Next meeting

The Chair closed the meeting at 1.19 pm to reconvene on Wednesday 18 October at 1.00 pm in Room 1254, Parliament House.